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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#% B BX B 75 #f & & Al 47 )

Expressed in RMB millions 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
UARBBETLHE ZETHFE ZTETRF ZTTEF ZTTN\F ZBEAE
Year Ended 31 December BEEZE+-HA=t+-—H
LEE
Revenues R 21,380 37,557 42,534 41,073 38,989
Other operating income and gains Efa s hEMF
W= 245 424 488 672 1,288

Operating expenses BELTH (27,562) (40,695) (42,894) (56,828) (38,456)
Operating profit/(loss) st E) 63 (2,714) 128 (15,083) 1,821
Finance income/(cost), net WA (X ) F5 (578) (757) 162 (267) (1,549)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BB AT AE,(BE) (528) (3,338) 378 (15,256) 249
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to NATRERER AEN

equity holders of the Company FEREHM/(EE) (418) (3,035) 379 (15,269) 169
Earning/(loss) per share attributable ARAERTE AEN

to equity holders of the Company W &F (&)

(RVB)" (ANRBET)Y (0.09) (0.62) 0.08 (3.14) 0.026
At 31 December R+=ZBA=+—-8H
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELZEY 1,864 1,987 1,655 3,451 1,735
Net current liabilities FREEE (25,548) (24,588) (26,098) (43,458) (28,647)
Non-current assets FEREBEE 52,106 51,725 57,949 62,652 64,988
Long term borrowings, including EHEZR 2ERSHN

current portion (12,659) (14,932) (14,675) (15,628) (16,928)
Obligations under finance leases, HERERGE BERY

including current portion B (10,588) (11,949) (16,452) (20,809) (19,370)
Total share capital and reserves BEARE G 5,561 2,534 2,361 (13,097) 1,235
(1) The calculation of earnings/ (loss) per share for 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 are based on the Ny =FFA ZFFEN ZFF+ - ZFF

consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders and 4,866,950,000 shares in issue. The
calculation of earnings/ (loss) per share for 2009 is based on the consolidated profit/ (loss)
attributable to the then shareholders divided by the weighted average number of
6,436,828,000 ordinary shares outstanding.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

NEFRREF (G 18) IR IE E FE 6 iR
REWGHEE SR (EHE)BUE FTRE
486695000088 it E : — EF N F # &R )it
T 1B)RIRIEE FERREEMGAEE
Tl (B 18) B L 37T 72 51 & 38 IR i 0 #E F 15
R 2{6,436,628,000 % 51 &



BT BBEEREERE

(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards) (% 75 22 A B 2t 71 B 1> 2 & 71 & Bl 45 £2)

RMB million
ARBEHET
Net Profit = A E 540
Income from Main Operations FEEBLFHE 1,783
Income from Other Operations H b 5 F8 800
Income from Investments ®E W= (23)
Net Income outside Business BEIN L FEE 1,590
(Expressed in RMB Million) ANR¥BET)
2008 2009
—TT)N\F —EEAEF
1. Operation Revenue EEIWA 41,842.36 39,831.33
2. Net (Loss)/Profit F(E18R),FIE (13,927.66) 539.74
3. Total Assets BEE 73,184.01 72,018.68
4. Shareholders’ Equity A% R = (11,065.15) 3,613.13
5. (Loss)/Earnings per Share (RMB) R (E1R) W (AR T (2.86) 0.08
6.  Netassets per share (RMB) BREEENRETT) (2.38) 0.32
Notes: it
1. Calculation of major financial indicators: 1. FEHBIEFTETENT

Earnings/(loss) per share = net profit/{loss) - weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding

Net assets per share = shareholders” equity at the end of the year = total number of ordinary
shares at the end of the year

Sz (E51R) =FF8 - (F18) ~ #77
FESNE B A AR I8

SROFEE = FRAR R — FREAR BB
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For the period of

For the period of

1 January 2009 to 1 January 2008 to
31 December 2009 31 December 2008 Change
—EEAF —ZET)N\F
—RA—H%& —H—B=
+=—A=+—-HH +ZA=+—H BEIEE
Capacity BWEED
ATK (available tonne-kilometres) A] A3 A A B (ATK)
(millions) (&) 12,505.53 11,642.23 1.42%
— Domestic routes —BE AR 7,100.62 5,658.36 25.49%
— International routes — B R 4% 4,846.17 5,294.76 -8.47%
— Regional routes — b [ i 4R 558.74 689.10 -18.92%
ASK (available seat-kilometres) Al A B R B (ASK)
(millions) (B &) 84,456.39 75,964.28 11.18%
— Domestic routes — B A M AR 59,235.02 47 588.37 24.47%
— International routes — B R AR 21,386.31 23,813.57 -10.19%
— Regional routes — i [& fii 4R 3,835.05 4,562.34 -15.94%
AFTK (available freight tonne-kilometres) A] F & B Mg~ B (AFTK)
(millions) (B &) 4,904.46 4,805.44 2.06%
— Domestic routes — B 47 1,769.46 1,375.41 28.65%
— International routes — B B i AR 2,921.40 3,151.54 -1.30%
— Regional routes — b [ A1 4R 213,59 278.49 -23.30%
Hours flown (thousands) RIT N (F) 838.27 755.17 11.00%
Traffic E@RE
RTK (revenue tonne-kilometres) U A ME A B (RTK)
(millions) (B &) 7,908.69 7,218.99 9.55%
— Domestic routes — B A AR 4,694.69 3,780.27 24.19%
— International routes — B B i 4R 2,900.78 3,056.25 -5.09%
— Regional routes — i [ fii 4R 313.22 382.46 -18.10%
RPK (revenue passenger-kilometres) =8 AR E(RPK)
(millions) (B &) 60,942.09 53,785.27 13.31%
— Domestic routes — B 47 44,375.70 35,352.44 25.52%
— International routes — B R fin 4% 13,993.70 15,374.98 -8.98%
— Regional routes — b [ MR AR 2,572.69 3,057.86 -15.87%
RFTK (revenue freight tonne-kilometres) & B 3 12 M A E (RFTK)
(millions) (& #&) 2,474.19 2,420.14 2.23%
— Domestic routes — B A 4% 733.13 621.89 17.89%
— International routes — [ BR M0 AR 1,656.19 1,687.45 -1.85%
— Regional routes — b [ A 4R 84.88 110.80 -23.39%
Number of passengers carried HERE AR
(thousands) (F) 44,042.99 37,231.48 18.30%
— Domestic routes — B A AR 37,984.73 30,398.76 24.95%
— International routes — B B i 4% 4,173.07 4,696.34 -11.14%
— Regional routes — i [& fn AR 1,885.19 2,136.38 -11.76%
Weight of freight carried (kg) B EHESE(AT)
(millions) (B &) 943.89 889.48 6.12%
— Domestic routes — B A AR 530.15 463.44 14.39%
— International routes — B B M 4% 341.76 350.13 -0.68%
— Regional routes — M, & i AR 65.97 7591 -13.09%
Load factors HEZX
Overall load factor (%) SEEHEER%) 63.24 62.01 1.23pts
— Domestic routes — B A i 4% 66.12 66.81 -0.69pts
— International routes — B B i AR 59.86 57.72 2.14pts
— Regional routes — 3t [ i AR 56.06 55.50 0.56pts
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For the period of
1 January 2009 to

For the period of
1 January 2008 to

31 December 2009 31 December 2008 Change
—EEAF —ZEENEF
-Bg-8E —B—8%F
+=-—B=+—-8 +ZA=+—H SHIEE

Passenger load factor (%) BRER(%) 72.16 70.80 1.36pts

— Domestic routes — B A AR 7491 74.29 0.62pts

— International routes — B B i AR 65.43 64.56 0.87pts

— Regional routes — 3t [ i AR 67.08 67.02 0.06pts
Freight load factor (%) EE B X(%) 50.45 50.36 0.09pts

— Domestic routes — B A i AR 143 4521 -3.78pts

— International routes — B B i AR 56.69 53.54 3.15pts

— Regional routes — 3t [ i AR 39.74 39.79 -0.05pts
Break-even load factor (%) BETEBREE%) 65.95 90.71 -24.76pts
Yields and costs U %5 =& F0 RK A 4% 5t
Revenue tonne-kilometers yield U A HE A B UK 25

(RMB) (AR ) 467 5.38 -13.20%

— Domestic routes — B A M AR 5.30 5.87 -9.711%

— International routes — B B 4% 3.47 4.65 -25.38%

— Regional routes — i [& i AR 6.32 6.4 -1.40%
Passenger-kilometers yield BEBARBZG

(RMB) (AR#) 0.54 0.62 -12.90%

— Domestic routes — B A AR 0.54 0.61 -11.48%

— International routes — B B AR 0.51 0.66 -22.73%

— Regional routes — i [& 4R 0.63 0.64 -1.56%
Freight tonne-kilometers yield i NN

(RMB) (AR %) 1.67 2.21 -24.43%

— Domestic routes — B A AR 113 1.26 -10.32%

— International routes — B R 1 4% 1.78 2.42 -26.45%

— Regional routes — b [& AR 413 442 -6.56%
Available tonne-kilometers unit cost Al A MR A B B KR

(RMB) (AR #) 3.08 4.88 -36.89%
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Dear shareholders,

| am pleased to present the report on the operating results of China Eastern
Airlines Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009. On behalf of all the staff of
the Group, | would like to extend my sincere thanks to the shareholders for
their support of the Group.

The financial crisis continued its effect in 2009 and substantially impacted the global
economy. The global civil aviation industry experienced the most serious recession since
World War II, and the international demand for aviation, especially freight transportation,
substantially decreased. 2009 was also the most challenging year for the development
of the Chinese economy since the turn of the century. With this external environment,
the Company adjusted its operating strategies in a timely manner by responding to the
needs of the market and re-allocating some of its international capacity to serve
domestic routes that were in greater demand. Various departments of the Company
worked strenuously towards better operating results.

In terms of passenger traffic, the Group gathered its capacity to focus on core and key
markets with high return and of focal importance to adjust the structure of its capacity,
built up the brand of express and sub-express routes, strengthened its network sales
capability and focused on developing its transit services to a great extent. The number of
passengers using its transit services reached 1.56 million for the whole year. It also
promoted its website direct-sale and telephone payment business. The “58 7 & 217
(Eastern Miles)” frequent flyer program was further developed, and by the end of 2009,
the frequent flyer program had approximately 6.03 million members.

In terms of freight transport, we have increased our cargo and freight operations. Such
measures include consolidating the management of bellyhold cargo space in passenger
aircraft and freight operations with cargo, and implementing a price bidding policy for
seat selling. In addition, we increase our efforts in marketing high-revenue cargo
operations and strenuously developed connecting flight transfer products. We added
truck flights services and pallet shipping services, as well as the signing of strategic
cooperation framework agreements with various entities, which contributed to an
increase in our cargo marketing capability.

In terms of services, the Company attached importance to implementing a brand strategy
and enriching the substance of its service to enhance service quality and win trust in the
community. It adhered to the notion of “LAZ A& » 8,0 i&R7S (Customer-Oriented
and Dedicated Service)". Promation of the “$%&# (Ling-yan)" brand was stepped up to
meet customer requirements and to create new service products. Differentiated products
such as "B A/NRA" ~ "B Z8E@" - "RALHS", "HEE", "H1TE" were
launched. The service processes were refined to strengthen its transit services.
Punctuality rate was stressed as measures to rectify the problem of flight delays.
According to the statistics of the Civil Aviation Administration of China, the punctuality
rate of the Group's flights was 83.45% in the year, ranking the Group No. 1 among civil
aviation operators for the second consecutive year.

As the first cooperation partner of the World Expo 2010 Shanghai, the designated carrier
for passenger aviation, and the designated airline for the World Expo Shanghai Forum,
the Group adheres to the notion of "2 E2{tH18 « S {E{tH1E « AR 118 (Participating
in, Promoting and Serving the World Expo Shanghai)”, and has launched a series of
marketing products and service initiatives including “B2 73 5" and “ZE4& tHH 18"

With respect to environmental protection and technological application, adhering to the
social notion of balancing corporate efficiency and environmental protection and the
national policy of energy conservation and emission reduction, the Group strived to
reduce its fuel consumption and implemented a low-carbon emission policy, with the aim
of achieving both economic and social benefits through corporate social responsibility.
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EERBESE

The Group would like to caution readers of this report that the operations of the
Company as an air transport enterprise that performs public service functions is linked
closely to the development of the political and economic situations, both internationally
and locally. As such, the operation of the Group and of the whole sector is, to a
significant extent, subject to the risks associated with geopolitics and the incidence of
unexpected events. The 2009 annual report of the Group includes (but is not limited to)
certain forward-looking statements, such as those on the economies of the world
including the PRC, and the aviation market. Such forward-looking statements are subject
to many uncertainties and risks.

The Group expects an ongoing recovery of the global economy in the first half of 2010, in
which Asian economies will take the lead in the global recovery. From the perspective of
the industry, with the gradual recovery of the international market and the continual rise
of the domestic market, it is anticipated that 2010 will witness the stabilisation and
improvement of the international market, whilst the freight transportation market will
see an overall recovery. From the perspective of the Group, there will be significant
opportunities for the Group's development, as the World Expo 2010 Shanghai is expected
to draw customers to the Shanghai market; and the synergy resulting from the
completion of the absorption of Shanghai Airlines by the Group. In 2010, the operating
targets of the Group (including Shanghai Airlines) are to achieve total traffic volume of
11,912 million tonne-kilometers, number of passenger carried of 67.06 million, weight of
freight to be transported of 1.4135 million tonnes, passenger load factor of 74.59% and
freight load factor of 65.32%.

Based on these strategic targets and by implementing such strategies, the Group has
defined seven “battles” that it must win, including the successful completion of the
absorption of Shanghai Airlines, provision of the best service to the hub construction and
information-based construction for the World Expo 2010 Shanghai. All staff members
have already signed their performance-based contracts which clearly define the
allocation of work, duties and functions.

To achieve its pre-set goals, the Group will focus on the following aspects in 2010:

1. Maintain continuous safety and uphold the importance of safety;

2. Adhere to efficiency and enhance competitiveness. By meeting industry
benchmarks, the Group will strive to improve the profitability of its passenger
transportation on an ongoing basis. The Group will enhance its capability on
international routes in the earliest possible timeframe. Measures will be taken to
enrich and promote the Group's offerings. The Group will expand its marketing
channels, establish new product offerings, build up a marketing system focusing
on customers. In addition, the Group will focus on the organisational
transformation of its marketing structure. By doing these, the Group is poised to
change the situation of its freight transport within a short timeframe;

3. Accelerate structural adjustment and improve cost control. This will include
optimising the structure of the Group's fleet to reduce operating costs; adjusting
the structure of assets and liabilities to reduce finance costs; adjusting the
structure of resource allocation to enhance the resource utilisation rate; and
adjusting the structure of routes in order to increase margins;
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4. Foster management on a detailed basis and take a pragmatic approach to
consolidating management. This will include measures to enhance rapid
improvement of the Group’s management and the overall rationalisation of its
management processes. It will systematically focus on more advanced companies,
strengthen its risk management and leverage information technology to increase
management efficiency; and

5. Highlight strategic themes, consolidate communication and implementation,
strengthen strategic communication, focus on handling strategic support and
strategic implementation.

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), | would like to express
my gratitude to all of the shareholders.

Liu Shaoyong
Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
19 April 2010
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EBOENEEENWED T

In 2009, the Group operated approximately 6,894 scheduled flights per week, serving a
total of 21 countries and regions including 146 domestic and foreign cities. In addition,
the Group was able to provide more comprehensive air transportation services to major
markets around the world through international cooperation efforts, such as code sharing
and special prorate agreements. In 2009, the Group has completed (i) the purchase and
finance-lease of a total of 21 aircraft to add to its fleet, including ten A320 aircraft,
seven B737-700 aircraft and four B737-800 aircraft; (ii) the operating-lease of two
B737-800 aircraft; and (iii) the surrender of the lease of six aircraft (including five
B737-300 aircraft and one B737-800 aircraft). As at 31 December 2009, the Group
operated a fleet of 257 aircraft, including 231 passenger jets, each with a capacity of
over 100 seats and 11 jet freighters.

In 2009, the Group's flights accounted for 37.02% and 28.21% of all flights at Honggiao
Airport and Pudong Airport, respectively, in terms of flight take-off and landing statistics,
and accounted for 36.31% and 28.86% of all flights at Honggiao Airport and Pudong
Airport, respectively, in terms of passenger carried. The daily average utilization rate of
aircraft was 9.4 hours, representing an increase of 0.3 hours compared to the same
period in 2008.

—EEINF AEEEBELETHMMRY
6,894 TF )X - 3 M 21 B B XX ANt [ - AR 75 A BY
RANFEUER T - A AEBEBBERD
HZ SPAREZESEBEAE WEREEE
MBREFRECAMETEGRE  — T
NFALAEBEEZEXIBELREERER
L2128 - B FE1022 A320 BY R 4% - 7 22 B737-700
AU TR A - 4ZRB737-800 A TRA% (i) L E2
28 B737-800 Y TR ML ¢ K (iii) 3R FE TR A6 28 - B FED
28 B737-300 Y 7% # - 128 B737-800 8! TR #% - # =
TEEAE+ A=+ —H AEEHE
25728 ML - B HE 23122100 B LA E HY 1B S =X
BHMNEE RS-

—ETAF O UAMM NN E R GF
B o BG4S B E R 5 #937.02%
2821% UIKEAFL S 5Kt AE®E D 315
T 5 B2 5H R 35 8936.31% E228.86% © TR #
HHMARAEIANE - TT )\ F R
B R03/NE o

Number of aircraft for the year ended 31 December 2009
BE-ZZEAF+-A=Z+—BHHEEKHEA

Method of Introduction
Sl EA R
Self-owned and Under

No. Model under finance leases operating leases Subtotal
HqE ®A BEREEMERE KEHE Nt
1 A340-600 5 5
2 A340-300 5 5
3 A330-300 8 7 15
4 A330-200 2 3 5
5 B737-700 24 15 39
6 B737-800 4 9 13
7 A320 57 26 83
8 A319 5 10 15
9 A321 15 15
10 B767-300 3 3
11 MD-90 9 9
12 B737-300 16 1 17
13 CRJ—-200 5 5
14 EMB-145LR 10 10
15 A300-600R (passenger aircraft) (& #) 7 7
16 A300-600R (cargo aircraft) (& #) 3 3
17 MD-11F 6 6
18 B747-400ER 2 2

Total & 5+ 180 77 257

Proportion Lt 45 70.04% 29.96% 100%
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The following discussion and analysis should be read together with our audited financial
statements and the accompanying notes prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) that are included elsewhere in this annual report.
The financial data presented in this section are derived from our audited financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Compared to the same period in 2008, the Group's total traffic volume increased by
9.55% to 7,909 million tonne-kilometers in 2009. Traffic revenues decreased by
RMB1,919 million to RMB36,925 million, representing a 4.94% decrease compared to
the same period in 2008. This was mainly due to the decrease in per-unit revenue as a
result of the decrease in fuel surcharges income, as well as the lack of demand resulting
from the financial crisis.

The Group’s passenger revenues amounted to RMB32,800 million in 2009, representing a
decrease of 2.05% over the same period in 2008, and accounting for 88.83% of the
Group's total traffic revenues in 2009. The volume of passenger traffic was 60,942
million passenger-kilometers, representing a 13.31% increase compared to the same
period in 2008. It was primarily due to the decrease in fuel surcharges income.

The Group's domestic passenger traffic volume (excluding passenger traffic volume in
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan routes) was 44,376 million passenger-kilometers,
representing a 25.52% increase compared to the same period in 2008. Compared to the
same period in 2008, revenues increased by 12.38% to RMB24,038 million, accounting
for 73.29% of the Group’s passenger revenues. Such increase in traffic volume and
revenue was mainly due to the positive adjustment of our transportation capacity and
the remarkable growth in, and allocation to, domestic passenger traffic capacity, which
increased by 24.47% compared to the same period in 2008.

The passenger traffic volume on the Group’s regional routes (Hong Kong, Macao and
Taiwan routes) was 2,573 million passenger-kilometers, representing a 15.87% decrease
compared to the same period in 2008. Compared to the same period in 2008, revenues
decreased by 16.96% to RMB1,630 million, accounting for 4.97% of the Group's
passenger revenues. The passenger traffic capacity on the Group's regional routes
decreased by 15.94% compared to the same period in 2008. This was mainly due to the
increased competition and a more significant decrease in transport capacity, which led
to a slight decrease in the passenger-kilometers yield.

The Group’s international passenger traffic volume was 13,994 million passenger-
kilometers, representing a 8.98% decrease compared to the same period in 2008.
Compared to the same period in 2008, revenues decreased by 29.61% to RMB7,133
million, accounting for 21.74% of the Group's passenger revenues. The passenger traffic
capacity on international routes decreased by 10.19% compared to the same period in
2008. This was mainly due to the intensified effect of the global financial crisis on
international air transportation, as a result of which the Group continued to reduce the
number of flights on long-distance routes to Europe, USA and other destinations, and the
substantial decrease in international fuel surcharges.

The Group's cargo and mail traffic volume was 2,474 million tonne-kilometers,
representing a 2.23% increase compared to the same period in 2008. Compared to the
same period in 2008, the cargo and mail traffic revenues decreased by 23.03% to
RMBA4,124 million, accounting for 11.17% of the Group’s total traffic revenues in 2009.
Revenue from air and mail traffic via bellyhold cargo space in passenger aircraft was
RMB1,725 million, representing 41.83% of the freight revenue and 4.67% of
transportation revenue. The tonne-kilometers yield for cargo and mail traffic decreased
by 24.43% compared to the same period in 2008, which was resulted from the financial
crisis, which caused a substantial decrease in international and regional freight
transportation capacity of the Company and caused a significant decrease in cargo and
mail revenue. There were initial signs of recovery for the freight transportation market in
the fourth quarter of 2009; however, this was not sufficient to offset the impact of the
financial crisis on the Company's freight transportation business.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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In 2009, the Group implemented stringent controls over its capital expenditures and
actively adjusted its debt structure to strengthen fund management and reduce finance
costs.

Compared to the same period in 2008, the Group's total operating costs decreased by
32.33% to RMB38,456 million.

Expenditure on aviation fuel was RMB12,255 million, representing a decrease of 33.71%
compared to the same period in 2008. This was mainly due to a decrease of
approximately 38.57% in the average price of aviation fuel compared to the same period
in 2008. The Group's total aviation fuel consumption in 2009 was approximately 2.63
million tonnes, representing an increase of 8.23% compared to the same period in 2008.
In 2009, the expenditure on aviation fuel accounted for 31.87% of the Group's total
operating costs.

Takeoff and landing charges were RMB5,460 million, representing an increase of 3.41%
compared to the same period in 2008, primarily due to the increased number of take-offs
and landings of approximately 14.87% as compared to the same period in 2008.

Depreciation and amortization was RMB5,203 million, representing an increase of 8.80%
compared to the same period in 2008, primarily due to the expansion of the scale of the
Group’s operations and an increase in the number of aircraft.

\Wages, salaries and benefits expenses amounted to RMB5, 149 million, representing an
increase of 13.29% compared to the same period in 2008, mainly due to the Group
continuing to expand its core businesses.

Office, administration and other operating expenses were RMB3,752 million,
representing a decrease of 7.50% over the same period in 2008, primarily due to the
Group's stepped-up efforts in its control over controllable costs, which led to a general
decrease in various costs and expenses.

Maintenance costs amounted to RMB3,019 million, representing a decrease of 7.76%
over the same period in 2008. This was primarily due to a decrease in maintenance costs
realised by not sending aircraft to foreign countries for maintenance, as a result of the
increase in domestic maintenance capacity.

Aircraft operating lease expenses were RMB2,518 million, representing a decrease of
7.93% over the same period in 2008. This was primarily due to the surrender of operating
leases for six aircraft.

Impairment losses for assets amounted to RMB109 million, representing a decrease of
96.34% over the same period in 2008. This decrease was primarily due to the impairment
provisions made in 2008 for goodwill and certain models of aircraft and relevant flight
equipment to be phased out, and the impairment provisions made for the fixed assets
held for sale.

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB1,978 million, representing an increase of
26.55% over the same period of 2008. This was mainly a result of an increase in the
number of passengers carried and the corresponding increase in agency business
handling fees.

Food and beverage expenses were RMB1,201 million, representing a decrease of 9.08%
compared to the same period in 2008. This was primarily due to the substantial decrease
in the unit cost of food and beverage compared to the same period last year as a result
of the Group's stringent control over the procurement costs of food and beverage and
related supplies.

The amount of civil aviation infrastructure levies payable to the Civil Aviation
Administration of China amounted to RMB890 million, representing an increase of
15.58% compared to the same period in 2008, which was primarily due to the substantial
increase in the number of domestic take-off and landing compared to the same period in
2008, as a result of the Group's adjustment of its capacity towards domestic routes.
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Other operating leases rentals amounted to RMB407 million, representing an increase of
10.30% over the same period in 2008, which was primarily due to the rentals of the
newly leased premises for passenger traffic and freight transport businesses at the
Shanghai Pudong Airport.

Ground services and other charges were RMB290 million, representing an increase of
7.81% over the same period in 2008, which was primarily due to the expansion of the
Company's logistics business.

Changes in financial derivatives fair value through profit or loss resulted in a reversal of
RMB3,775 million, compared to a loss of RMBG6,401 million during the same period in
2008. It was mainly due to the increase of 79.54% in international oil prices as at the
end of 2009 compared with the end of 2008.

The Group's other operating income and other gains primarily includes government
subsidies and income from disposal of aircraft and relevant assets. Other operating
income and other gains increased from RMBG672 million in 2008 to RMB1,288 million in
2009, primarily due to refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies of RMB832 million in
2009. There was no other operating income and other gains in 2008.

In 2009, the Group's finance revenue was RMB205 million, and finance costs were
RMB1,755 million, primarily due to the substantial decrease in foreign exchange gain
compared to the same period of last year.

As a result of the above, the Group's profit attributable to shareholders for the year
ended 31 December 2009 was RMB169 million.

As of 31 December 2008 and 2009, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB3,451 million and RMB1,735 million respectively. In 2008 and 2009, the net cash
generated from the Group's operating activities amounted to RMB2,856 million and
RMB3,429 million respectively. In 2008 and 2009, the net cash used in the Group's
investment activities amounted to RMB925 million and RMB7,236 million respectively. In
2008, the net cash outflow from the Group's financing activities was RMB92 million,
mainly for the repayment of long-term loans, finance leases and short-term loans. The
net cash inflow from the Group’s financing activities in 2009 was RMB2,086 million,
mainly bank loans and the issuance of new shares.

The Group generally operates with net current liabilities. As at 31 December 2009, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB28,648 million. Details of
the gearing ratio and the basis on which the gearing ratio is computed are set out in note
3(b) to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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As of 31 December 2008 and 2009, the total amount of the Group’s short-term loans
were RMB19,474 million and RMB8,407 million, respectively, and the Group's long-term
loans were RMB15,628 million and RMB16,928 million, respectively. As of 31 December
2008, the Group's long-term loans payable within two years, from three to five years and
beyond five years were RMB11,187 million, RMB3,666 million and RMB775 million,
respectively, as compared to RMB6,637 million, RMBE,166 million and RMB4,125 million
respectively, as of 31 December 2009.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases as of 31 December 2008 and 2009 were
RMBZ20,809 million and RMB19,370 million, respectively. As of 31 December 2008, the
Group’s lease obligations payable within two years, from three to five years and beyond
five years were RMB3,933 million, RMB6,203 million and RMB10,673 million,
respectively, as compared to RMB4,219 million, RMB6,785 million, RMB8,366 million, as
of 31 December 2009.

The Group generally finances its purchase of aircraft through finance leases and bank
loans secured by its assets. As of 31 December 2009, the total value of the Group's
mortgaged assets amounted to RMB13,678 million, representing an increase of 56.80%
from RMB8,723 million as at the end of 2008.

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 47 to the financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Details of the acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies in
2009 are set out in item 7 in the session headed “Significant Events” in the Report of
Directors.

]
A

+ 8
|1

o
=
~J
e
/'d]]t}ml\
EEINTIE

TNEM_TZTHE
ENEBHERSD R
EMMm%ﬁoﬁ
A R #156.2818 7T F1 A R #1 9
ZZEENFF+ZA=+—H &K
ZREB —HARFEBHUALERA
Wﬁﬂéﬁﬁﬂ%AE%mm
%%%1EM&AEMN5
ZZNF+ A= +—HWL%
%%%AE%%NF* AR
AR ARBENBE

M
S

m§§+

o 30

F 5> |
@ﬁﬂ%\l\

ﬂlﬁ‘AH

B
W

W

%Efﬁ
Eq]

Rgu sl Rl

2 5 3 & R
&y
mwﬂ

HE-_ZZNEAN_ZTZTNLE+_-A
—HA AEENREREEE DA A
#208.091% 7t f1 A R #1937018 70 - & =
ZNF+_A=Z+—H AEEWMF
BB - RAFREURAF LSS
MEEE D AARBKNBEITL A
wminu&AE%mmfm maE =

TAhFE+=-R= +famkwm&ﬁﬁ
AMEAEMMHF* A B #67.851% 7T LA
N AR #836618 T

N|I>\H

o

H

FFD
| 383 M+

AEB-—RUNBERER UBEHEE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁkﬁ%°@§:?fﬂ
F+= H*+*E AEERMEEES
ARB1BBETL BE_FTZTNFRHAR
¥ 872318 TR tb i‘ hn T 56.80% °

REBSAREBENFBAL2HERY B ®K
EERIRE I ISR REL -

ARB-FTATAMKBARRSED
AMEAMBREEEAOFEELNE
r==4

FEREEARERIEARFRITHNEIR-

PERSMERNBRAR



EBOEREERENWED T

According to the contracted agreements, as at 31 December 2009, we expect our capital
expenditures for aircraft, engines and related equipment to be in aggregate
approximately RMB74,161 million, including RMB10,480 million in 2010 and RMB11,082
million in 2011, in each case subject to contractually stipulated increase or any increase
relating to inflation. We plan to finance our capital commitments through a combination
of funds generated from operation, existing credit facilities, bank loans, leasing
arrangements and other external financing arrangement.

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective of significant
judgments and uncertainties and potentially result in materially different results under
different assumptions and conditions.

Our audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS. Our principal accounting policies are set forth in Note 2 to our audited consolidated
financial statements. IFRS requires that we adopt the accounting policies and make
estimates that our Directors believe are most appropriate in the circumstances for the
purposes of giving a true and fair view of our results and financial position. However,
different policies, estimates and assumptions in critical areas could lead to materially
different results. The critical accounting policies adopted and estimates made in the
preparation of these financial statements are identified as follows:

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
have been impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(m)
to the financial statements. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management and
certain key assumptions, such as passenger kilometres yield level, load factor,
aircraft utilisation rate and discount rates, etc.

The Group recognises traffic revenues in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2(e) to the financial statements. Unused tickets are recognised in
traffic revenues based on current estimates. Management annually evaluates the
balance in the SIAC and records any adjustments, which can be material, in the
period the evaluation is completed. These adjustments result from differences
between the estimates of certain revenue transactions and the timing of
recognising revenue for any unused air tickets and the related sales price, and are
impacted by various factors, including a complex pricing structure and interline
agreements throughout the industry, which affect the timing of revenue
recognition.

The Company operates a frequent flyer programme called “Eastern Miles” that
provides travel awards to programme members based on accumulated miles. A
portion of passengers revenue attributable to the award of frequent flyer benefits
is deferred and recognised when the miles have been redeemed or have expired.
The deferment of revenue is estimated based on historical trends of redemptions,
which is then used to project the expected utilisation of these benefits. Any
remaining unutilised benefits are recognised as deferred revenue.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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Depreciation of components related to airframe and engine overhaul costs are
based on the Group’s historical experience with similar airframe and engine
models and taking into account anticipated overhauls costs, timeframe between
each overhaul, ratio of actual flying hours and estimated flying hours between
overhauls. Different judgments or estimates could significantly affect the
estimated depreciation charge and the results of operations.

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks for aircraft and
engines under operating leases is made based on the estimated costs for such
return condition checks and taking into account anticipated flying hours, flying
cycle and timeframe between each overhaul. These judgments or estimates are
based on historical experience on returning similar airframe and engine models,
actual costs incurred and aircraft and engines status. Different judgments or
estimates could significantly affect the estimated provision for costs of return
condition checks.

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit plans which provide
retirees with benefits including transportation subsidies, social activity subsidies
as well as other welfare. The cost of providing the aforementioned benefits in the
defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially determined and recognised over the
employees’ service period by utilising various actuarial assumptions and using the
projected unit credit method in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2(w) to the financial statements. These assumptions include, without
limitation, the selection of discount rate, annual rate of increase of per capita
benefit payment and employees’ turnover rate. The discount rate is based on
management’s review of local high quality corporate bonds. The annual rate of
increase of benefit payments is based on the general local economic conditions.
The employees’ turnover rate is based on historical trends of the Group. Additional
information regarding the retirement benefit plans is disclosed in Note 36 to the
financial statements.

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to be recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(j) to the financial
statements, the Group considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. In the event that the Group's estimates of
projected future taxable income and benefits from available tax strategies are
changed, or changes in current tax regulations are enacted that would impact the
timing or extent of the Group’s ability to utilise the tax benefits of net operating
loss carry forwards in the future, adjustments to the recorded amount of net
deferred tax assets and taxation expense would be made.

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a
result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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The Group's total interest-bearing liabilities as of 31 December 2008 and 2009
were RMB55,910 million and RMB44,705 million, respectively, (including long-
term and short-term loans and finance leases payable), of which short-term
liabilities accounted for 50.85% and 32.34% respectively, and part of the long-
term interest-bearing liabilities were liabilities with variable interest rates. Both
were affected by the fluctuation in current market interest rates.

The Group's interest-bearing liabilities were mainly denominated in US dollars and
Renminbi. As of 31 December 2008 and 2009, the Group's liabilities denominated
in US dollars accounted for 58.04% and 68.81% of the total liabilities respectively,
while the liabilities denominated in Renminbi accounted for 41.56% and 30.94%
of the total liabilities respectively. The fluctuations in the US dollar and the
Renminbi interest rates significantly affected the Group's financing costs.

Since 21 July 2005, the Chinese government reformed the Renminbi exchange
rate system and established a floating exchange rate system in which the
exchange rate would be adjusted and managed based on market supply and
demand with reference to a basket of foreign currencies. The fluctuation in
Renminbi exchange rate is affected by the domestic and international economy,
the political situation and the currency supply and demand of the currency, and
thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future may therefore be very different
from the current exchange rate.

The Group operates its business in many countries and territories. The Group
generates its revenue in different currencies, and its foreign currency liabilities at
the end of the period are much higher than its foreign currency assets. The Group’s
major liability item (purchases or leases of aircraft) is mainly priced and settled in
currencies such as US dollars. In addition, fluctuations in exchange rates will
affect the Group's costs incurred from foreign purchases such as aircraft, flight
equipment and aviation fuel, and take-off and landing charges in foreign airports.
As of 31 December 2009, the Group's total interest-bearing liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies converted to Renminbi amounted to RMB30,876 million, of
which the US dollar liabilities accounted for 99.63%. Therefore, in circumstances
with large fluctuations in exchange rates, the exchange loss arising on the
translation of foreign currency denominated liabilities will be greater, which in
turn affects the profitability and development of the Group. The Group usually uses
hedging contracts for foreign currencies to reduce the risks in exchange rates for
foreign currency revenue from ticket sales and expenses which are to be paid in
foreign currencies. Foreign currency hedging mainly involves the sales of
Japanese Yen or the purchase of US dollars at fixed exchange rates. As of 31
December 2009, the foreign currency hedging contracts held by the Group which
are still open amounted to a notional amount of US$82 million (31 December
2008: US$121 million), which will expire between 2010 and 2017

The Group recorded a decrease in net exchange gains during the reporting period.
As of 31 December 2008 and 2009, the Group’s exchange gains were R\VIB1,958
million and RMB49 million, respectively. Due to the large value of existing net
foreign currency liabilities, the Group’s results will be adversely affected if the
Renminbi depreciates against the US dollar or the rate of appreciation of the
Renminbi against the US dollar decreases in the future.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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In order to control fuel costs, the Group entered into fuel hedging transactions
using financial derivative products linked to the price of underlying assets such as
United States WTI crude oil and Singapore jet fuel during previous years. In the
face of continuing increases in fuel prices, the Group reduced the impact of the
fluctuation in aviation fuel prices through various financial derivative instruments.
For the years 2008 and 2009, the Group hedged 41.58% and 52.59% of its annual
fuel consumption, respectively.

The Group engaged in aviation fuel hedging for the purpose of locking in aviation
fuel costs. By selecting appropriate instruments, the Group locked in costs within
a hedged price range. However, high fluctuations in aviation fuel prices exceeding
the locked-in price ranges has resulted in the Group incurring actual realised and
unrealised settlement losses.

On 11 November 2009, the National Development and Reform Commission of the
People’s Republic of China (the “NDRC") and the Civil Aviation Administration of China
jointly issued the CBERNERZ ER A BN A AR AR 25 488 S (KRR B D £ iy 2= ek (B
TREE BN I B BRI RE A @A) (3 2(B 18(2009]28795%) (hereinafter referred to as
the “Notice”), which became effective on 14 November 2009. The notice clarified the
relationship between fuel surcharges and the consolidated purchase cost of aviation fuel
in the PRC, and provided a standard for calculating the cap amount of fuel surcharges.
Airline companies may, within a prescribed scope, make its own decision as to whether
to impose fuel surcharges, determine the pricing structure for fuel surcharges and
determine the time of implementation, all of which shall be implemented upon
publication of such decisions to the general public and a filing with the NDRC and the
Civil Aviation Administration of China.

As of 31 December 2009, the Group had approximately 45,938 employees, the majority
of whom worked in the PRC. The Group’s employee compensation is primarily composed
of basic salary and performance-based bonus. There were no material labor disputes
between the Group and its employees and the Group did not experience a significant
loss of employees or encounter any major difficulties in recruiting new employees.

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 20% (2008: 18%). Our effective tax
rate, however, may be higher than the rate of 20% because some of our subsidiaries
were incorporated in jurisdictions where the applicable income tax rate is 25% rather
than 20% in 2009. We had carried forward tax losses of approximately RMB12,586
million as of 31 December 2009 (2008: RMB11,465 million), which can be used to set off
against future taxable income between 2010 and 2014.
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The Board is pleased to present the audited financial report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2009.

The Company is one of the three largest air carriers in the PRC based on tonne-
kilometres and number of passengers carried in 2009 and is the primary air carrier
serving Shanghai, the largest economic, trading and financial centre of the PRC. The
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the financial position of
the Company and the Group as at that date, prepared in accordance with IFRS and PRC
Accounting Standards, are set out in the financial statements.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements of the Group prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The geographical analysis of the Group's revenue from its business is as follows:
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PRC Accounting
Standards IFRS
hEARLRM R B 7%
g5 8l HwEER
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR T T
Domestic 2] Al 27,482,611 26,887,613
Regional (Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan) HEGERE) 1,986,964 1,947,273
International R 10,361,756 10,154,773
Total @t 39,831,331 38,989,659

According to the financial statements prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting
Standards, the Company incurred a net profit of RMB540 million for the year 2009, and
the total accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 December 2009 amounted to
RMB16,995 million. The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2009.

As at 31 December 2009, the share capital structure of the Company is set out as
follows:

*EB*EP%/\E LR & 5t £ AR 8w B RS
BER AR ZEZTAFEFINEAAR
#5408 TT - %tiijniwL A=+—
H 2 EBEBEBAARKINBET EFE
EEARBEHE_ZSTAFT -_A=1+—
ALLEMEERE -

HE_ZZEAFTZA=Z+T—HA2ARK
REBWT :

Approximate
Total number percentage of
of Shares  shareholding (%)
# 1k R
R ERE Lt 1l (%)
1. A shares A B
(a) Listed shares with trading moratorium a) BREEERBR 5,691,375,000 59.40
(b) Listed shares without trading moratorium (b) #EPR & & mBAR 396,000,000 413
2. H shares H % 3,494,325,000 36.47
3. Total number of shares & 7 #8 &8 9,581,700,000 100.00

As at 31 December 2009, the total number of registered shareholders of the Company
was 143,058, of which 142,245 are holders of A shares and 813 are holders of H shares.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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So far as the directors of the Company (the “Director”) are aware, each of the following
persons, not being a Director, chief executive, supervisor of the Company or member
of the Company’s senior management, had, as at 31 December 2009, an interest and/
or short position in the Company’s shares or underlying shares (as the case may be)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), or was otherwise, as at 31
December 2009, interested in 5% or more of any class of the then issued share capital of
the Company, or was otherwise, as at 31 December 2009, a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) of the Company:—

ARmRBETEFDMMAM LT RIFEAR
FAEE THAER EEREREREA
MR —ZFEAEF A=+ -BRER
NER 6 AR B AR 49 (R T B R 5E) A
ERBEFRBEGRMNTESRBAE G
EXVEEIRID BAMNAARRE BB L
X%Fﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ RI(TEBBRZMDEREELR A
RAIMEE R A BER AL HEMBR
:$$ﬂ¢+_ﬂ,+—ﬁﬁ$ A & By
EABER B HITRAR A% A EESH

AL FARAR_ZZEAFL+ A=+
—Hﬁﬁﬁmiiﬂxi(mﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%é?&%
FBERARZESF EMAMTLETRAD)

»m»ﬁ
pal|

Interest
As at 31 December 2009
R
RZBBEAF+TZAZ+-—RABERA
Approximate Approximate Approximate
percentage percentage percentage
shareholdingin  shareholdingin  shareholding in
the Company's the Company's the Company's
Name of Nature of Number of total issued total issued total issued
shareholders shares held shares held share capital A shares H shares  Short position
ERTAR ERTHR
A B mEm
BRREBE B 40 % 5l P 5 B 8 R 4t Bl B A Lb 4 R 7 Lt 6 RE
China Eastern Air Holding Company
("CEA Holding") A shares
TREIMEEELR(RAER]) AR 4,831,375,000 50.42% 79.37% = =
CEA Holding (Note 1) H shares
RMEEM T HA& 1,927,375,000 2012% - 55.16% -
HKSCC Nominees Limited (Notes 2 to 3/ H shares
BEERREERBABRA HRA%
(K eF223) 3,471,070,039 36.23% = 99.33% =
Notes: Hiat -

Based on the information available to the Directors as at 31 December 2009 (including such
information as was available on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and so far as they
are aware of and understand, as at 31 December 2009:

1. Such H shares were held by RATEIE AR (&%) HR2AF] (CES Global Holdings
(Hong Kong) Limited) ("CES Global"), in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn is
100% held by CEA Holding.

2. Among the 3,471,070,039 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited, 1,927,375,000 H
shares (representing approximately 55.16% of the Company's then total issued H shares)
were held by CEA Global in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was owned as to
100% by CEA Holding.

gl Among the 3,471,070,039 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited, 189,078,000 H shares
(representing approximately 5.41% of the Company's then total issued H shares) were held
by China National Aviation Corporation (Group) Limited in the capacity of beneficial owner,
which in turn was ultimately 100% controlled by China National Aviation Holding Company.

REBEZEFR -FEANF - A=+—AFFETNEIE
(BRAEZ BB Y LAREFAERN) REEFH
M R=FBAFT=A=1—H:

1. ZE HRZERMEIRER (B%) ARA
([EMERR]) A Em#EAANG RIS n‘TJ
RIE B RIFEB RATEIE 100% #as o

2 HEBHRREE (REA) BRAGFFLN
3,477,070,039 A& H A& A - 1,927.375,000 A% H A%
(1R R A EFFE 7T H R4 2049 55.16%) H
EBIR A B ARG R15H + MRME
BRI RATEIRR 100% #as o

3 HEEFRGEE (REA) BRAGZFEH
3471,070,039 % H f&+ + 189,078,000 g H A& (1
ZK@E;E?H%E T H RARE#) 541%) I+

75 (E) BRA AU ERSHEEAR G 15
ﬁ T BT ZE ﬁ@@ﬂﬁl/ﬁﬂf;ﬁﬁthﬁn
(%£5) FRAA] 100% #a
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Save as disclosed above, based on the information available to the Directors and so far BrEMFBEEN BREFESHNEHRK

as they are aware, as at 31 December 2009, among the 3,471,070,039 H shares held REZMN R_ZEZANF+ZA=+—

by HKSCC Nominees Limited, no other person had any interest or short position in the H EEBPREERBA)BRARAFE

Company’s shares or underlying shares (as the case may be) which would fall to be #93,471,070,039 AR HAR & + 1] & }\ TRARQ A

disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the provisions of % 19 ‘)Z HERGERBAME) P EE#ER

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO. KB MERBLRDERBELSRBER

iﬁi%XV*K%Z&B HrRARQE REBER
Frik & -

According to the relevant disclosure requirements laid down by the China Securities BEFEZSEEERZER([PHEER

Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”), as at the end of the reporting period, the 10 largest Ai) MA Eﬁ BRMET MEHK- $ nAE

registered shareholders and the 10 largest registered listed stock shareholders on the i‘iﬁ = % fiit A1 10% A MR E K ATI0E G

register of members and their respective shareholdings are as follows: % MBRDBREFREROT :

Increase/
(Decrease) Shareholding Charged or

Name of in shareholding atthe end Percentage Type of locked-up Nature of

shareholders in the year of the year (%) shares shares shares held

B RE N

RREB FEANEH FREREE L Bl (%) AR 13 38 Bl BRo#E ROME

1 CEA HOLDING 1,927,375,000 4,831,375,000 50.42 listed (subject to Nil A shares (subject
HinEE moratorium) 4 to moratorium)

27 i (PR &) AR (BR &)

2 HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 1,931,052,900 3,471,070,039 36.23 ||stedthe Unknown H shares (the
(including CES Global) (1,437,375,000 > %1 1,437,375,000
(BERMEARK) shares held shares held

by CES Global by CES Global
are subject to are subject to
moratorium) moratorium)
2o HAR (K A
A B B 1,437,375,000
BEH IRRE)
1,437,375,000
iR 7= R E &)
3 China National Aviation Fuel 421,052,632 421,052,632 439 listed (subject to Unknown A shares
Holding Co. moratorium) K AR
FEMEASERA ERBE(RE)
4 Aerospace Capital Holdrng 210,526,315 210,526,315 2.20 Ilsted (subject to Unknown A shares
Co. Ltd. moratorium) Fa ARS
R B & A E R 27 iR &)
AR A A
5 Aerospace Science & Technology 94,736,846 94,736,846 0.99 listed (subject to Unknown A shares
Finance Co. Ltd. moratorium) R AR
i KB B 75 A IR mB(RE)
=R E/NE]
6 Sinotrans Air Transportation 83,157,894 83,157,894 0.87 listed (subject to Unknown A shares
Development Co. Ltd. moratorium) FaE ARS
FR NGB 22 $§‘¥E€H§\Li BnE(RE)
BERA
7 Dongguan Caixin Development 10,526,315 10,526,315 0.1 listed (subject to Unknown A shares
Co. Ltd. moratorium) Fan AR
REMMEERAERA A 27 i (PR &)
8 Teda Beijing Investment 10,526,315 10,526,315 0.11 Ilsted (subject to Unknown A shares
Company Limited moratorium) K AR
ZEJER)EEERA ERB(RE)
9 Ke Xiping 10,526,315 10,526,315 0.11 Ilsted (subject to Unknown A shares
] 7 moratorium) FaE AR
2 (RE)
10 Zhongze Jiameng Investment 10,526,315 10,526,315 0.1 listed (subject to Unknown A shares
Co. Ltd. moratorium) FRaE ARS
PFEFEREAERA 2mim(RE)

Description of any related party or concert party relationship among the 10 largest A0 AR R B Bk B (R sk — BUITEh N RH B : K

shareholders: The Company is not aware of any related party or concert party AR AR Hx%ZF&ﬁﬁEF% Bk B8 1R 2 —

relationship among the above shareholders. WITHRAR -

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



Shareholding of
listed stocks at
the end of Nature of
Name of shareholders the year shares held
FRESR
BRREB RBRHOYE b
1. HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 3,471,070,039 H shares
(including CES Global) H A
BEAPREEREBA)BRAA
(BEEmMEE)
2. HERT—AAREFTBRERNREGABZLFREAESH 2,929,807 A shares
ARR
3. ZHONG YUAN 2,700,000 A shares
R ARR
4 HBEIFRITROHERLA—ERE LBREEEIFREES 2,278,424 A shares
AR
5. =% 2,223,250 A shares
ARR
6. BRINEREEEARAA 2,178,315 A shares
AR
7. WU SHUK LING OLIVIA 2,000,000 H shares
H A%
8. PEY LIM CHENG 2,000,000 H shares
H A%
9. JdtFREBHEEAQR 1,990,026 A shares
ARR
0. EERAKREEEEAR AT 1,430,098 A shares
AR

Description of any related party or concert party relationship among the 10 largest listed
stock shareholders: The Company is not aware of any related party or concert party
relationship among the above listed stock shareholders.

There has been no change in the Company’s controlling shareholder in the year.

CEA Holding is the parent company of the Company and its registered capital amounts
to R\MIB11,780,365,000. Mr. Liu Shaoyong is the legal representative of CEA Holding.
CEA Holding's scope of business includes the management of all State-owned assets
and State-owned equity of its group and its investment enterprises which are formed
by State investment. As at 31 December 2009, no share of the Company held by CEA
Holding was pledged.

Save as otherwise disclosed, during the year ended 31 December 2009, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of its
listed securities (“securities” having the meaning ascribed thereto under paragraph
1 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules), without taking into account any issue of new
securities.
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As a company incorporated in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE"), the
Company is subject to not only applicable PRC laws and regulations, including the PRC
Company Law, the PRC Securities Law, the Corporate Governance Standards for Listed
Companies and Guidance Opinions regarding the Establishment of the Independent
Director System in Listed Companies (the “Independent Director Guidance”), but also
Hong Kong laws and regulations, including the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance
and the SFO, as well as applicable U.S. Federal securities laws and regulations,
including the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. Based on NYSE's listing standards, the NYSE imposes a series of
corporate governance standards for companies listed on the NYSE. However, the NYSE
permits foreign private issuers to follow their respective “home country” practices and
grants waivers for compliance with certain corporate governance standards. One of the
conditions for such waiver is for the foreign private issuer to disclose in its annual report
how the corporate governance practices in its “home country” differ from those required
of U.S. companies under the NYSE listing standards.

In accordance with the requirements of Section 303A.11 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual, the following is a summary of the significant differences between the
Company's corporate governance practices and those required to be followed by U.S.
companies under the NYSE's listing standards.

Section 303A.01 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must have a majority of independent Directors. As a company listed in the PRC, the
Company is subject to the requirement under the Independent Director Guidance that at
least one-third of the Board be independent as determined thereunder. As a company
listed in Hong Kong, the Company is also subject to the requirement under the Listing
Rules that at least three members of the Board shall be independent, and at least one
of whom must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company currently has five independent Directors
out of a total of ten Directors. The standards for establishing independence set forth
under either the Independent Director Guidance or the Listing Rules differ from those set
forth in the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

Section 303A.03 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must schedule regular executive sessions in which non-management directors meet
without management participation. The Company is not required, under either the
applicable PRC law or the applicable Hong Kong law, to hold such executive sessions.
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Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must have a nominating/corporate governance committee composed entirely of
independent directors. The establishment of the Nomination Committee was considered
and resolved and its charter was passed at the third regular meeting of the fifth session
of the board of the Company held on 28 April 2009. The merge of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board of the Company held on 19 March 2010 and the “Working Rules
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee" was passed. The Nomination and
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, two of which are independent
non-executive Directors of the Company. Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual also provides that the nominating/corporate governance committee of a listed
company must have a written charter that addresses the committee’s purpose and
responsibilities, which include, among others, the development and recommendation of
corporate governance guidelines to the listed company’s board of directors. The Board is
directly responsible for developing the Company's corporate governance guidelines.

Section 303A.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must have a compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors.
Under the Listing Rules, a majority of the members of the remuneration committee must
be independent non-executive directors. The merge of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of
the Company held on 19 March 2010. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of
the Company is composed of two independent non-executive Directors and one Director.

Section 303A.10 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must adopt and disclose a code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers
and employees. As required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company has
adopted a code of ethics that is applicable to the Company’s Directors, Supervisors,
President, Chief Financial Officer and other senior managers.

Under the articles of association of the Company and the PRC laws, no pre-emptive
rights exist which require the Company to offer new shares to existing shareholders on a
pro rata basis.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual
report, the Directors believe that the Company has at all times during the year ended
31 December 2009 maintained the relevant applicable minimum percentage of listed
securities as prescribed by Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.
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Names, relevant information of and shares held by the Directors, the Supervisors and AABHBE_TTNLF+RA=T—HE
members of senior management of the Company as at 31 December 2009 are as follows: FE EERaAEEABLSE BHEEHK
FRIERMT

Number of listed
A shares of the Capacity in Effective date and
Company held - which the expiry date of
Name Position Age personal interest A shares were held appointment

A AR

TBEAR
" £ B % F#e R —EAER AR S 6 EHEIEAH
Liu Shaoyong Chairman 51 0 —  February 2009-June 2010
2R E BEER — 2009.2-2010.6
Li Jun Vice Chairman 57 0 — June 2007-June 2010
F B AEER 0 — 2007.6-2010.6
Ma Xulun Director, President 46 0 —  December 2008-June 2010
5EMm B KR 2008.12-2010.6
Luo Chaogeng  Director 60 6,600 (Note 1) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
HER = 6,600 (GE 1) EmEBA 2007.6-2010.6
Luo Zhuping Director, Company Secretary 57 11,616 (Note 2) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
®EME EE - -pAwE 11,616 (G ##2) EmEAA 2007.6-2010.6
Hu Honggao Independent non-executive Director 56 0 — June 2007-March 2010
A BYFRATES 2007.6-2010.3
Wu Baiwang Independent non-executive Director 67 0 = June 2007-June 2010
R B H BYERTES 2007.6-2010.6
Zhou Ruijin Independent non-executive Director 7 0 — June 2007-March 2010
J& i & BYFATES 2007.6-2010.3
Xie Rong Independent non-executive Director 58 0 — June 2007-June 2010
Eil s BYFATES 2007.6-2010.6
Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu Independent non-executive Director 62 0 — June 2009-June 2010
25 E BYFATES 2009.6-2010.6
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Number of listed
A shares of the
Company held -

Effective date and
expiry date of

Capacity in
which the

Name Position Age personal interest A shares were held appointment
iR N
TBAR
%A B % FiR R —EAESE AR & 6 EHEIEAH
Liu Jiangbo Chairman of the Supervisory Committee 60 0 — June 2007-June 2010
211K EEQIRE 2007.6-2010.6
Xu Zhao Supervisor 4 0 — June 2007-June 2010
= 3 EE 2007.6-2010.6
Yan Taisheng Supervisor 56 0 — March 2009-June 2010
R EE 2009.3-2010.6
Feng Jinxiong  Supervisor 48 0 — March 2009-June 2010
Vg =S 2009.3-2010.6
Liu Jiashun Supervisor 53 3,960 (Note 3) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
2R B =S 3,960 (7 #£3) EmEEA 2007.6-2010.6
Zhang Jianzhong Vice President 55 0 — June 2007-June 2010
REH Bl 48 5 18 2007.6-2010.6
Li Yangmin Vice President 47 3,960 (Note 3) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
TER Bl 48 5 18 3,960 (7% #£3) EmEEA 2007.6-2010.6
Fan Ru Vice President 61 3,696 (Note 4) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
B F Bl 48 55 18 3,696 (7% #£4) EmEEA 2007.6-2010.6
Zhao Jinyu Vice President 53 0 —  December 2009-June 2010
HE 7R Bl 48 2 18 2009.12-2010.6
Wu Yongliang  Chief Financial Officer 47 3,696 (Note 4) Beneficial Owner March 2009-June 2010
RKR B 7% 48 BS 3,696 (7% #£4) EmEEA 2009.3-2010.6

Note 1: representing approximately 0.000069% of the Company's total issued shares as at 31

December 2009

Note 2:  representing approximately 0.00012% of the Company's total issued shares as at 31

December 2009

Note 3 representing approximately 0.000041% of the Company's total issued shares as at 31

December 2009

Note 4:  representing approximately 0.000039% of the Company's total issued shares as at 31

December 2009

2B ARFAR —FEENF A= —HE#T

R 17 #8214 0.000069%

B2 EARAR_EENF+—A=+—HE#T

JR17 #8214 0.00012%

BRI EARAR_EENF+ - A=+—HE#T

HR17 4214 0.000041%

T4 AR AR_EENF+—A=+—HET

HR17 48214 0.000039%
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As at the date of this report and in 2009, brief biographical details in respect of each of
the Directors, Supervisors and senior management officers of the Company are as
follows:

Mr. Liu Shaoyong is currently the Chairman of the Company and Deputy Party Secretary
and General Manager of CEA Holding. Since Mr. Liu joined the civil aviation industry in
1978, he has been appointed the Deputy General Manager of China General Aviation
Corporation, Deputy Director of Shanxi Provincial Civil Aviation Administration, General
Manager of the Shanxi Branch of the Company, and Chief of the Flying Model Division of
the Civil Aviation Administration of China (the “CAAC"). Mr. Liu served as General
Manager of the Company from December 2000 to October 2002, Vice Minister of the
CAAC from October 2002 to August 2004, General Manager of China Southern Air
Holding Company from August 2004 to December 2008, Chairman of directors of China
Southern Airlines Co., Ltd (H share stock code: 1055) from November 2004 to December
2008. Since December 2008, Mr. Liu has been appointed Deputy Party Secretary and the
General Manager of CEA Holding, and has just become the Chairman of the Company
since 3 February 2009. Mr. Liu graduated from the China Civil Aviation Flight College and
achieved an EMBA degree of Tsinghua University in 2005. Mr. Liu holds the title of First
Class Pilot. He is currently the Director General of China Air Transport Assaciation, the
Director of International Air Transport Association and the Director of Association for
Relations Across the Taiwan Straits.

Mr. Li Fenghua was the Director of the Company during the reporting period. Mr. Li joined
the civil aviation industry in 1968 and was deputy head, and subsequently became head,
of the 26th Fleet of the CAAC from 1987 to 1992. From 1992 to 1996, Mr. Li served as
vice president, and then became president, of the Hubei Branch of China Southern
Airlines (Group). Since 1996, he became vice president of China Southern Airlines
Company Limited and vice president of China Southern Airlines (Group). In 2000, Mr. Li
became party secretary and vice president of China Southern Airlines Company Limited.
From October 2002 to September 2004, he served as the president of the Company and
vice president of CEA Holding. From September 2004 to December 2008, he served as
the president and deputy party secretary of CEA Holding. The resignation of Mr. Li
Fenghua as director and chairman of the fifth session of the Board due to reallocation of
appointment was passed by way of resolution in the 17th meeting of the fifth session of
the Board held on 12 December 2008 and the first 2009 extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 3 February 2009 respectively. Mr. Li graduated from the China Civil
Aviation Senior Aviation School and holds the title of First Class Pilot.

Mr. Li Jun is currently the Vice Chairman of the Company and the party secretary of CEA
Holding. Mr. Li joined the civil aviation industry in 1972. Since 1977, Mr. Li served as
officer in the Political Department and office secretary of CAAC. Mr. Li served as person-
in-charge of Policy Research Department in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1984, deputy
director of Policy Research Department in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1986, deputy
manager of Planning Department in CAAC in 1989, manager of Planning Department in
CAAC in 1994, director of the General Office in CAAC in 1996, manager of Personnel
Education Department in CAAC in 2000, and deputy head and party committee member
of CAAC in 2001. Since 2006, Mr. Li has served as party secretary of CEA holding and
has served as Vice Chariman of the Company since June 2007. Mr. Li graduated from the
Party School of the Central Committee of the C.P.C. and holds a bachelor degree of
Economic Management and is a qualified senior political work instructor and Economist.
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Mr. Ma Xulun is currently the Director, the General Manager and the Deputy Party
Secretary of the Company, the Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding. Mr. Ma joined the
civil aviation industry since 1997. He has been appointed Deputy General Manager of
China Commaodities Storing and Transportation Corporation, Deputy Director General of
Finance Department of the CAAC, Vice President of Air China International Corporation
Limited. In 2002, after the restructuring of civil aviation industry he was appointed the
Vice President of the general affairs of Air China International Corporation Limited. Later
on, Mr. Ma served as President and Deputy Party Secretary of Air China International
Corporation Limited (stock code: 753) from September 2004 to January 2007. Mr. Ma
became a Party member of China National Aviation Holding Company from December
2004 to December 2008, and Deputy General Manager of China National Aviation
Holding Company from January 2007 to December 2008. Since December 2008, Mr. Ma
started working as General Manager and Deputy Party Secretary of the Company and
Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding. Since 3 February 2009, Mr. Ma has become a
Director of the Company. Mr. Ma Xulun became a director of China Cargo Airlines Co.,
Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company) with effect from 4 January 2009 and became the
chairman of such company with effect from 5 January 2009. Mr. Ma graduated from
Shanxi University of Finance and Economics and Huazhong University of Science and
Technology. Mr. Ma holds a master degree and is a qualified accountant.

Mr. Luo Chaogeng is currently a Director. Mr. Luo joined the civil aviation industry in
1970. Mr. Luo was a flight mechanic of the instructing team of the Lanzhou Civil Aviation
Administration Bureau from August 1970 to August 1972. From August 1972 to March
1989, he was the flight mechanic and vice instructor of the 8th Civil Aviation Flight Team.
From March 1989 to August 1994, he was the deputy commissar, commissar and party
secretary of the Xi'an Flight Team of China Northwest Airlines. From August 1994 to
October 1996, he was the party secretary of the aircraft maintenance plant of China
Northwest Airlines. From October 1996 to March 1997, he was the party secretary and
deputy general manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Northwest Airlines.
From March 1997 to December 2000, he was the deputy director of the Civil Aviation
Administration Bureau of China Northwest Airlines. From December 2000 to November
2001, Mr. Luo was the general manager of Yunnan Airlines and the director and deputy
party secretary of Civil Aviation Administration Bureau of Yunnan. From November 2001
to September 2002, he was the general manager and deputy party secretary of Yunnan
Airlines. From September 2002 to present, he has been the party constitution member
and vice president of CEA Holding. From September 2002 to September 2004, he has
also served concurrently as the general manager of Yunnan Airlines of CEA Holding.
From September 2004 to the present, he has been the party constitution member and
vice president of CEA Holding, and from September 2004 to October 2006 was President
and deputy party secretary of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited. Mr. Luo serves
as a non-executive directors of TravelSky Technology Limited (H share stock code: 696)
from 3 March 2009. From September 1998 to June 2001, Mr. Luo attended the
postgraduate course in economics and management for incumbent leading cadres of
Shaanxi Province at the Central Party School. Mr. Luo has first class competency in flight
mechanics.
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Mr. Cao Jianxiong was a Director and President during the reporting period. Mr. Cao
joined the civil aviation industry in 1982. From 1992, he served as president of Shanghai
Eastern Airlines Development Company and in 1994 he became president of Eastern
Airlines Futures Brokerage Company. In early 1996 he served as assistant president of
the Company. From 1997, he served as vice president and chief financial officer of the
Company. Since December 1999, he served as vice president of CEA Group. From October
2002 to December 2008, he served as vice president of CEA Holding, and he also was
the party secretary of China Eastern Air Northwest Company from December 2002 to
September 2004. From October 2006 to December 2008, he served as president of the
Company. The resignation of Mr. Cao Jianxiong as director of the fifth session of Board
and president due to reallocation of duties was passed by way of resolution in the 17th
meeting of the fifth session of Board held on 12 December 2008. The resignation of Mr.
Cao Jianxiong as director of the fifth session of the Board due to reallocation of
appointment was passed by way of resolution in the first 2009 extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 3 February 2009. Mr. Cao graduated from the Civil
Aviation Management Institute with a major in labour economics. Mr. Cao also received
a master degree in global economics from Eastern China Normal University’s Department
of International Finance. Mr. Cao holds the title of Senior Economist.

Mr. Luo Zhuping is currently a Director and the Company Secretary. Mr. Luo joined CEA in
1988. He was deputy chief and then chief of the enterprise management department of
China Eastern Airlines from 1992 to 1997. He was deputy head of the share system
office from 1993 to 1996. In 1997, he became the secretary of the board of China Eastern
Airlines Corporation Limited and, from 1997 to 2008, also served as the head of the
secretariat of the board of the Company. He became a Director of the Company in June
2004. Mr. Luo graduated from the Faculty of Philosophy and the Faculty of Law of Anhui
University in 1979 and 1985, respectively. In 1994, Mr. Luo received a Master degree
from the Economics Department of Eastern China Normal University, majoring in global
economics. In 1998, he participated in the training programme for senior managers of
large state-owned enterprises organised in the U.S.A. by the State Economic and Trade
Commission and Morgan Stanley.

Mr. Hu Honggao was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company from 1996 to March 2010. He is currently the deputy dean of the School of
Law, the director and professor of the Civil and Commercial Law Research Centre, and a
tutor to doctoral students majoring in civil and commercial law at Fudan University. He is
also a senior lawyer at the Shanghai Shen Yang Law Office. Mr. Hu is a managing
director of China Commercial Law Research Society, a managing director of China
Economic Law Research Society (1 BI4E Z A 70 & 7512 ), a member of the
Legislative Consultation Committee of the Shanghai Municipal Government, a member
of the Legislative Profession Consultation Committee of the Shanghai Standing
Committee of the People’s Congress (/BT AR EZE @ EERAETEEE),
vice chairman of the Shanghai Economic Law Research Society and an arbitrator of the
Shanghai Arbitration Committee. Mr. Hu also serves as an independent non-executive
director of China Shipping Development Company Limited (H share stock code: 1138) and
an independent director of =i % A A% {7 B MR 2 7] (Giti Tire Corporation) (A share
stock code: 600182).
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Mr. Peter Lok was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
from 1998 to June 2009. Mr. Lok went to the College of Air Traffic Control in England for
further studies after joining the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department in December 1956.
He studied air transport, air accident investigation and administration and management
of civil aviation in England from 1968 to 1973. In 1982, he became assistant director of
the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department. From 1985, during his time in office at the air
services division of the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department, he participated in
negotiations with various countries regarding air traffic rights. He became deputy
director in 1988, and subsequently became director in 1990 of the Hong Kong Civil
Aviation Department. Mr. Lok retired in 1996 and has served as a consultant at the
Flights Standards Department of the CAAC. Mr. Lok is the first Chinese director of the
Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department and was at one time an instructor at the College of
Air Traffic Control of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wu Baiwang was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in 1998. Mr. Wu joined the civil aviation industry in 1959 and was deputy fleet
leader and subsequently became fleet leader of the 12th Fleet of the CAAC from 1976 to
1984. From 1984 to 1992, Mr. Wu was deputy head and subsequently became head of
the CAAC Jilin Bureau. From 1992 to 1995, Mr. Wu was the head and party secretary of
the CAAC North-eastern Bureau. From September 1995 to 1998, he became president of
China General Aviation Corporation. He was the party secretary and vice president of
Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport Group Company and the chairman of the board
of directors of Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport Company Limited from 1998 to
September 2003. Mr. Wu graduated from Chinese Civil Aviation School in 1965 and
holds the title of First Class Pilot.

Mr. Zhou Ruijin was appointed as an Independent Non-executive director of the Company
from 2000 to March 2010. Mr. Zhou was deputy editor-in-chief and the East China
regional director of the People’s Daily. From 1988 to 1993 Mr. Zhou was the party
secretary and deputy editor-in-chief of the Liberation Daily. From April 1993 to 1996 he
was deputy editor-in-chief of the People’s Daily and from 1996 to 2000 he was deputy
editor-in-chief and the East China regional director of the People’s Daily. After retired, he
became vice chairman of the China Productivity Council and chairman of the Shanghai
Productivity Council. Mr. Zhou graduated from the journalism department of Fudan
University in 1962. Mr. Zhou also served as an independent director of China Universal
Asset Management Company ([ &= H 4 E IR HR A 7).

Mr. Xie Rong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in 2003. Mr. Xie is the deputy head of Shanghai National Accounting Institute and a
certified accountant in the PRC. He taught at the faculty of accounting of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics from December 1985 to March 1997, and had been
an assistant professor, a professor, a doctorate-tutor and the deputy dean of the faculty.
Mr. Xie was a partner of KPMG Huazhen from December 1997 to October 2002, and has,
since October 2002, been the deputy head of Shanghai National Accounting Institute.
Mr. Xie also serves as an independent director of /&5 %1% & BR A &] (Shanghai
Automotive Co., Ltd, A share stock code: 600104) and independent non-executive
directors of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (H shares stock code: 998), China
Shipping Development Company Limited (H shares stock code: 1138) and Tianjin Capital
Environmental Protection Group Company Limited (H shares stock code: 1065). Mr. Xie
graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and has a doctorate
degree in Economics.
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Mr. Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in June 2009. Mr. Liu joined the civil aviation industry in Taiwan since 1969. He
has served in China Airlines (& /&M #1222 &) as Airport Manager in Honolulu
Airport, Marketing Director for the Americas, General Manager for Hawaii District,
Regional Director for Europe, Director of Corporate Planning and Director of Marketing
Planning respectively in its Corporate Office Taiwan. He also served as Vice President for
Market and Sales in 1993 and Executive Vice President for Commercial since 1996, and
was promoted to President in 1998. Additionally, Mr. Liu had served as Board Director in
Taiwan Mandarin Airlines (& /&ZE{= 1 2=), Taiwan Far Eastern Air Transport (& /&=
B fifze), Taiwan China Pacific Catering Service (& /&£ £ 22 &), Taiwan Taoyuan
International Airport Service Company (& &k Bl fin £z 75 72 1) and the Chairman of
the Board of Taiwan Air Cargo Terminal (& /&ZEEEY)7 2 7). In 2001, he moved to
Hong Kong to join Expeditors International of Washington, Inc. a global logistics
company as the Chief Operating Officer for Asia Region. Mr. Liu graduated from Taipei's
Shih-Shin University (& &ttt #7K£2) and attended advanced study program in
Stanford University in the United States in 1990 and 1993 respectively.

Mr. Wu Xiaogen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in March 2010. Mr. Wu was the assistant to general manager and the deputy
general manager of the securities business department of China Jingu International Trust
Investment Company Limited (7 B & R B 7T E AR E E A ) from April
1998 to March 1999, the deputy general manager of the securities management
department and the general manager of the institutional management department of
China Technology International Trust Investment Company ({f B RHE BB Z3E18 &
/A a)) from March 1999 to July 2000, the head of the audit teaching and research unit
and the vice president of the School of Accountancy of Central University of Finance and
Economics (AR 92 B 48 A £2) from July 2000 to November 2004. He has been the chief
accountant of China First Heavy Industries (9P B 58 — S AU # AR 5= [E /2 &)) since
November 2004 and holds the title of researcher. Mr. Wu graduated from the Department
of Economics and Management of Central University of Finance and Economics (F7 9% 87
4K 22)in 1997 and obtained a doctoral degree in Economics.

Mr. Ji Weidong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in March 2010. Mr. Ji graduated from the Department of Law of Peking
University (1 51 < 22) in 1983 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in law. Mr. Ji completed
his master’s and doctoral degree courses at the graduate school of Kyoto University,
Japan from April 1985 to March 1990. From September 1991 to July 1992, he was a
visiting scholar at Stanford Law School, the USA. He obtained his doctoral degree in law
from Kyoto University, Japan in January 1993. From April 1990 to September 1996, Mr.
Ji was an associate professor at the School of Law of Kobe University, Japan. From
October 1996 to March 2009, he was a professor at the School of Law of Kobe
University, Japan. Since 2008, he has been the dean and professor of Koguan Law
School of Shanghai Jiaotong University. He is currently an honorary professor at Kobe
University, Japan.

Ms. Liu Jiangbo is currently the chairman of the supervisory committee of the Company
(the “Supervisory Committee”), and a party member, vice president, and the head of
disciplinary inspection group of CEA Holding. Ms. Liu Jiangbo joined the civil aviation
industry in 1979. Since then, Ms. Liu had been an officer in the Beijing Administrative
Bureau of Civil Aviation of China and the deputy secretary of the committee of C.P.C. of
the transportation business division. Ms. Liu served as secretary of the committee of the
Communist Youth League of the National Civil Aviation in 1985, deputy director of the
personnel department of the Traffic Control Bureau of the Aviation of China from 1987 to
1990, supervisor to the Civil Aviation Administration of China appointed by the
Supervisory Bureau of China from 1990 to 1994, deputy director of the transportation
division of CAAC from 1994 to 2000, secretary of the committee of C.P.C. and vice
president of Yunnan Airlines Corporation Limited from 2000 to 2002, and the party
member, vice president and has been serving as the head of the disciplinary examination
committee of CEA Holding since 2002. Ms. Liu graduated from the Graduate School of
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, majoring in business management of industrial
economics, having the qualification of post-graduate and senior political work instructor.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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Mr. Xu Zhao is currently a Supervisor of the Company, and the chief accountant of CEA
Holding. Mr. Xu joined the civil aviation industry in the end of 2006. Mr. Xu served as
engineer and accountant in Dongfeng Motor Group Company Limited in 1991 and 1997
respectively, Mr. Xu joined Shanghai Yanhua High Technology Limited Company as a
manager in finance department in 2000, and joined Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co.
Limited as a chief financial officer in 2002. Since November 2006, Mr. Xu has served as
the chief accountant in CEA Holding. Mr. Xu graduated from Chongxing University,
majoring in moulding, and The Chinese University of Hong Kong, majoring in accounting,
and holds a master degree. Mr. Xu is qualified as an engineer and an accountant, and is
a certified public accountant in the PRC.

Ms. Wang Taoying was a Supervisor, assistant to the president, and the general
manager of the auditing department of the Company during the reporting period. Ms.
Wang joined the civil aviation industry in 1972, was the deputy director of the
supervisory and auditing department and the deputy manager of the disciplinary
committee office of China Eastern Airlines Company from March 1993 to August 1995.
Ms. Wang was the head of the auditing department of China Eastern Airlines Company
from August 1995 to March 1997, the supervisor in the first session of the Supervisory
Committee from January 1995 to March 1998, the cabin service manager of the
Company from March 1997 to April 1999, and the deputy general manager of security
department in Pudong, Shanghai of the Company taking charge of the servicing safety in
the production procedure from April 1999 to August 2000. Ms. Wang also acted as chief
officer of the auditing department of the Company from August 2000 to August 2004.
From August 2004 to August 2006, she served as the general manager of the auditing
department of the Company and has been the assistant to the president of the Company
and the general manager of the auditing department from August 2006 to February 2009.
She has no longer served as a Supervisor of the Company since March 2009. Ms. Wang
graduated from the Shanghai Second Polytechnic University, majoring in sociopolitics,
and holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the Open University of
Macau.

Ms. Yang Jie was a Supervisor of the Company during the reporting period. Ms. Yang
joined the civil aviation industry in 1992. From 1996 to 1998 she was the electronic
technology supervisor of the technology office and Communist Youth League secretary of
the overhaul department at the aircraft maintenance base of the Company. From 1998 to
September 2000 she was Communist Youth League deputy secretary of the aircraft
maintenance base of the Company. She was the deputy secretary of the Company's
Communist Youth League from September 2000 to July 2002, and the secretary of the
Company’s Communist Youth League from August 2002 to January 2008. From January
2008 to April 2009, Ms. Yang was the deputy director of the Party Organization
Department of CEA Holding. From January 2003 to April 2009, she was the secretary of
the Communist Youth League of CEA Holding. She has no longer served as a Supervisor
of the Company since March 2009. Ms. Yang graduated with a major in aviation
electronics from the China Civil Aviation Academy and a major in Business
Administration from Sunny Management Academy (fE B & 2 £0x T & 3E) at
Donghua University from which she received a master degree in Business Administration.
She is also a qualified engineer.
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Mr. Yan Taisheng is currently a Supervisor and the Vice Chairman of the Labour Union of
the Company. Mr. Yan joined the civil aviation industry in 1973, and has served in the
Command Centre and the General Office of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration
Bureau. From 1990 to 1993, he served as the Chief of the Secretarial Section in the
General Office of China Eastern Airlines Company. He served as the Manager of
Shanghai Civil Aviation Dong Da Industry Company ( ;& AR AE %A 7)) from
1993 to 1998 and was the Deputy Director of General Office of the Labour Union of the
Company from 1998 to 2002. From 2002 to 2005, he served as the Director of General
Office of Labour Union of the Company. He has been the Vice Chairman of the Labour
Union and the Director of the General Office of the Labour Union of the Company since
2005. He has been a supervisor of the Company since March 2009. Mr. Yan graduated
from East China Normal University.

Mr. Feng Jinxiong is currently a Supervisor and general manager of Audit Department of
the Company. Mr. Feng joined the civil aviation industry in 1982, and has served in the
Planning Department of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration Bureau as well as the
Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company. He served as the Deputy
Director of the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1992 to
1997, the Director of the Planning Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998, the
Director of the Finance Department of China Eastern Air Holding Company from 1998 to
2000. He was the Deputy Chief Accountant of China Eastern Air Holding Company from
2000 to 2001, the Manager of the Human Resources Department of the Company from
2001 to 2003, the Party Committee Secretary and Vice President of China Eastern Air Jin
Rong Company (5 i & 7 A &)) from 2003 to 2005, the Party Committee Secretary and
Deputy General Manager of the Shanghai Ground Service Department of the Company
from 2005 to 2007, as well as the President and the Deputy Party Committee Secretary
of the China Eastern Airlines Wuhan Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2009. Since February 2009,
he has been the General Manager of the Audit Department of the Company. He has been
a supervisor of the Company since March 2009. Mr. Feng graduated from the Civil
Aviation University of China and the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences, holding a master's degree.

Mr. Liu Jiashun has been a Supervisor of the Company since 2000. From 1993 to 1999
Mr. Liu was party secretary, deputy president and secretary of the disciplinary committee
of China Aviation Fuel Hainan Company, as well as chairman of the board and president
of Hainan Nanyang Air Transport Co., Ltd. From 1997 to 1999 he was also the chief
director in charge of fuel supply engineering at Haikou's Meilan Airport and served as a
director of Meilan Airport Co., Ltd. and the vice chairman of the board and president of
EEEAMR A A From 1999 to 2007 he was deputy party secretary, and
subsequently the secretary of the disciplinary committee of China Aviation Fuel East
China Company and he served as the general manager of =& s MA R A 7
from 2006 to March 2009. Since October 2009, Mr. Liu serves as the party secretary of
AR B A2 M AL EE R A A (China Aircraft Fuel Huadong Company). Mr. Liu received
post-graduate education and is qualified as a senior political work instructor.

Mr. Zhang Jianzhong is a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined the civil
aviation industry in 1982. From April 1982 to December 1987, he was an assistant of the
CAAC Shanghai Planning Bureau. From December 1987 to April 1990, he was the deputy
director of the planning department of Shanghai Honggiao International Airport. From
April 1990 to January 1996, he was the director of the planning department of China
Eastern Airlines. From January 1996 to April 1999, he was the manager of the sales and
marketing department of the Company. From April 1999 to April 2003, he was the
assistant to the president of the Company. From September 2000 to December 2001, he
served concurrently as the director of the office of strategic study of the Company. From
December 2001 to May 2003, he served concurrently as the general manager of the
computer information centre of the Company. From April 2003 to June 2004, he was the
chief economist of the Company. From May 2003 to June 2004, he served concurrently as
the general manager of the sales and marketing department of the Company. From June
2004 to present, he has been a vice president of the Company. Mr. Zhang also serves as
the chairman of /&5 5 = fin A R 22 &) (Shanghai Eastern Logistics Co., Ltd.)
(a member of the Group) and the vice chairman of 1B &i&Efi 2 AR 2 @] (China
Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.) (a member of the Group). Mr. Zhang graduated from the Faculty
of Mechanical Engineering of Zhejiang University and also the Economics and
Management of Fudan University from which he obtained a master degree.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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Mr. Li Yangmin is a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Li joined the civil aviation
industry in 1985. From July 1985 to October 1996, he was the deputy head of the aircraft
maintenance workshop (T4 4 & &R 25 1), head of technology office and secretary of
the workshop branch of Northwest Company (F54b#122 72 &]). From October 1996 to
June 2002, he was the deputy general manager of the aircraft maintenance base and the
manager of air route department (f4% ) of Northwest Company (FG4bf%E 2 7).
From June 2002 to March 2004, he was the general manager of the aircraft maintenance
base of China Eastern Air Northwest Company. From March 2004 to October 2005, he
was the vice president and a member of the standing committee to the party committee
of China Eastern Air Northwest Company. Since October 2005, he has been a vice
president of the Company. Mr. Li also serves as a director of 7 B & fizc B[R & (£
/A &] (China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (a member of the Group) and the chairman of /&
R TR 4 1E£ B BR A 7] (Shanghai Eastern Maintenance Co., Ltd) (a member of the
Group). Mr. Li is a university graduate from China Civil Aviation Academy. He is a
qualified senior engineer.

Mr. Fan Ru is the Company’s Vice President. Mr. Fan started his civil aviation career in
1966. He was a deputy fleet leader of China Eastern Airlines’ Shanghai Fleet since 1988
and was the head of aviation technology management office of China Eastern Airlines
since 1995. He was appointed as the deputy chief pilot and the head of aviation
technology management office of the Company since 1997. He was the chief pilot of the
Company from 1999 to November 2006, and was appointed as the vice president of the
Company since November 2006. Mr. Fan also serves as the chairman of /&5 7
F17153) B8R 2 a] (Shanghai Eastern Flight Training Co., Ltd.) (a member of the
Group), a director of Bl EEMMZEAPR /A A (China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.) (a
member of the Group) and B85 A AR 22 AR5 A BR A 7] (Eastern Business Airlines
Service Co., Ltd.) (a member of the Group). Mr. Fan graduated from Advanced Aviation
School for professional flying. He has received tertiary education and has obtained first
class technical qualifications for pilots.

Mr. Zhao Jinyu is the Company’s Vice President. Mr. Zhao joined the civil aviation
industry in 1978. From November 1995 to March 1998, he was a deputy director and
director of the Flying Safety and Technology Department of China General Aviation
Corporation. From March 1998 to May 1999, he was the General Manager of the Flying
Aviation Department of the Shanxi Branch of the Company. From May 1999 to January
2000, he was the Vice President of the Shanxi Branch of the Company. From January
2000 to January 2004, he was the General Manager of the Hebei Branch of the Company.
From January 2004 to May 2008, he was the General Manager and Deputy Party
Secretary of the Anhui Branch of the Company. From May 2008 to July 2008, he was the
Managing Vice President and Deputy Party Secretary of the Yunnan Branch of the
Company. Since July 2008, he has been the General Manager and Deputy Party
Secretary of the Yunnan Branch of the Company. Mr. Zhao graduated from the Civil
Aviation Flight University of China for professional flying and holds the title of Second
Class Pilot (— AR 7T 5 B AH).
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Mr. Tang Bing is the Company's Vice President. Mr. Tang joined the civil aviation industry
in 1993. From April 1997 to October 1999, he served as a deputy manager of the
Engineering Technology Division under the Aircraft Engineering Department of A7 B
JTRnZEBBR /A &) (China Southern Airlines Company Limited). From October 1999 to
May 2003, he was the deputy director of the Business Development Department of &
P TR A & TF2 B BR 2 7) (Guangzhou Aircraft Maintenance Engineering Co., Ltd.),
and the vice director of its Accessories Business Centre. From June 2003 to December
2005, he was vice president of BREE X FREEMAEGR AT (MTU
Maintenance Zhuhai Co., Ltd.). From December 2005 to March 2007, he served as the
office director of China South Airlines Holding Company. From March 2007 to December
2007, he was the president and vice party secretary of 2 B 722/ & A 7] (Chongging
Airlines Company Limited). From December 2007 to May 2009, he served as the chief
engineer and general manager and a deputy party secretary of the Aircraft Engineering
Department of China South Airlines (H share stock code: 1055). From May 2009 to
December 2009, he was appointed as a member of the Standing Committee to the Party
Committee of the Company, general manager and deputy party secretary of the Beijing
branch of the Company. Since December 2009, he has been served a member of the
Standing Committee to the Party Committee of the Company; he has served as a Vice
President of the Company since February 2010. Mr. Tang graduated from & S A %2 i
XA E (Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics) majoring in electrical
technology. He obtained a master of business administration (MBA) degree from the
Administration Institute of A7 1] KX 22 (Sun Yat-sen University) in 2003 and an executive
master of business administration (EMBA) degree from the School of Economics and
Management of J& 2= A £ (Tsinghua University) in 2008.

Mr. Luo Weide was the Company's Chief Financial Officer during the reporting period. In
1976 Mr. Luo began his military service at the Air Force in Liuan Airport. From 1979 to
1991 he successively served as department head and deputy head of the Putuo branch of
the Shanghai Municipal Tax Bureau. From 1991 to 1993 he concurrently served as head
of the finance bureau and the state asset bureau of Putuo District, Shanghai. From 1993
to 1998 he successively served as deputy chief accountant, chief accountant and
executive deputy president of Shanghai Jingiao (Group) Co., Ltd. From 1998 to 2000, he
was vice president of Shanghai Pudong Development (Group) Co., Ltd. and chairman of
the board and president of Pudong Finance Company. From 2000 to March 2009, he was
the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Luo graduated from the Sino-European
International Business School in 1999 with a Master's degree in business administration.
He holds the titles of Senior Accountant and Senior Economist.

Mr. Wu Yongliang is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Wu joined
the civil aviation industry in 1984. He was the deputy director of the Finance Department
of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1993 to 1997, the deputy director and
subsequently the director of the Finance Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998,
the director of Planning and Finance Department of the Company from 1998 to 2000, the
head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2000 to 2001, the deputy chief
accountant and the head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2001 to March
2009. From April 2009 onwards, he services as the chief financial officer of the Company.
Mr. Wu graduated from the Economic Management Department of Civil Aviation
University of China, specializing in planning and finance. He also graduated from Fudan
University, specializing in business administration. Mr. Wu has the qualification of post-
graduate and holds the title of Accountant.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has issued a confirmation in respect of
the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

BEEAEABARRBBEE -BXA4ER—
ANA=FMARME - —NLNALEtFWUAZE
— AN ET+AAFEBEIMERMDAER
NEMB IR IERMTRELE: — N
AMNE+AEZZETE=FRAFE) llﬁ
BETIRERANEBEE MBI LE
1#%%':':]4:\&”?!%;7?1 E/\ﬁ:l:
TERF T _AARBERFEEHEES
ﬁ@ CIEIECE A —TA£¢+:H§:
T+ F=-AFEFRREBEIME NETE
AE%IE —EELF= ﬂi_TTti
+_ﬂffc§)§ﬁﬁ7“ﬁﬁﬁ A M -

2R T F+ =A== :$7ﬂ¢£
)E]EEP.ﬁﬁﬂ)‘L ERMDBERAF(HR KRR
RS 1056) B TIEAD RIS TR SR 4818 -

/

El

B

EZBEXR —TETAFHEAE-_ZTT A
FH+_AFERRIEZEZ D RAH
K E‘EKEEI”%HE —ETHAF+ A=
TRBIEZ® —E-ZEF_ARAER
A) 2l 4R AR o %%i%%ﬁﬁam RPN
AREER/EMEEX T -FESF WL
KEEEBEMBAR  — T N\ FEEE
ERNBEEZFTEMBAZAL o

BEREEREANGEARR AN IFEE -
BEER—NERFEFMAZEMZEEARR
BSRE —NLMENEE-NANNL—FERE
FETHRERERSBBR BBR —N
N—FZ2-—NWN=FFLEBMERENK
PREZBERBRE —NWNL=FZ—n1
WNEETLEE2B(EE)ER ARG L
EEA RS BHAAKE —7171
NFE_ZTZTFELEHERER(EE)
ERAABAE HRHBERAAEFRR
%@é@?:%%;?ﬁi:ggﬁﬁzﬂﬁ
NABEE - BEE— N NANEEER
EPE'KI/T\ Bk - EINEEE TS
BESREEA = RS TERDEE -

RXREEBARABRAECHBHAE - R 5T
ER-—ANEOENARME — L NL=F
E-NNAEFEFBRRITIMER R M BRE
BERE — QW hWtEFE-AANFELAR

AUBRAER Bk —hAANEZEZE
TZEEARAMEAMBREEE —TTF
FE_ZT-FERMEENBH AT &
— 2T ¢K_TTH¢_HE$ﬁ%I
BliagstmrMBEHRalEx —TThFH
AREEARR A M B AE - k%i%%ﬂ¢
BRMASEERSUEXNEBERET
BHERBIEX HEABELILHRELZENMSF
i B 78

R EWRAEGE BYFATEERD
RIBE LR RNEBIEAH A BB LIENR
EHABRBH - RNAARBR/EZBILIIERT
EEHEAHIIE-



Name Date of Appointment/Termination Approval Organization Position
#& RERS REBN R B %
Termination
B £
Li Fenghua 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director
FEE —ETNF-RZ=H —EENFE-RBEERRRE B
Cao Jianxiong 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director
B —EZNF-_A=H ZETNFE-RABRBERRERE BF
Wang Taoying 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the fifth meetings ~ Employee representative
Tk —EFENF=ZA=+H of the fourth session of the employee’s supervisor
representatives conference B TE=
ENEEFRAABRE-_ZZENF
F-RERBESE
Yang Jie 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the Employee representative
152 —EZANFE=A=+~H fifth meetings of the fourth session of the supervisor
employee’s representatives conference B TE =
FMEFAABRKRE _ZTTNF
E-REARBREEZR
Luo Weide 31 March 2009 the 23rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board Chief Financial Officer
EERE T NF=A=+—H FHEEEFEBRGH M EE
Hu Honggao 19 March 2010 the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board Independent non-executive
[N S] —E—ZXF=RA+ANAB FLESEEEERRGHE director
BYFHITES
Zhou Ruijin 19 March 2010 the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board Independent non-executive
Bk —ET—ZTF=R+ANAH FLESEEEERRGHE director
BYFHITES
Appointment
EF
Liu Shaoyong 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director
2AE —ZETRE_A=H —ERNEE-ARABERERE BF
the 20th meeting of the fifth session of the Board Chairman
FLESEEERENRGHE BEER
Ma Xulun 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director
HAEMR —ZEENF-A=H —TTNFE-RERRRAG B=x
Yan Taisheng 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the Employee representative
R B —EENF=A=-+/NH fifth meetings of the fourth session of the supervisor
employee's representatives conference B Te=s

Feng Jinxiong

%5 1

Wu Yongliang
RKR
Zhao Jinyu
HE K
Tang Bing

E &

\Wu Xiaogen
REEIR

Ji Weidong
EHR

26 March 2009

—ZETNAFE=RA=+"H

31 March 2009

—_EEAF=ZA=+—H

23 December 2009

—EENEFE+ZA=Z+=H

1 February 2010
—Z-TF_HF—H
19 March 2010
—T—TF=A+ 1A

19 March 2010
—E—ZFTFE=ZA+A1H

FEMEEAABAE _ZTAF
E-—RERBEEE
the 2009 first group meetings of the
fifth meetings of the fourth session of the
employee’s representatives conference
FNEFARBRE-_ZZTAF
E-—RERBFEEE
the 23rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board
FHEEFETEBRGH
the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board
FHEBEEFGEERAG:
the 35th meeting of the fifth session of the Board
FHLEEEFTEBRGH
the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010
R TEE-RABEBERERE

the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010
—E-THFEE-RBEERRAEG

Employee representative
supervisor

BIES

Chief Financial Officer

B 7% 48 B2

Vice President

Bl 48 4 38

Vice President

Bl s

Independent non-executive
director

BIEBITES

Independent non-executive
director

BYFATES

PERSMERNBRAF



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors, chief executive,
Supervisors or members of the Company’s senior management and their respective
associates had any other interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and/
or debentures (as the case may be) of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions
of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short position which
any of such Directors, chief executive, Supervisors or members of the Company’s senior
management and their respective associates were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) and as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which was otherwise required to be notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (which shall be deemed to apply to the Supervisors to
the same extent as it applied to the Directors).

In 2009 and as at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors, chief executive, Supervisors,
senior management of the Company and/or any of their spouses or children under the
age of eighteen were granted any right, and the Company had not made any arrangement
enabling any of them, to subscribe for share capital or debt securities of the Company.

No Director or Supervisor has entered into any service contract with the Company which
is not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

None of the Directors or Supervisors had a material interest directly or indirectly in any
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year (the term ‘contract of significance” having the meaning ascribed thereto
in paragraph 15 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules).

Details of the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had 45,938 employees, a majority of whom worked
in the PRC. Employee compensation is primarily composed of basic salary and
performance-based bonus.
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The majority of the Group's PRC employees participate in the medical insurance schemes
organised by the municipal governments, under which the Group and its employees are
required to contribute to the scheme approximately 12% and 2%, respectively, of the
employee’s basic salaries. For those employees who participate in these schemes, the
Group has no other obligation for the payment of medical expense beyond the annual
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group's medical insurance
contributions charged to the income statement amounted to RMB132 million (2008:
RMB93 million).

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2009 are set out in note 32 to the financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS.

Interest capitalized by the Group as calculated in accordance with IFRS for the year
ended 31 December 2009 was RMB223 million.

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the
year are summarized in note 19 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS.

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2009 and profit appropriation by the Company are set out in note 41 to the
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Details in relation to the statutory common welfare fund, such as the nature and
application of and movements in the fund, and the basis of its calculation, including the
percentage used for calculating the amounts, are set out in note 41 to the financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

During the year, the Group did not make any donation for charitable purposes.

Details of the Company's employee retirement scheme and post retirement benefits are
set out in note 36 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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As at 31 December 2009, the cost of aircraft and related materials from the Group's
largest and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 8% and 27%, respectively,
of the total purchases of the Group. The sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 10.02% of the Group's total sales in 2009.

None of the Directors, Supervisors or any of their respective associates nor any
shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Directors, hold 5% or more of the Company's
share capital has any interest in any of the above mentioned suppliers and customers.

An extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 3 February 2009 at the
Meeting Centre, Shanghai Home You Hotel, 2550 Honggiao Road, Shanghai. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 3 February 2009.

An extraordinary general meeting, an H share class meeting and an A share class
meeting of the Company were held on 26 February 2009 at the Meeting Centre, Shanghai
International Hotel /& EFR #1528, 2550 Honggiao Road, Shanghai. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 February 2009.

An annual general meeting of the Company was held on 13 June 2009 at the Meeting
Centre, Shanghai International Hotel /& BB #4152 8, 2550 Honggiao Road,
Shanghai. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 13 June 2009.

An extraordinary general meeting, an H share class meeting and an A share class
meeting of the Company were held on 7 September 2009 at the Meeting Centre,
Shanghai International Hotel _I-)%& B[ #4355 £8, 2550 Honggiao Road, Shanghai. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7 September 2009.

An extraordinary general meeting, an H share class meeting and an A share class
meeting of the Company were held on 9 October 2009 at the Meeting Centre, Shanghai
International Hotel _;& RS #4352 8, 2550 Honggiao Road, Shanghai. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 9 October 2009.
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Session of Meeting
EFRER

Date of Meeting Announced Resolutions
AMABH ERERE

Unannounced Resolutions
RDOERZE

The 19th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
ERNEEEEFVALERGH

The 20th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FERIEEFGFNRERSRE

13 January 2009
—ETHEF
—At=n

3 February 2009
—ETNF
—A=H February 2009.
HEREAARQAIBAA
—EZNF-_A=HB/

o

B
If 4

The 1st regular meeting of the Board in 2009 3 February 2009

EEe _TENAFERIRNE

The 21st ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FLEEEFSTFENRLERES

—TENF
—HA=H
9 February 2009 For details, please refer to the
—ZTETANEF Company’s announcement dated 9
—RAhH February 2009.
HEBAAQABHA
—ZETAE-_ANBH
N

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 3

1. Agreed that the Company, CEA Holding
and Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited,
entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which CEA Holding (as the principal)
and Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited
(as the trustee) provided the Company with
a loan of RMB5.55 billion for a period of six
months, with an interest rate that it is 10% lower
than the benchmark rate offered by commercial
banks for the same period as required by the
State (For details of the transaction, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 15
January 2009.); 2. Agreed to the transfer of 35%
of shares of Joy Air Company Limited to China
Aviation Industry Corporation. The Company
owns 5% of shares of Joy Air Company Limited
upon completion of the transfer; 3. Agreed to
the restructuring of the Yunnan Branch into a
subsidiary.
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1. The financial budget report of the Company
for 2009 was considered and passed; 2. Agreed
to the adjustment of the Company's fixed asset
accounting model under IFRS: Fixed Asset
accounted for by using revaluation model is
adjusted to be accounted for by cost model;
3. The investment plan of the Company for
2009 was considered and passed; 4.Report of
President for 2008 and the working plan for 2009
was considered and passed.
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Session of Meeting Date of Meeting  Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

gERER AHEBEH ENERE RAERE

The 22nd ordinary meeting of the fifth 30 March 2009 1. The resolution on the construction of
session of the Board —ETNF complementary facilities at the CEA base (western

EREEFGERLRERER =A=+AH district) in the extension of Shanghai Honggiao

The 23rd ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FIEEFEERBRLEAGH

The 2nd regular meeting of the Board in 2009

Exe T AFEF2RAS

The 24th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FENEEEGEUREBREHR

The 3rd regular meeting of the Board in 2009

Exe _TTNAFERIRGE

The 25th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FIEEFEEEHLRALEER

The 26th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FIEEEGEBREBSH

The 27th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FLEEEGEUREBREH

31 March 2009
—EETNF
=A=+—8H

15 April 2009
—ZETNEF
MA+EH

15 April 2009
—EENF
WA+HAH

28 April 2009
—ETNF
mA=-+/\H

31 May 2009
—ZTTNF
AA=+—H

13 June 2009
—EENF
~NA+=H

10 July 2009
—EENF
+A+H

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated
31 March 2009.
HEBRAARBEA
—EThFE=ZA=1+—H

YN

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated
15 April 2009.
HBRERARABHA
—ZETAFMATRAN
YN

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated
15 April 2009.
HEBERARRBER
—ZETAFEMA+RAN
NI

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated
28 April 2009.
HEARARARIBSER
—ZETAFMWMA=-+NHR

B RE -

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated
31 May 2009.
HBREREARABHA
—EThFRA=1T—H

O/NCI

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated
10 July 2009.
HEAEAARRBER
—EENFEATHY

N

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

Airport was considered and passed; 2. The
“Working Rules of Presidents of China Eastern
Airlines Corporation Limited” was considered and
passed.

T EEABRAN LIRS EET
BREmES(ARIEEEEZXNR
R FEana(PERIMERNE
NGB TIERZE) -

Agreed in principle to the establishment of the
Company’s Corporate Management Department
and Legal Affairs Department.

RAAZHZRARBEEELNER

%

Agreed in principle to the investment in the
enhancement project of the Company’s route
network. The scale of the project investment
is approximately RMB30 million and the
management of the Company is authorized for its
specific implementation.
REAIREREARAIMAREKE(IER -
BEERERKREB/ARBIEL A
EREMREAFIEEREAE -



Session of Meeting
EBER

Date of Meeting  Announced Resolutions

Unannounced Resolutions

RAERE

The 28th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FHEEFEEBRLERGH

The 29th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FhAEEFEFIREREH

The 30th ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
ENEEEEEIRNEBGE

The 4th regular meeting of the Board in 2009
BExe TR AFEFIRME

The 31st ordinary meeting of the fifth
session of the Board
FIEEFEENRLRGH

The 5th regular meeting of the Board in 2009 27 October 2009

Exe _TTNFEFIRHE

EHBH B2 RERE
15 July 2009
—ZThEF
+A+HA
28 July 2009
—ZENEF
A=+ NH
10 August 2009 For details, please refer to the
—EENF Company's announcement dated
JANA+H 10 August 2009.
HEBARAQABHA
—EZAFNATHY
N
10 August 2009 For details, please refer to the
—EENEF Company's announcement dated
NA+H 10 August 2009.
EXE- B0 WG =R b
—ETAFNATHX
N
18 September 2009
—ZEThEF
NA+NH

—ZTTNEF
+ A —++ B 27 October 2009.
HEBEAALQRBHA

TN F+A=-+tH

O/NC

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated

1. Agreed to the abandonment of the Company’s
Taiwan office and authorized any of the directors
of the Company to sign the relevant necessary
authorization documents; 2. Agreed to the
establishment of Taiwan branch and authorized
any of the directors of the Company to sign the
relevant necessary authorization documents
pursuant to relevant Taiwan laws.

T EEARAAELAEEFER:
WHEEARIE—EEHFEH 2 HED
VEEEXH 2 - RERARBRILA
EwRO AR URBERARE—FS
BEAEEBEZENERFEE 2
B RS

Agreed to the Company's application to purchase
RMB foreign exchange to pay for the settlement
losses of the fuel hedging contract.
AEARABEFEARBHBEXNMBE
HREANRIERX-

Agreed to the Company's participation in the
listing (auction or tender) of the right to use the
state-owned construction land of Warehousing
(Logistics) Industrial Project in Houshayu Town,
Shunyi District in accordance to the applicable
laws & procedures.
AEARRBEZRAEREERFZ
HIEEREDPIBEFMWR) TXIERB
REEEL A ERAERRME
BER)ER -

1. Agreed to the Company’s establishment of
a wholly-invested company, = fii ¥ 17 &
%% e A 12 3l A R 2 Al (Eastern Airlines
Technology Research and Development Applied
Training Ltd.) (provisional name), in Qingpu
Export Processing Zone and to purchase, in the
name of that company, 392 mu of land in Qingpu
Export Processing Zone and authorized the
President for specific implementation; 2. agreed
in principle to the establishment of Sichuan
branch and authorized the President for specific
implementation.

T REAAETSBREAONIREAZE
& & B S B M B i AR B R R R I B IR
ARA(EER) WAZARZEBE
WL O NI E AL H32m: A
ERRERKEET 2 REIRZK
VO AR ARERKEAKE

=
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Session of Meeting Date of Meeting  Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

ERER EHBH ERERE RDNERER

The 32nd ordinary meeting of the fifth 9 December 2009 1. The resolution on the determination of
session of the Board —ETNF number and price of the non-public issue

EHEEEEENREBRGE +=ZAhA to specific subscribers was considered and

passed, determining the number of A shares
of non-public issue as 1,350,000,000 shares at
an issue price of $4.75 per shares. Of which,
490,000,000 shares were issued to CEA Holding
and 860,000,000 shares were issued to other
specific investars. The particular number of
shares issued to each specific investor is
based on the bid price, number of subscription
and business cooperation relationship; 2. The
resolution on the determination of number and
price of the additional H shares placement to
specific subscribers was considered and passed.
After negotiation with CES Global, the number of
additional H shares placement was determined
to be 490,000,000 shares at an issue price of
HK$1.56 per share. (For details of the transaction,
please refer to the Company's announcements
dated 10 July 2009 and 23 December 2009 and
its circular dated 24 July 2009.)
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The 33rd ordinary meeting of the fifth 23 December 2009 For details, please refer to the 1. The resolution on disposal of nine MD90
session of the Board —EENF Company's announcement dated aircrafts and related flight equipments was
FIEEECERAERD S +=A 23 December 2009. considered and passed and authorized the
=-F-=H HEBAAARBSHA President for specific implementation; 2. Agreed
—_ZEZENF+HA to the Company's application to purchase foreign
Z+=HHRE- exchange to pay for the settlement losses for the
period of January to June 2010 (if any) of fuel
hedging contract and authorized the President
for specific implementation; 3. The resolution
on the swap of flight simulators of Shanghai
Eastern Flight Training Co., Ltd was considered
and passed, it was agreed to swap one B787
simulator (purchased but not yet delivered)
and one existing A300 simulator to one brand
new A320 simulator and one brand new A330
simulator.
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Transactions between the Company and its connected persons or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) are governed by and have to comply with the
requirements for disclosure under the Listing Rules.

On 10 December 2008, CEA Holding entered into an A share subscription agreement (the
“Original A Share Subscription Agreement”) with the Company to subscribe for new A
shares to be issued by the Company. Simultaneously with the entering into of the
Original A Share Subscription Agreement, CES Global entered into an H share
subscription agreement with the Company (the “Original H Share Subscription
Agreement”) to subscribe for new H shares to be issued by the Company. Subsequently,
the parties made adjustments to certain terms of the Original A Share Subscription
Agreement and the Original H Share Subscription Agreement; and on 29 December 2008,
(a) CEA Holding entered into a revised A share subscription agreement with the Company
to subscribe in cash for 1,437,375,000 new A shares in the Company at the subscription
price of RMB3.87 per share with a total subscription price of RMB5,562,641,250; and (b)
CES Global entered into a revised H share subscription agreement with the Company to
subscribe in cash for 1,437,375,000 new H shares in the Company at the subscription
price of RMB1.00 per share with a total subscription price of RMB1,437,375,000,
respectively. The Original A Share Subscription Agreement and the Original H Share
Subscription Agreement were cancelled accordingly. As CEA Holding holds approximately
59.67% of the then issued share capital of the Company, the transaction entered into
between the Company and CEA Holding constituted a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. As CES Global is an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary
of CEA Holding, the transaction entered into between the Company and CES Global
constituted a connected transaction of the Company. The Revised A Share Subscription
Agreement and the Revised H Share Subscription Agreement have been approved by
relevant regulatory bodies, and the change in the Company's share capital has been
completed.

On 10 July 2009, CEA Holding entered into a subscription agreement with the Company,
pursuant to which, CEA Holding will, at the subscription price of not less than RMB4.75
per A share, subscribe in cash for not more than 490,000,000 new A shares. Since CEA
Holding directly held approximately 56.08% of the then issued share capital of the
Company, and hence a connected person of the Company, the subscription agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. CES Global entered into another
subscription agreement with the Company on the same day, pursuant to which, CES
Global will, at the subscription price of not less than HK$1.40 per H share, subscribe in
cash for not more than 490,000,000 new H shares. Since CES Global is a substantial
shareholder of the Company and an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of CEA Holding,
and hence a connected person of the Company, this subscription agreement also
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. The above transactions were
completed on 23 December 2009.
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Pursuant to the framework renewal agreements governing continuing connected BEARCEHEANSELBETHESR
transactions related to daily operations, which was considered and approved by the TR H(EARAR _EENFNA =T
Board in its third regular meeting 2008 held on 29 April 2008, considered and approved RESg ST \FEEIRMGEEIE -
by the shareholders’ meeting held on 30 June 2008, and considered and approved by the K-_EENFEFNA=ZTHEHBRRERASEZD
Board in its fifth regular meeting 2008 held on 28 October 2008, and the new framework BLEE _TEENFT+A-_FTNANHARAE
agreement governing report import and export agency services, which was considered EE_TTENFESEIRMEEHIE) N
and approved by the Board in its second regular meeting 2009 held on 15 April 2009, the RHELORBERBERGZ (K X
Company revised the estimated caps for transactions for 2009 and 2010. The following NFOATHBEBERAARAESEGE_ZEZT
table sets out the annual caps for the continuing connected transactions between the NEEF2ReEEBR) ARAH T
Group and members of CEA Holding for 2009: ZNFNM_TE—ZTFNRSGLERBMTEN
B TRABAAEEERMERS T
KERAMBEBEIZITTH TN
FEREBRERSRE:
Annual caps for
continuing connected
transactions Transaction
Conducted in 2009
—EZhEE
Transactions X5 BEBEXSRE
(RMB'000)
(AR® )
1. Property Leasing MEMRE 60 million 6,000 &
2. Financial Services (outstanding deposits) SRS (FRerEE) 2,500 million 5%
3. Import and Export Agency Services (Note) FEEORERS(FE) 60 million 6,000 &
4. Maintenance Services AR 18 million 1,800 2
5. Catering Services 2 B it E RS 540.39 million 54,0398
6.  Sales Agency Services HWEHERERD 17.15 million 1,7158
7. Advertising Agency Services BEERERS 23.50 million 23508
8. Automobile Repairing Services HEEIE R G 35 million 3500 %
Note: The annual cap for the Agency Services provided by B8 75 #5210 5 R 2~ & (Fastern TR (E_TLE\FT_A=+—HIFE &H
Aviation Import & Export Company) (“Import & Export Company”) for the year ended 31 Mg ORE] ([RAELHORR]) RH#R
December 2008 was set at RMB42.70 million. However, as at 31 December 2008, the BIRBHIERE FRERBARK4270F 7T SA0M -
aggregated commissions and expenses payable by the Company to Import & Export Company BE_FEN\F+-_A=1+—H XrFA=F
for its provision of such services for the year 2008 was approximately RMB47.26 million, F\FREHRAEL O R AR FIREX
exceeding the 2008 annual cap the Company has previously anticipated. It is expected that 1Tay 12 R FISCAB AR AT EA R 4726 BT E
the annual caps for 2009 and 2010 for the aggregate commissions and expenses payable by BHARAREEA N —FENFFRER -
the Company to Import & Export Company as previously anticipated will also increase to R AR FRERAG —EENFR—F—F
RMBG60.00 million and RMB69.50 million respectively. For details, please refer to the 4 JE [ A (11 O 2 RIS 108 R [ 5 AR AR Y
Company's announcement dated 15 April 2009, FEER - 55 EEMEA R 6000 & T
RAEB 6950 BT ° FlFig R ARG = FF
NFEA+HAMRE °
Details of the Group’s continuing connected transactions with the Company’s connected AEBHBHE-_ZZNFE+_A=+—RH1E
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2009 are FE - SBARNANBEAL(EER LTR
set out in note 45 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. ANET 2 REBERZFEHIN N ERERE
B 75 3R 5 AE R AR B ) B S SR R A R4S o
For further details regarding the above continuing connected transactions, please refer FHA LR FHBERAERSGFHBHIN AR
to the Company's 2008 annual report and the announcement of the Company dated 15 AIZEENFFERSEBHRAEA=ZTTA
April 2009. EMA+HEAMAL -
The Company's independent non-executive Directors have reviewed such continuing ARABZBULFEPTESEERBEZ
connected transactions during the year 2009 and confirmed that: TNFREFEBERS  UHER
{a)  the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual @ ZEXHIEAEEE-—REFEBRS
course of its business; AR
(b)  the transactions have been entered into either (i) on normal commercial terms (by ) ZEXZNUII—REBERZ2ZES
reference to transactions of a similar nature made by similar entities within China) EfEEMETEERUNRS) L)
or (ii) (where there is no available comparison) on terms that are fair and (EEAENLERBERT)RAR AR
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned; and RMERATREENERET R
(c) the transactions have been entered into either (i) in accordance with the terms of ) ZEXRGHUNBEREBEEZXZINEH
the agreement governing each such connected transaction or (ii) (where there is WEGERENELBERBEOBRLT)
no such agreement) on terms no less favorable than terms available to third AR T BERME=ERHENERET

parties.
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the auditors of the Company have
performed certain agreed upon procedures on the above connected transactions
disclosed herein for the year ended 31 December 2009 in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Related Services 4400 "Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon
Procedures Regarding Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and reported that the aforesaid connected transactions
have been:

(1) approved by the Board;

(2)  entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions; and

(3)  within the relevant caps disclosed in previous announcements.

In respect of each continuing connected transaction disclosed in note 45 to the financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Company confirms that it has complied
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the other related party transactions entered by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2009 are set out in note 45 to the financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS. These transactions do not constitute connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.

In relation to future deliveries of aircraft, as at 31 December 2009, the following are
details of aircrafts on order which are scheduled to be delivered:

f& £ TR BI14A 38K E sk - KR B A AZ AT
EREEESAMAEEMNE S HER
TAER FEA005E [V B EBRTHERF
NERAZ] 8= NF+ =R =
WL*Eiiﬁmﬁ’ﬁkﬁé%ﬂﬁg$%p§ﬁ
Frive FilEXSmENT

) KhHEEGHE:

(2) JHETF%E%TE LR 5 EE W EER
TR

(3) WEBELAASMEENLR-

REEHERZRBEBRVBEREENRED

ﬁﬁ*a&&i’%uﬂﬂfsﬂ’]?ﬂifﬁkx% ZAN/NISI R

REBTFTLETMHRAUTHEBAAT -

AEBEBE _ZTTEAFT-_A=+—H
ﬁifgﬁﬁ%_ MEMBEBEALRS ZF
%ﬁ’ﬂJiﬁ"&Iﬁ’ MBEmERENREN TG
#Fii’%}%i% W ER S A BN £ R AR
E2BRERS -

AR RNENRE R _FFAF+ =
A=+—B ARAARKRNENREFS
LU

Type of aircraft Number of aircraft Year of delivery
R R A TEFH
A320 14 2010
B737-700 4 2010
B737-800 2 2010
A320 " 2011
A330 3 2011
B737-700 1 2011
B737-800 1 2011
A320 12 2012
A330 3 2012
B737-700 2 2012
B737-800 1 2012
A320 7 2013
A330 6 2013
B737-700 3 2013
B737-800 4 2013
A330 4 2014
B737-700 5 2014
B737-800 4 2014
B737-700 4 2015
B737-800 5 2015
As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any aircraft which is subject HEAFERENBH BAQREEM
to options exercisable during a period of not less than 12 months from 31 December M EZEZENF+RA=+—H®%&TD
2009. RTZEAMEBEA ARRRAEA TIT

Details of the Group's staff housing benefits are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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The family members of certain victims in the aircraft accident (the aircraft was then
owned and operated by China Eastern Air Yunnan Company), which occurred in Baotou
on 21 November 2004, sued the Company in a U.S. court for compensation. After the
case entered the procedures on appeal, the California Court of Appeal, dismissed the
appeal of the plaintiff and affirmed the original order. Subsequent to that, on 16 March
2009, the plaintiff sued the Company in the Beijing No. 2 Intermediate People’s Court. On
18 August 2009, Beijing No. 2 Intermediate People's Court accepted the case. Legal
documents including summons, prosecution notifications and others have been served
on the Company. Trial is yet to begin. The management of the Group believes that any
outcome for this case will not have an adverse effect on the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company. The Group intends to provide regular updates to
the shareholders regarding the progress of the litigation. As at 31 December 2009, the
Group was not involved in any other litigation, arbitration or claim of material
importance.

1. On 15 January 2009, CEA Holding (as the principal), B2 E B 78 AR & (£
7~ 8] (Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited) (the “Finance Company”) (as
the trustee) and the Company (as the borrower) entered into an entrusted loan
agreement in Shanghai, pursuant to which the Company would obtain a short term
loan of RMB5.55 billion from CEA Holding through the Finance Company. CEA
Holding, holding 59.67% of the Company's entire share capital prior to the
issuance of A shares and H shares of the Company as referred to in the above
paragraph, is the controlling shareholder and a connected person of the Company.
Since CEA Holding is also the controlling shareholder of the Finance Company, the
Finance Company is a connected person of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing
Rules of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, this transaction constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company. This transaction has been considered by the 19th
ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board and has been unanimously
approved by all of the independent directors of the Company by means of written
consent. The connected directors of the Company abstained from voting. Details
are set out in the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 15
January 2009.

2. At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 26 February 2009,
the proposal of certain amendments to the articles of association of the Company,
in connection with the means of receipt of corporate communication, was passed
with immediate effect. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company issued in Hong Kong dated 8 January 2009 and 26 February 2009 and
the circular dated 8 January 2009.

3. On 30 April 2009, the Company entered into the Aircraft Sale and Purchase
Agreements and the Aircraft Lease Agreements with 358 & RIFHEH R A A)
(Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.) in connection with two
Airbus A340 series aircraft, pursuant to which, the Company will sell and lease
back the two Airbus A340 series aircraft. Details are set out in the announcement
of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 30 April 2009.

4. 0On 15 June 2009, the Company entered into the aircraft purchase agreement with
Airbus SAS in Shanghai, regarding the purchase of twenty Airbus A320 series
aircraft (with engines). Details are set out in the announcement of the Company
issued in Hong Kong dated 17 June 2009 and the circular issued in Hong Kong
dated 25 August 2009.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

BHPERTERIMEEFAA_ZE
ME+—A-+ - BHELEBENEZHN
BHERBEXBARREEFRBRAARA
SKEWEBR MM EFIER —FFORME R —
ERE@MBREER R_ZZEAF=A+
NECAERE - P RARERERFR
“EZAFNAATNABR AR _FRRER
URFE - WMBRABRXETEFRMAE
HMFAEFHEMERXMF-BUAERHARER

FEEE AEENEEERS ZFRE
ERIEAEHARBANTBERNREEE
BERTNZE - AEEEE SR BRRE
EARZRERNEM -BL-_FTNF
TZAZ+—BA  AEERPREMEAM
EARWESFL  MEKERF-

1 RZZEZThF—A+HEBE - EMEER
(BRZsF) EMEEUHKARE
Fral((FB AR EAERXFTH) &
ARIERBERA)ELBEIEZRE
R Bl ARRUYHERARES
HEMEERENEHEREFHE
TARE - BAREMEBRFEERRQA
TE [A] 3% % (R A B ) A 48 AR 7N #959.67% -
e N/NICTR: Rl R N R N
RAMEZERBEETAEMER At
EARAAMNEBA-BELELEFELER
SKRELTRADORE  ZRAKX S
BT RAANBEIS - AARSH
BERKARAERAEESZSFINY
BEREZ ESUBEAIN EFX
RAB 2RBUYESHREZRXTE
RpZ - BABHESERTRR FEHE
2B AR EESTNENBHR A -
ZAF—A+REBNRAE-

2. ARARZZEZNF-_A=-+BHE
THREFNAE L@RAMAAEA

WERAXAME QAR EZERPE TIERET
EHMABEET LB AR F153
S2HEARBEEAHNEBENRHA ST
ZNF—ANBUARZ-ZZTEZTNF_A
T AHRAEAR T AE— AN
A # i8 K o

3. RIETZAFMA=+RH  ARAH
R SREEAR QA2 = FAM0
R DI R 2 AT TCOR M B B 1 3R
B S ) B &I m 228 2= FA340
RIIME FEFLHAARAETE
HENRMR - TTEAFOA=1TH

/N

4 R-_TTNFRA+AR NAAH
ZEREERAELBREIREEE %
&) B E 2058 7= FA320 3 7 R M O 3
P HBFEL2HEARBEETE T
WEBHAE-—ZZTAFAAATLANR
EARBEHRA_ZEZTAFNA-TT
B A58 K o



The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong has been changed
from 5th Floor, McDonald's Building, 48 Yee Wo Street, Hong Kong to Unit B, 31/F,
United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong. Details are set out in the
announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 3 July 2009.

On 10 July 2009, the Board resolved, among others, to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and the respective class meetings for the grant of specific
mandates to the Board (i) to issue not more than 1,350,000,000 new A shares of
the Company to not more than 10 specific investors (subject to the maximum
number of specific investors as permitted by PRC laws and regulations at the time
of the issuance) including CEA Holding, at an issue price of not less than RMB4.75
per A share of the Company (“A Share Specific Mandate"); and (ii) to issue not
more than 490,000,000 new H shares of the Company to CES Global, at an issue
price of not less than HK$1.4 per H share (“H Share Specific Mandate”).

In relation to and as part of the transactions contemplated under the A Share
Specific Mandate, on 10 July 2009, CEA Holding entered into the A Share
Subscription Agreement with the Company, pursuant to which, CEA Holding
agreed to subscribe for, and the Company agreed to issue, not more than
490,000,000 new A shares of the Company at the subscription price of not less
than RMBA4.75 per A share.

In relation to and as part of the transactions contemplated under the H Share
Specific Mandate, on 10 July 2009, CES Global entered into the H Share
Subscription Agreement with the Company, pursuant to which CES Global agreed
to subscribe for, and the Company agreed to issue, not more than 490,000,000
new H shares of the Company at the subscription price of not less than HK$1.40
per H share.

The aforesaid transactions were completed on 23 December 2009. Details are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 10 July 2009 and 23 December
2009 and its circular dated 24 July 2009.

On 10 July 2009, the Company entered into an absorption agreement with /%
M Z=f% {5 A PR 22 7] (Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd) (“Shanghai Airlines”) in relation
to the absorption of Shanghai Airlines by way of the issuance of new A shares of
the Company in exchange for the existing issued shares of Shanghai Airlines on
the basis of 1.3 A shares of the Company for every existing issued share of
Shanghai Airlines. The exchange of A shares were completed on 28 January 2010.
As of 28 January 2010, the identifiable net liabilities of Shanghai Airlines acquired
by the Company had a book value of approximately RMB765 million and a fair
value of approximately RMB2,055 million. Details are set out in the
announcements of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 10 July 2009, 10
August 2009, 10 September 2009, 9 October 2009, 7 January 2010, 11 January
2010, 13 January 2010, 18 January 2010, 26 January 2010, 28 January 2010 and
the circular of the Company dated 25 August 2009.
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8. At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 7 September 2009,
the Board was authorized by the shareholders to make appropriate and necessary
amendments to the articles of association at the Company as they think fit to
reflect such increases in the registered capital and change of shareholding of the
Company as a result of the issuances referred to in item 6 above. With completion
of the issuances on 10 December 2009 and 23 December 2009, respectively, the
Board resolved on 23 December 2009 that with immediate effect, certain
amendments, in connection with the completion of the issuance, were made to
the articles of association of the Company to reflect the completion of the
issuance. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company issued in
Hong Kong dated 23 December 2009.

9. At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 9 October 2009, the
Board was authorized by the shareholders to make such appropriate and
necessary amendments to the Articles of Association as they think fit to reflect
such increases in the registered capital and change of shareholding of the
Company as a result of the completion of the exchange of A shares referred to in
item 7 above. With completion of the exchange of A shares on 28 January 2010
and the listing of the issued A shares of the Company as a result of the exchange
commencing on 2 February 2010, the corresponding amendments made to certain
articles of association of the Company as a result of the completion of the
absorption became effective on 2 February 2010. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 2 February 2010.

10.  On 28 December 2009, the Company entered into an aircraft purchase agreement
with Airbus SAS regarding the purchase of sixteen Airbus A330 series aircraft
(with engines) in Shanghai. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company issued in Hong Kong dated 28 December 2009 and the circular dated 26
March 2010.

11. On 24 March 2010, the Company and B 5z AR A @ (Eastern
Aviation Advertising Co, Ltd) (the “Advertising Company”) entered into an
agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to grant the Advertising
Company exclusive rights to operate the media resources of the Company. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong
dated 24 March 2010

Independent Directors of the Company have performed auditing work and issued an
independent opinion on the guarantees the Company has provided, as required by the
relevant requirements of the CSRC. The Company has strictly observed relevant laws and
regulations as well as its articles of association while it has also imposed strict control
on the guarantees provided. As at 31 December 2009, none of the Company and its
subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements has provided any
guarantee to the Company's controlling shareholder and other related parties, other non-
legal person entity units and individuals.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong and BEERKBEHMEHMEEHESTE
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company (registered accountants in REZEXEPRGHMEBEMER QA (R
the PRC) were the Company’s international and domestic auditors in 2009, respectively. e ol ARRR Z_TTENFE

B B K B A A o

On behalf of the Board EETEgRER

Liu Shaoyong 2ARBE

Chairman EFER

Shanghai, the PRC hE e

19 April 2010 —E—THEmMA+AA
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The Company has established a formal and appropriate corporate governance structure.
The Company has also placed emphasis on the corporate governance principle of having
transparency, accountability and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders.

The Directors believe that sound corporate governance is essential to the development
of the Company’s operations. The Board regularly reviews our corporate governance
practices to ensure that the Company operates in accordance with the laws, regulations
and requirements of the listing jurisdictions, and that the Company continuously
implements corporate governance of a high quality.

The Company’s corporate governance practices include but are not limited to the
following:

Articles of association, rules of meeting of general meetings, rules of meeting of the
Board, rules of meeting of the Supervisory Committee, working regulations of
independent directors, constitutional documents of the audit and risk management
committee, constitutional documents of the planning and development committee,
working rules of the nomination and remuneration committee, working rules of the
aviation safety and environment committee, working regulations of presidents,
management regulations of investor relationship, investor relationship management
detailed implementation regulation, management regulations of the connected
transactions, connected transaction detailed implementation regulation, regulations on
external guarantee and the interim administrative regulations concerning hedging
businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (the “Reporting Period”) and as at the date of the
announcement of this annual report, the Board has reviewed the relevant provisions and
corporate governance practices under the codes of corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company, and took the view that the Company’s corporate governance
practices during the financial year ended 31 December 2009 met the requirements under
the code provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”). In certain aspects, the code of corporate governance
adopted by the Company is more stringent than the provisions set out in the Code. The
following sets out aspects which are more stringent than the Code.

Major aspects which are more stringent than provisions set out in the Code:

- all members of the audit and risk management are independent non-executive
directors.

- 20 meetings of the Board were held during the financial year of 2009.
- Other than the audit and risk management committee and the nomination and
remuneration committee, the Company also established two specialized

committee, namely planning and development committee and aviation safety and
environment committee.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Company is managed by the Board. The Board is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company. The Directors are jointly responsible for implementing
businesses of the Company by directing and supervising the affairs of the Company.

As at 31 December 2009, the Board consists of 10 Directors, including five independent
non-executive Directors. During the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 held on 3
February 2009, the shareholders of the Company approved Mr. Liu Shaoyong and Mr. Ma
Xulun to join the fifth session of the Board, while Mr. Li Fenghua and Mr. Cao Jianxiong
were no longer the directors of the Company. During the 2008 Annual General Meeting
held on 13 June 2009, the shareholders of the Company approved the appointment of
Mr. Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu as an independent non-executive director of the fifth session of
the Board, while Mr. Peter Lok was no longer an independent non-executive director of
the Company. During the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010 held on 19 March
2010, the shareholders approved the appointment of Mr. Wu Xiaogen and Mr. Ji
Weidong as the independent non-executive directors of the fifth session of the Board,
while Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou Ruijin were no longer the independent non-
executive directors of the Company.

All Directors shall retire in the third annual general meeting following their appointment,
but are eligible for re-election.

Names, personal particulars and effective date of appointment of the Directors are set
out in page 24 to page 35 of this report.

Independent non-executive Directors of the Company shall possess extensive skills and
experience. They shall be able to play their roles of supervising the checks and balances
to the fullest extent to protect the interests of shareholders and the Company as a
whole. The Board considers that they shall be able to exercise independent judgment
effectively, which complies with guidelines on their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received the annual
confirmation letters from each of the independent non-executive Directors on their
independence.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are appointed for a term of
3 years. The formal appointment letters and the articles of association of the Company
have set out the terms and conditions of their appointment.

Other than working relationships, Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the
Company do not have any financial, business or family connection with one another.
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On a periodic basis, the Board reviews the relevant performance against proposed
budgets and business objectives of each operating unit. It also exercises a number of
powers retained by the Board, including the following:

- responsibility for convening general meetings and reporting to shareholders on its
work;

- implementing resolutions passed in general meetings;
—  deciding on the operating plan and investment proposals of the Company;

—  formulating the annual preliminary and final budget proposals;

—  formulating the Company’s profit distribution proposal and the proposal to offset
losses;

—  formulating the Company’s proposals to increase or reduce the registered capital
and proposals to issue debt securities;

—  drawing up proposals for the Company’s merger, demerger and dissolution;
—  deciding on the Company's internal management structure;

—  employing or dismissing the Company's President and secretary to the Board;
appointment or dismissal of the Vice President and chief financial officer of the
Company on the nomination of the President, and the determination of their
remuneration;

—  formulating the management systems of the Company;
—  formulating proposals to amend the articles of association of the Company;
- discharging any other powers and functions granted in general meetings.

The Board and the relevant specialized committees are also responsible for the
completeness of financial information of the Company and are responsible for
maintaining an effective internal control system and for risk management, as well as
preparing the financial statements. Setting the business objectives and overseeing the
daily operations are the responsibilities of the chief executive officer. The Company's
articles of association specify the duties and functions of the Board and management.
The Board periodically reviews the duties and functions of the chief executive officer and
the powers delegated to him to ensure that such arrangements are appropriate.

In order to ensure the balance of powers and authorization, the roles of the Chairman
and the chief executive officer have been clearly defined. The Chairman of the Company
is Mr. Liu Shaoyong, and the chief executive officer is Mr. Ma Xulun, a Director. There
are also other senior officers who are responsible for the daily management within their
scope of duties.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Chairman leads the Board to ensure that the Board performs its various duties FTHFEEEEESTS HMREFTCEHEIARE
effectively and he is responsible for drawing up the agenda of the meeting of the Board TEZFTEHMNBRE YEEHTEES S
and considering other matters other Directors propose to be included in the agenda. The EEEMERAMESREENAZENS
agenda together with documents of the Board should be, as far as practicable, circulated Ee ZRERMBHOEZEES N XHEARE
at least 3 days prior to the meeting of the Board or its specialized committees. The CESE R ATEZESERETH
Chairman is also obliged to ensure that all the Directors are suitably briefed on matters EL=ZREM - FRNEETBRAAE
to be raised in the meeting of the Board. The Chairman ensures that the Directors ENEETER LN ETEERENG N -
receive information that is accurate, timely and clear. Through on-the-job training of ITREERSESESER KBRBEMD
Directors and continued participation in meetings of the Board and of committees of the BR-RBESEHREBENEY FELHESE
Board and interviews with key persons in headquarters and other departments, the EEhHEEXZEeR R U R ABEER
Directors are encouraged to update their skills, knowledge and their understanding of LEHMEFEAEEEH HBSEETH
the Group. FEATERM A RHEENRE -
The Company has established a special unit, i.e. the secretariat of the board, to work for RARYUTEEZGHEMNEHBRESTS
the Board. All the Directors can access the service of the company secretary. The WEE MEEZEHAZAQAMENR
company secretary periodically updates the Directors of the latest information on B ARWETHREZTNEZEHBEEAR
governance and regulation. The Directors may seek independent professional advice REEEEMNETEH EFAABTH
through the Chairman for the purpose of performing their duties, with the cost to the EMABRAERESRKBIYIEEER BAMH
Company. Specialized committees may also seek professional advice. RARAEN - BEHEEZEGNAZTREE
BER -
The company secretary is responsible for the records of the board meetings. These EEeeRAAR NS AERR LY
minutes of meetings together with other documents for the board meetings shall be FrERTRNBEBENESS E Xt
made available to all the Directors. Board meetings are meant to enable the Directors to HmmEEEeERE-Exggzxn
have open and frank discussions. B BEBBEERELAFIBHMONR -
In order to ensure sound corporate governance, as at the date of the announcement of RPERRUNGEETR BHEAFTFRLAM
this annual report, the Board had 4 committees in place: Audit and Risk Management ZBESFeEKIENEZE G B M
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Planning and Development EREEZES RELLAFHZES - HE
Committee and Aviation Safety and Environment Committee with their terms of EERZEGMELXEZEHREZES U
reference drawn up in accordance with the principles set out in the Code. The company 12 BB CSF R BT AT &9 IR BI 4l 7E FC B3k A 6 & o
secretary drafts the minutes of meetings for these committees, and the committees REIMERELZEGREGHRLHE M
report to the Board. ZEERNEEEERIE-
The Board has held 20 meetings during the Reporting Period. The following tables show EEENABREHANBRTORGH - T
the attendance rate of each Director at shareholders’ general meetings and board BERREERAREHALERRERRE -
meetings: ETgHE:
General
Board Meetings Meetings
Attendance/ Attendance/
Eligibility of Eligibility of
meetings meetings
EEg BREXSE
HERE HEXRE
Directors B2E EEHERE EHERH
Liu Shaoyong (Chairman) RBBE(EER) 19/19 4/4
Li Fenghua (Former-Chairman) TEEREEFR)
(terminated on 3 February 2009) (M—ZEZhFE_A=B%T) 0/1 01
Li Jun e 19/20 5/5
Ma Xulun 5B R 19/19 4/4
Cao Jianxiong (terminated on 3 February 2009) TR _ETNE_A=BET) 0/1 0/1
Luo Chaogeng EEIEE 20/20 5/5
Luo Zhuping EMT 20/20 5/5
Independent Non-executive Director BUERITES
Hu Honggao HES 19/20 2/5
Independent Non-executive Director BIEBMITES
Peter Lok (terminated on 13 June 2009) LEHR=_ZZANFAAT=ZA#MT 10/10 0/3
Independent Non-executive Director BUIEBITES
Wu Baiwang KRB 19/20 3/5
Independent Non-executive Director BYERITES
Zhou Ruijin Bt 20/20 4/5
Independent Non-executive Director BYEMITES
Xie Rong EES 19/20 3/5
Independent Non-executive Director BIEBMITES
Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu (appointed on 13 June 2009) B ER=ZTZNF A T=BEZF) 8/10 2/2
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All the Directors shall declare to the Board upon their first appointment their capacities
as Directors and any other positions held in other institutions, the declaration of which
shall be renewed once a year. When the Board discusses any motion or transaction and
considers any Director has any conflict of interest, the Director shall declare his interest
and abstain from voting, and will excuse himself as appropriate. The Company shall,
pursuant to the guidelines, request from Directors their confirmation if they or their
associates are connected with any transactions entered into by the Company or its
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period. Material transactions which have been
confirmed as having been entered into with any connected person have been disclosed
in‘the notes to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS of this annual
report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code of Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
securities transactions code for Directors. Each of the Directors and Supervisors of the
Company has been issued with a copy of the Model Code upon their appointment.

All the Directors and Supervisors of the Company have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code in 2009.

The Company has also adopted the related provisions set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, and has established its Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Employees of the Company according to its own situation and with reference to the
Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The aforesaid Code of
Conduct shall apply to the conduct of dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Supervisors and senior management of the Company.

In addition, pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules for Shares of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, the shares of the Company transferred by each of the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management of the Company every year are not allowed to
exceed 25% of the total number of shares held by each of them, and they are not
allowed to purchase the shares of the Company within 6 months after they have sold
their shares. They are also not allowed to sell the shares of the Company within 6
months after they have bought the shares of the Company. Additionally, within 6 months
after they have left their appointment, they are not allowed to transfer their shares of
the Company held by them.

All the employees who may have unpublished price-sensitive information related to the

Group are also required to comply with the Model Code. During the Reporting Period, the
Company is not aware of any breach of laws and regulations.

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group.

The Auditor’s report made by the Company’s auditors in respect of the financial
statements is set out on page 64 to page 65 of this annual report.
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The fourth regular meeting of the Board of the Company in 2009 was held on 10 August
2009, during which the resolution of the change of Audit Committee of the Board to
Audit and Risk Management Committee and the corresponding amendments to its
articles was approved.

As at 31 December 2009, the audit and risk management committee comprises Mr. Xie
Rong, Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou Ruijin, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Xie Rong, the chairman, possesses professional qualifications in
accounting. The first extraordinary general meeting in 2010 was held on 19 March 2010
during which Mr. Wu Xiaogen and Mr. Ji Weidong were appointed as independent non-
executive directors of the Company while Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou Ruijin are no
longer independent non-executive directors of the Company. The 36th ordinary meeting
of the fifth session of the Board of the Company was held on the same day, during which
the resolution on the appointment of members of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee was considered and passed, agreed that Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou Ruijin
ceased to be the members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, while Mr. Wu
Xiaogen and Mr. Ji Weidong were appointed to serve as the members of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, and Mr. Xie Rong still serves as the Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee, for a term expiring upon the expiry of the current
session of the Board of Directors.

Audit and Risk Management Committee is a specialized committee under the Board. It is
responsible for checking and monitoring the financial reports and internal control of the
Company, checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company, in
particular the risk management and risk control policy for material decision, significant
events and major business and overseeing their implementation.

The Board shall be responsible for the overall internal control system of the
Company/Group and periodically reviews the effectiveness of the internal control
system through the audit and risk management committee. The internal control
system is essential to risk management which, in turn, is important in ensuring
that operational objectives can be achieved. Internal control procedures are
designed to prevent assets from unauthorized use or disposal, to ensure the
maintenance of appropriate accounting records and to provide reliable financial
information either for internal use or for dissemination externally. However, the
control procedures aim at reasonably (but not absolutely) assuring that there will
not be material misrepresentation, loss or unlawful conduct. The internal control
system is prepared in accordance with the relevant laws, supplementary
regulations and constitutional documents.

The Company reviews the effectiveness of its internal control annually, which
includes control over finance, operations, compliance with laws and regulations as
well as the monitoring of risk management. The results of the review have been
reported to the audit and risk management committee and the Board.

The Board confirms that the Company has systems and procedures in place to
identify, manage and report material risks in the course of achieving its strategic
objectives. The Board continue to monitor risks with the support of the specialised
committees and senior management.
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The Company’s internal audit department is responsible for conducting an
independent audit of whether or not the internal control system is sufficient and
effective. The auditing plan is prepared using a risk based approach and is
discussed and finalized by the audit and risk management committee annually.
Other than the pre-determined scope of work for each year, the department is also
required to conduct other specific audits.

The Group's internal audit department reports to the chief executive officer; it may
also report directly to the chairman of the audit and risk management committee.
All'internal audit reports are delivered to the Chairman of the Board, chief
executive officer, chief financial officer, the management of the audited
department and related departments. The outcome of each audit, in summary, will
also be discussed with the audit and risk management committee. The Board and
the audit and risk management committee of the Company actively monitor the
number and seriousness of the inspection result by the internal audit department,
and the relevant corrective measures taken by the relevant department.

The audit and risk management committee of the Company is responsible for
checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company and
overseeing their implementation; checking and evaluating the risk management
and risk control policy and duties on developing fuels, foreign exchange and
interest rate hedging and overseeing their implementation.

The internal audit department has undertaken related risk management duties and
reports to the audit and risk management committee periodically. It is responsible
for coordinating the implementation of appropriate procedures to manage
operational risks.

The resolution of changing the audit committee of the Board to the audit and risk
management committee was passed on the 4th regular meeting of the Board of
the Company in 2009. As specialized committee under the Board, the audit and
risk management committee is responsible for checking and monitoring the
financial reports and internal control of the Company, checking and evaluating the
overall risk management and corporate governance of the Company, and making
relevant recommendation to the Board.

The audit and risk management committee held three meetings in 2009. In each
meeting, senior management and external as well as internal auditors were
invited to attend. Based on the reports of the external and internal auditors, the
audit and risk management committee conducted audits on accounting principles
and practices, and internal controls adopted by the Group with a view to comply
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The committee also conducted reviews
of audits, internal control, risk management and financial statements. The Group’s
interim results for 2009 and the final results for 2009 had been discussed in the
audit and risk management committee’s meetings before they were submitted to
the Board for approval.
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Attendance of members of the audit and risk management committee meetings is % ZEHFEENNRAKRERZES S
as follows: EMZEHEERNAT:
Attendance/
Eligibility of
Meetings
HERE Attendance
Directors = EHER# HE=x
Xie Rong EIES 3/3 100%
Hu Honggao HEs 2/3 67%
Zhou Ruijin Ame 2/3 67%

The audit and risk management committee has also conducted other compliance
work to comply with US reporting requirements in 2009, including review of the
Company's compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; and specifically to consider
the work undertaken by the management, including managements’ assessment to
ensure the Company’s compliance with the internal control regulation (Section
404) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The constitutional document of the audit and risk management committee is
posted on the website of the Company.

For the Reporting Period, the annual audit fees payable to the external auditors (bath
international and domestic auditors) is estimated to be RMB12 million for the regular
annual audit of the Group's 2009 financial statements prepared under IFRS and PRC
Accounting Standards and the other relevant documents applicable for the purpose of
20-F filing. In addition, RMB11 million is payable to the external auditors in connection
with the Company’s major acquisition during the Reporting Period. Fee of RMB0.06
million is also payable to the external auditors for approved non-audit services (primarily
tax compliance services) rendered during the Reporting Period. The auditors’
remuneration are determined by the audit committee and approved by the Board.

The audit committee obtained an overall understanding of the non-audit services and its
scope and was satisfied that the non-audit services (in respect of the nature of service
and the total cost) had not affected the independence of the accounting firm.
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As of 31 December 2009, the planning and development committee of the Company
comprises of three members: Mr. Wu Baiwang, Mr. Luo Chaogeng and Mr. Luo Zhuping.
Mr. Wu Baiwang, an independent non-executive director, is the chairman of the

committee.

The planning and development committee is a specialized committee under the Board. It
is responsible for studying, considering and making plans or recommendation in regard
to the long term development plans and material investment decision of the Company
and overseeing their implementation.

BE-_ZZAE+_A=1+—80" 28K
SR EZEehRRaHEE BHRRELE
MBMFALE=ZEAR ERBILIEHNTT
ETREHAEEARZESER-
REBEZESRESTT ITRXNFEEZE
g AEYHRARRPERRAENEALE
RRETHR BZ REFRIEZITE
BEM-

Attendance of members of planning and development committee meetings is as follows: ZLEEHFEREVRELZETSENEHFEER
U

Attendance/

Eligibility of

Meetings
HEXE Attendance
Members £8 EHERH HE =
Wu Baiwang RBEH 4/4 100%
Luo Chaogeng B R 4/4 100%
Luo Zhuping Z& 4/4 100%

The constitutional document of the planning and development committee is posted on

the website of the company.

As at 31 December 2009, the remuneration and appraisal committee of the Company
comprises Mr. Zhou Ruijin, Mr. Luo Chaogeng and Mr. Wu Baiwang. Mr. Zhou Ruijin, an
independent director, is the chairman of the committee. The first extraordinary general
meeting in 2010 was held on 19 March 2010, during which Mr. Wu Xiaogen and Mr. Ji
Weidong were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company while
Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou Ruijin are no longer the independent non-executive directors
of the Company. The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the board of directors
of the Company was held on the same day, during which the resolution of merge of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee, the “Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee” ((2 % B2 % B & 8 & T & 4 B )) and the appointment of the
composition of the nomination and remuneration committee was passed. Mr. Liu Shaoyong,
Mr. Sandy, Ke-Yaw Liu and Mr. Ji Weidong were appointed to composite the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee of the fifth session of the Board, and Liu Shaoyong serves as
the Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, for a term expiring upon the
expiry of the current session of the Board of Directors.

The nomination and remuneration committee is a specialized committee under the
Board. It is responsible for the discussion in regard to nominees, standards and
procedures for selecting directors and senior management of the Company and making
recommendation; responsible for studying and examining the remuneration policy and
solutions of directors and senior management of the Company; responsible for studying
the performance appraisal standards for directors and senior management of the
Company, conducting appraisals and making recommendation.

The remuneration and appraisal committee has not convened any meetings during the

year 2009.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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Under the guidance of the remuneration and appraisal committee, the Company has
renewed the liability insurance for directors, supervisors and senior management in
August 2009. During the first meeting of the remuneration and appraisal committee of
the Board in 2010, the remuneration for the year 2009 of salaried directors, supervisors
and senior management was considered and passed; the reports of the Company
regarding the performance contract plans of 2010 for directors, supervisor and senior
management were also received.

The Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is posted on the
website of the Company.

Directors generally do not receive remuneration from the Company except independent
non-executive Directors who received a fixed remuneration. However, Directors who
served as other administrative positions will receive salary with regard to those positions
separately.

Certain Directors received emoluments from CEA Holding, the parent company, part of
which were in respect of their services to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Generally, the policy regarding the remuneration packages of Directors are aimed
primarily at linking the remuneration of Directors to their performance which helps to
encourage their performance and their remaining in office. Pursuant to the policy,
Directors are not allowed to approve their own remuneration.

The remuneration of Directors of the Company mainly comprises basic salary and bonus.

Directors review the basic salary of each Director every year pursuant to the
remuneration policy of the Company. In 2009, pursuant to the service contracts entered
into between the Company and each of the Directors, Directors are entitled to receive a
fixed basic salary.

Bonuses are calculated based on the measurable performance and contribution of the
operating units for which the Directors are responsible.

Allowances (before tax) received by the Company’s independent non-executive Directors
in 2009 were as follows:

Hu Honggao RMB 120,000
Peter Lok (terminated on 13 June 2009) HK$ 120,000
\Wu Baiwang RMB 120,000
Zhou Ruijin RMB 120,000
Xie Rong RMB 120,000
Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu (appointed on 13 June 2009) HK$ 120,000
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The third regular meeting of the board of the Company in 2009 was held on 28 April 2009,
during which the establishment of the nomination committee was considered and resolved,
and passed its charter. The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the
Company was held on 19 March 2010, during which the merge of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee was agreed and the “Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee” ({32 & B2 %7 B &= & & T 1E #4f A1) was passed; agreed to that Mr. Liu
Shaoyong, Mr. Sandy, Ke-Yaw Liu and Mr. Ji Weidong to composite the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, and Liu Shaoyong serves as the chairman of the Committee.

The “Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee” is posted on the
website of the Company.

The first regular meeting of the Board of the Company in 2010 was held on 20 January
2010, during which the establishment of the aviation safety and environment committee
was agreed and the "Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and Environment Committee”
was passed. The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the Company
was held on 19 March 2010, during which it was agreed that the aviation safety and
environment committee of the Company comprises Mr. Ma Xulun, Mr. Sandy, Ke-Yaw Liu
and Mr. Wu Xiaogen, and Ma Xulun serves as the Chairman of the Committee.

The aviation safety and environment committee is a specialized committee under the
Board. It is responsible for the consistency of the implementation of the relevant laws or
regulatory of national aviation safety and environmental protection, examining and
overseeing the aviation safety management of the Company, studying, considering and
making recommendation in regard to the aviation safety duty plans and major issues of
the related safety duties and overseeing their implementation, studying, considering and
making recommendation about the major issues of environmental protection on the
carbon emission of domestic, international and aviation and overseeing their
implementation.

The Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and Environment Committee was posted on
the website of the Company.

The Company undertakes that the disclosure it makes is fair and the reports it provides
are comprehensive and transparent. The ultimate responsibility of the Chairman of the
Board is to ensure effective communication with investors and to ensure that the Board is
aware of the views of major shareholders. Accordingly, the Chairman is required to meet
the shareholders in this regard and the routine communication of the Board with the
major shareholders is conducted through the company secretary.

The Company has drawn up and implemented an Information Disclosure and
Management System and has further improved the information disclosure system in
order to ensure the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of information disclosed to
public; the Company has also established an information disclosure office for which the
company secretary is responsible. The information disclosure office is mainly responsible
for the collection, collation and compilation of basic information for disclosure, and is
also responsible for drawing up the rules and systems for information disclosure and
related internal control and procedures. It is responsible for monitoring the correct
implementation of the various control measures.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Company has also implemented an Investor Relationship Management System and
Investor Relationship Management Detailed Implementation Regulation, which specifies
the basic principles and the institutional structure of the investor relationship
management, as well as the duties and responsibilities of investor relationship work, so
as to further foster corporate integrity and discipline, and to realize standardized
operation, with the ultimate aim of maximizing the corporate value and shareholders’
interests, and ensuring that benefits of investors are protected.

The Company has released information in relation to its quarterly results. In the latest
annual general meeting held on 13 June 2009 in Shanghai, the meeting was open to all
the shareholders and the media. A total of 50 shareholders attended in person or by
Proxy.

In the annual general meeting, each matter was proposed as an individual resolution and
voted by poll.

Investors and the public may access our website and download related documents
briefings. The website also sets out details of each of the Group’s operations.
Announcements, notices or other documents issued by the Company may also be
downloaded from the website of the Company.

In 2009, the company secretary and manager of the capital investment market
department held 2 specialized meetings with securities analysts, 1 press conference
with financial media and organized 10 one-to-one roadshows.

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge of the Directors of
the Company, at least 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company is held by
the public. As at 31 December 2009, there were a total of 143,058 shareholders on the
Company's register of members.

For any enquiries of the Board, shareholders may use the contact number
8621-62686268, e-mail at ir@ceair.com to contact the company secretary, or they may
put forward their questions in the annual general meeting or extraordinary general
meetings. In respect of the procedures for shareholders to convene annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meetings, they may make enquiries of the company
secretary through the aforesaid channels.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Shaoyong
Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
19 April 2010
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2009, the members of the Supervisory Committee, basing themselves on the powers
bestowed upon them by the Company Law and the Articles of Association of the
Company and their sense of responsibility toward all the shareholders, actively carried
out their tasks, faithfully performed their supervisory duties and protected the legitimate
rights and interests of the Company and of all the shareholders.

[ Meetings Convened by the Supervisory Committee:

1. On 9 February 2009, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting and resolved to
pass the “Rules of Meeting of the Supervisory Committee” to the shareholder CEA
Group to be put forward to the second Extraordinary General Meeting of the
Company in 2009 for consideration.

2. On 15 April 2009, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, during which it
adopted the Report of the Supervisory Committee for the year 2008, and resolved
that it would be put forward to the 2008 Annual General Meeting of the Company
for consideration; the Committee considered the financial report of the Company
for the year 2008 truly reflected the financial position and operating results of the
Company which was objective and fair, and resolved that it would be put forward
to the 2008 Annual General Meeting of the Company for consideration; and it
agreed with the profit distribution proposal in 2008 passed by the Board of
Directors; the Committee reviewed the full text and summary of the annual report
for 2008 prepared by the Company and expressed a written audit opinion.

3. On 28 April 2009, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, during which it
reviewed the full text and summary of the Company’s report for the first quarter of
2009 and expressed a written audit opinion.

4. 0On 10 August 2009, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, during which it
reviewed the full text and summary of the Company’s interim report for 2009 and
expressed a written audit opinion.

5. 0On 27 October 2009, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, during which It
reviewed the full text and summary of the Company’s report for the third quarter
of 2009 and expressed a written audit opinion.

Il.  Independent Opinion of the Supervisory Committee:
1. Legality of the Operation of the Company

In 2009, the Supervisory Committee monitored the procedures of convening the
general meetings and Board meetings of the Company and their resolutions,
execution of the resolutions passed in the general meetings by the Board, and
execution of the resolutions passed in the Board meetings by the management. It
is of the view that the Company has strictly complied with the Company Law, the
Securities Law, the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of the Company and
other regulations in drawing operational decisions, monitored its operations based
on law, continuously optimized the internal control system and further enhanced
its corporate governance standards. The directors and the senior management of
the Company were able to protect the general interests of the shareholders and
the Company and carry out their duties with dedication. The Supervisory
Committee did not discover any of their actions that in any way violated laws,
regulations, or the articles of association of the Company or were prejudicial to
the interests of the Company.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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Financial Position of the Company

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company and
PricewaterhouseCoopers audited the financial statements of the Company for the
year 2009 prepared in accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards and IFRS
respectively and issued standardized audit reports with unqualified opinions. The
Supervisory Committee reviewed the financial statements for the year 2009 and
resolved that it objectively, truly and fairly reflected the financial position,
operating results and the cash flow of the Group. The Supervisory Committee has
carefully reviewed financial information such as the profit distribution proposal to
be submitted to the 2009 Annual General Meeting for consideration, and found no
problems with these submissions.

Proceeds and Purchases or Sale of Assets of the Company

The Supervisory Committee confirmed the proceeds from non-public issue of the
year have been used in pursuant to the non-public issue plan; conducted
examination on the resolution of absorption of Shanghai Airlines Co. Ltd and did
not discover any acts of insider trade, prejudicial to the interests of the
shareholders or result in turnover of the assets and prejudicial to the interests of
the Company.

Connected Transactions of the Company

The Supervisory Committee conducted examinations to all the connected
transactions of the Company in the current year, and believed that all the
contracts, agreements and other relevant documents related to the connected
transactions of the Company in the current year had complied with the legal
procedures and the terms of the transactions were fair and reasonable to the
Company and shareholders as a whole. The connected transactions were dealt
with under stringent principles of fairness, impartiality and transparency. The
Supervisory Committee did not discover any acts of insider trading or breach of
good faith by the Board of Directors in making decisions, signing of agreements
and information disclosure.

In the new year, the Supervisory Committee will, as in the past, conscientiously exercise
the powers bestowed upon it by the Articles of Association of the Company and perform
corresponding obligations, further strengthen its supervision of the Company’s financial
affairs and ensure compliant business practices. It will continue to explore monitoring
and control mechanisms which are of benefit in protecting investors and promoting the
Company's development.

The Supervisory Committee is extremely grateful for the continuous support for its work
offered by all the shareholders, Board of Directors, staff and workers.

On behalf of the Supervisory Committee

Liu Jiangho
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Shanghai, the PRC
19 April 2010

2 REHBBER

EEXKEDRSIAMEBANE TR
KEGHMEBAOMNAARA -F
TAF R B E & E QM E R85
BELANRHENPBREET T B
IﬁiTHﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁmgﬁﬁi°
EEEREN RR-_ZTTNEFEY
%ﬁ%%%‘ﬁ*‘@ﬁ%&%7$
AMBBRR BEXREESRIE
M- BEFEETEERTHRRER-FT
ENFEBRRAGEZNFED ER
REPBER KERAEEMHRE-

3 RABEKESMKREBE HEEEBR

EEeWMRAAAFEIRLAABITR
EEEASCDRBIFEARAEBEITHRS
WAZRERA: SR XAFERKE HF
EEMERODERARINBERETT
BE UABLHRERNERS BERE
MEDKENRREERL  F&EX
BHER -

4 REABABRZIE

EEQUAFELAANMBEEABRR S

ERETTES AB/AFERRT

%ﬁ%&%%“%mAﬂ W A K&
HEmBEXH HeERERF R K
%%’T&%%kﬁﬁa%ﬁﬁéﬁ
W BEXZEERRBIA RN IE -
R RAETRIE Iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%
REGRGEEZTFERBERIDRE
FEMBEMEERBESEL -

MM —F AREEH -0RE RETE
(RRIERM TR IAEN  BITHEBHNER
% ﬁ EMEMBEE RELETR

%m KRR A MR R EREE MR DA B
H) BE B A ) o
AEEENTHE-—BESIBEAKRR =

EMERE TR  ERHRTIRLEH -

EEE

s
3

25T )
EFETE

FE LS
—ET-ZFTFWMA+ A

PERSMERNBRAF



B EFR B AR S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
(incorporated in the Peaple’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 164,
which comprise the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2009,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2009, and of the Group's financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 19 April 2010
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BHftRERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTTNHF
Note RMB’000 RMB000
T AR¥TR ARKTFT
Revenues A 5 38,989,659 41,072,557
Other operating income Hfth & X WA 6 1,288,017 405,163
Other gains H b Uk & 6 - 267,084
Operating expenses BEXH
Aircraft fuel TR 4% R (12,254,980) (18,488,242
Gain/(loss) on fair value movements PTETERAREEED
of financial derivatives e zs /(B K) 8 3,774,688 (6,400,992)
Take-off and landing charges RILAR B (5,460,351) (5,279,590)
Depreciation and amortisation WEM#HEEH (5,202,835) (4,781,562)
Wages, salaries and benefits TE HF&kiEHR 9 (5,148,877) (4,545,312)
Aircraft maintenance TR 4 s B (3,018,724) (3,272,981)
Impairment losses BERERXKX 10 (109,417) (2,976,678)
Food and beverages MEEREE (1,201,023) (1,321,268)
Aircraft operating lease rentals R ELEUHEHRERS (2,517,567) (2,734,802)
Other operating lease rentals HpgatfAade (407,386) (369,236)
Selling and marketing expenses HEMMBER (1,971,760) (1,562,945)
Civil aviation infrastructure levies EMEMREZEELRES (890,348) (769,849)
Ground services and other charges T AR S & H Ab B (289,993) (268,873)
Office, administrative and other expenses WA -EERHEMERA (3,751,763) (4,055,679)
Total operating expenses BEL HezE (38,456,336) (56,828,009)
Operating profit/(loss) mERRN (B8 11 1,821,340 (15,083,205)
Share of results of associates B ENR XS 23 (46,602) 69,668
Share of results of jointly controlled entities BELREIEHTEES 24 23,803 24,050
Finance income B %5 W A 12 205,304 2,061,625
Finance costs B s X 13 (1,754,640) (2,328,147
Profit/(loss) before income tax BAER S (FE) 249,205 (15,256,009)
Income tax 1 14 (52,547) (73,916)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEBERN(EBER) 196,658 (15,329,925)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) fortheyear £ EH i E &% R (& E) :
Cash flow hedges, net of tax BeREEH MBRFHE 38 57,914 (170,360)
Fair value movements of available for sale BhBE MBI REE
investments held by associates MBEEZAAEBEES 23 (585) (19,080)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) fortheyear FEHSER (FE)AE 253,987 (15,519,365)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEEBRAN(BFR)RBER:
Equity holders of the Company ARBERFEE A 168,766 (15,268,532)
Minority interests DR 27,892 (61,393)
196,658 (15,329,925)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEKEBAN(BR)EE
attributable to: BER:
Equity holders of the Company AARERFEA A 226,095 (15,457,972)
Minority interests DR 21,892 (61,393)
253,987 (15,519,365)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable FEARAEEERTA
to equity holders of the Company EhEERER (&8
during the year
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARMEH(ARE) 17 0.026 (3.14)

The notes on page 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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EHEERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
As at 31 December 2009 R —ZEZEhF+_-H=+—H

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTTNF
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
T E AR®TR AREFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Intangible assets EI B E 18 69,622 164,851
Property, plant and equipment M BERKRE 19 56,703,560 52,678,473
Lease prepayments T E R 20 970,835 996,521
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft Y S EENEN 21 5,081,174 6,413,554
Investments in associates E RS A A 23 723,022 980,319
Investments in jointly controlled entities AN LR E S 24 372,793 362,332
Available-for-sale financial assets AtHESREE 57,269 31,268
Other long-term assets HWREEE 25 926,312 941,556
Deferred tax assets R IEE E 35 83,748 81,947
Derivative assets PTEEE 38 - 988
64,988,335 62,651,809
Current assets REBEE
Flight equipment spare parts iy e 932,260 871,364
Trade receivables FE U BR X 26 1,370,871 1,165,308
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR F R R H R U R 27 2,370,495 4,315,722
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEESEBEY 28 1,735,248 3,451,010
Derivative assets TEBE 38 3,490 123,010
Non-current assets held for sale BEEFEERHEE 2 450,693 473,667
6,863,057 10,400,081
Current liabilities RBAEE
Sales in advance of carriage FEEEXR 1,420,183 1,013,878
Trade payables and notes payable ENERERLEMNERE 29 6,480,459 5,459,094
Other payables and accrued expenses HtENRXLTERER 30 11,517,204 12,246,065
Current portion of obligations under finance leases F A M EBEH R HH 31 2,125,430 1,916,989
Current portion of borrowings & &7 &) 2B o 32 12,330,075 26,513,320
Income tax payable FE T R 1B 21,126 39,002
Current portion of provision for return condition KEHERM R EBFHETE
checks for aircraft and engines under operating RIEEBNRE LS
leases 93] 609,884 213,830
Derivative liabilities EaE 38 1,006,286 6,456,075
35,510,647 53,858,253
Net current liabilities EhBAR (28,647,590) (43,458,172)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBARE 36,340,745 19,193,637
Non-current liabilities kRBARE
Obligations under finance leases MmEHAEARE 31 17,244,805 18,891,910
Borrowings &= 32 13,004,874 8,588,052
Provision for return condition checks for aircraft EETHE R R WEREM
and engines under operating leases RS 33 1,237,811 1,320,188
Other long-term liabilities EmEHAGR 34 1,203,423 1,320,759
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEEE 35 51,539 57,589
Post-retirement benefit obligations RINE RN A 36(b) 1,798,707 1,469,124
Derivative liabilities EAE 38 123,345 185,524
34,664,564 31,833,146
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EHEEREBER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
As at 31 December 2009 R —ZEZFNF+—-A=+—H

2009 2008
—EZAE —EENF
Note RMB’000 RMB000
it ARETFR ARKTFT
Net assets/(liabilities) BEE(AfE) 1,676,181 (12,639,509)
Equity Em
Capital and reserves attributable to ARmEREEARML
the equity holders of the Company BEARARER
Share capital A& A< 40 9,581,700 4,866,950
Reserves i 1& 41 (8,347,147) (17,964,351)
1,234,553 (13,097,401)
Minority interests DB R = 441,628 457,892
Total equity s 1,676,181 (12,639,509)
Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun
BB BEMm
Director Director
EF o

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
As at 31 December 2009 R —FEZENF+—-HA=+—H

2009 2008
ZEENF —TTN\F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
it AR Fix ARBFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Intangible assets mEE 18 66,990 164,579
Property, plant and equipment W) %% S 19 47,948,792 44,512,840
Lease prepayments SEENEIER=E 20 409,631 420,272
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft TR M TE =X 21 5,081,174 6,413,554
Investments in subsidiaries RERWE R A 22 2,523,115 2,523,715
Investments in associates KB R E QA 23 522,058 762,058
Investments in jointly controlled entities %x ﬁ B 2k B 4 ) ' AR 24 301,802 301,802
Available-for-sale financial assets HHELRmEE 45,520 15,520
Other long-term assets ﬁ m RHEE 25 784,490 765,351
Derivative assets TEBE 38 - 938
57,684,172 55,880,679
Current assets REBEE
Flight equipment spare parts T R 1 T 752,047 707,587
Trade receivables & U HE = 26 1,617,660 1,534,044
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE R 17 R R H A FE U 27 3,314,001 4,479,098
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEEEY 28 1,118,230 2,361,941
Derivative assets PTHEBE 38 3,490 123,010
Non-current assets held for sale BEEFEERHEE 2 450,693 473,667
7,256,121 9,679,347
Current liabilities "nEAa fﬁ
Sales in advance of carriage EEE; TA 1,420,183 1,013,878
Trade payables and notes payable & - BE 3 & & Z 5 29 6,293,548 5,220,003
Other payables and accrued expenses H b fE H X K TE k =g 30 9,875,704 10,747,518
Current portion of obligations under finance leases MEMEABENRE I D 31 1,915,815 1,715,062
Current portion of borrowings =0 K 32 10,219,929 24,063,433
Current portion of provision for return condition KEAERM R MR
checks for aircraft and engines under operating m & R B2 D
leases 33 183,099 139,710
Derivative liabilities mEaE 38 1,006,286 6,456,075
30,914,564 49,355,679
Net current liabilities FRBEME (23,658,443) (39,676,332)
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBER 34,025,729 16,204,347
Non-current liabilities I RBEME
Obligations under finance leases mEHEAE 31 15,387,409 16,814,109
Borrowings (= % 32 10,901,784 7,045,080
Provision for return condition checks for B THE R BB R
aircraft and engines under operating leases @S % & 23 1,099,303 1,028,980
Other long-term liabilities HtEHAaE 34 1,121,408 1,235,953
Post-retirement benefit obligations RIKEBAEE 36(b) 1,596,549 1,286,878
Derivative liabilities mEaE 38 123,345 185,524
30,229,798 27,596,524
Net assets/(liabilities) BEE (AR 3,795,931 (11,392,177)
Equity R
Capital and reserves attributable to KARIERSEZAE AEN
the equity holders of the Company BARNREZ
Share capital [N 40 9,581,700 4,866,950
Reserves & & 41 (5,785,769) (16,259,127)
Total equity 4R A 3,795,931 (11,392,177)
Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun
gRE BEMm
Director Director
EF o

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

2009 2008
—EENF —ZTTNHF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
it AR¥TR ARKTFT
Cash flows from operating activities EETHNEESRE
Cash generated from operations BIEBEENR® 43(a) 3,507,690 2,942 466
Income tax paid BENAER (78,274) (86,931)
Net cash inflow from operating activities EETHEENFERESR 3,429,416 2,855,535
Cash flows from investing activities RETHNELSRE
Additions of property, plant and equipment BAME HERZE (5,685,345) (1,289,350)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME BERZREMER
equipment 32,888 1,856,358
Acquisition of land use rights BE A Tt F A4 - (53,117)
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft SENBAL SRR (1,927,252) (3,603,824)
Refunds of advanced payments upon deliveries TR M 2 A5 By U [B] Y
of aircraft St SEENEN - 2,422,252
Repayment of other payables (instalment payment 1838 5 b JE 1 20 (B8 A —fn 22
for acquisition of an airline business) ES 30058 RS Q) (30,000) (30,000)
Interest received B4 F B 109,925 90,635
Dividends received B IR B 53,725 29,679
Capital injections in associates F BN REE - (384,186)
Proceeds from disposal of interests in an associate ~ H & & N B FER S 23 210,000 3,698
Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEESREE
financial assets ER<& - 32972
Net cash outflow from investing activities REZBHELENTRERE (7,236,059) (924,883)
Cash flows from financing activities BEITHNELSRE
Proceeds from draw down of short-term bank loans ~ f& A %2 HA {& 7 28,536,703 25,403,301
Proceeds from sales and leaseback of aircraft ERBERREKI RS 590,253 —
Repayments of short-term bank loans EEREBRRTER (39,535,319) (19,986,723)
Proceeds from draw down of long-term bank loans BARMRITER 10,823,185 4,748,071
Repayments of long-term bank loans BERAFRITER (9,522,385) (3,922,593)
Principal repayments of finance lease obligations EEREHEEBEN LRSS (2,005,264) (2,593,656)
Refunds/(payments) of restricted bank deposits W B/ (24 B9 BR il 1 7% 5K 1,341,525 (1,365,116)
Interest paid =RNEUEER (2,161,085) (2,741,980)
Refunds of deposits pledged for finance leases WE R HAmERERKTS
upon maturities - 419,604
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BT RAAWE AR S 14,056,167 —
Dividends paid to minority equity holders BESEEINGIE R 48
of subsidiaries A5 RR A (44,156) (52,700)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing BMETHELEFHRESHRAS
activities R H) 2,085,624 (91,792)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BERBELEEYWEORD),/
cash equivalents 3 in (1,721,019) 1,838,860
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January —A—H®HEBEL K
ReEEY 3,451,010 1,655,244
Exchange adjustments PE R o 2 5,257 (43,094)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December +ZA=+—-HHEBEER
HeEEY 1,735,248 3,451,010

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANRREREARGESR
Share Other  Accumulated Minority
capital reserves losses Subtotal interests  Total equity
AN wE REER Mt PEBRRESR g
AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB000 AMB000 AVB000 AMB000
ARBTT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFR
Balance at 1 January 2008 “TIT\E-R-BEH 4,866,950 307,351 (2.813730) 2,360,571 571,985 2,932,556
Loss for the year FEER = = (15,268,532) (15,268,532) 61,393) (15,329,925)
Other comprehensive loss HimaB8% - (189.440) - (189,440) - (189,440)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEGARTAE = 189,440) (15,268,532) (15,457,972) (61,393) (15,519,365)
Dividends paid to minarity equity holders SOLIENGER $E L ¢l
of subsidiaries = = = = (52,700) (52,700)
Balance at 31 December 2008 “EEN\E+-A=t-H%&#H 4,866,950 1791 (18,082,262) (13,097,401) 457,892 (12,639,509)
Balance at 1 January 2009 “EEhF-B-REH 4,866,950 17.9m (18,082,262) (13,097,401) 457,892 (12,639,509)
Profit for the year FEEAN - - 168,766 168,766 21,89 196,658
Other comprehensive income iR G ki - 57,329 - 57,329 - 571,329
Total comprehensive income fortheyear ~ FE &4 RFAE - 57,329 168,766 226,095 21892 253,987
Other equity movement of an associate BUEBENIHMES
B&28 - 49592 - 19592 - 49692
Issuance of new shares BOHR 4,114,750 931,47 - 14,056,167 - 14,056,167
Dividends paid to minority equity holders THHBARDERE KA
of subsidiaries - - - - (44,156) (44,156)
Balance at 31 December 2009 —EEAE+-RA=1+-R&H 9,581,700 9,566,349 (17,913,496) 1,234,553 441,628 1,676,181
The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements. HAENEZMERMBHMEROBEEMD -
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (the “Company”), a joint stock company
limited by shares was incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
on 14 April 1995. The address of the Company's registered office is 66 Airport
Street, Pudong International Airport, Shanghai, the PRC. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the operation of
civil aviation, including the provision of passenger, cargo, and mail delivery and

other extended transportation services.

The Company is majority owned by China Eastern Air Holding Company (“CEA

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

Holding”), a state-owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC.

The Company’s shares are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,

The New York Stock Exchange and The Shanghai Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Company issued total 2,787,375,000
A shares to CEA Holding (1,927,375,000 shares) and other investors (860,000,000
shares), and 1,927,375,000 H shares to CES Global Holding (Hong Kong) Limited
(“CES Global”), a wholly owned subsidiary of CEA Holding incorporated in Hong

Kong (details referred to Note 40).

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Company’s Board

of Directors (the “Board”) on 19 April 2010.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair

value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial

statements are disclosed in Note 4.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board has given careful
consideration to the going concern status of the Group in the context of the

Group's current working capital deficit.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's accumulated losses were
approximately RMB17.91 billion and its current liabilities exceeded its

current assets by approximately RMB28.65 billion.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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R T R
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Against this background, the Board has taken active steps to seek
additional sources of finance and improve the Group's liquidity position. As
at 31 December 2009, the Group had total credit facilities of RMB50.9
billion from certain banks. The Board believes that, based on experience to
date, it is likely that these facilities will be rolled over in future years if
required.

With the credit facilities and based on the Group’s history of obtaining
finance and its relationships with its bankers and creditors, the Board
considers that the Group will be able to obtain sufficient financing to
enable it to operate, as well as to meet its liabilities as and when they
become due, and the capital expenditure requirements. Accordingly, the
Board believes that it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements
on a going concern basis without including any adjustments that would be
required should the Company and the Group fail to continue as a going
concern.

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs as at
1 January 2009:

o IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments — Disclosures’ (amendment) —
effective 1 January 2009. The amendment requires enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. In
particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value
measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy.
As the change in accounting policy only results in additional
disclosures, there is no impact on earnings per share.

e |AS 1 (revised). ‘Presentation of financial statements’ —
effective 1 January 2009. The revised standard prohibits the
presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-
owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in
equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented
separately from owner changes in equity in a statement of
comprehensive income. As a result the Group presents in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity all owner
changes in equity, whereas all non-owner changes in equity
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Comparative information has been re-presented so
that it also conforms with the revised standard. Since the
change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects,
there is no impact on earnings per share.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective 1 January 2009). IFRS 8
replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment reporting’, and aligns segment
reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131,
‘Disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related
information’. The new standard requires a ‘'management
approach’, under which segment information is presented on
the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.
The segments are reported in a manner that is more consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM").

With effective from 1 January 2009, the Group has redefined
its operating segments so that to present the segment
information in the same manner as management’s internal
reporting. The Group is principally engaged in the operation of
civil aviation, including the provision of passenger, cargo and
other extended transportation services and are managed as a
single business unit. From a service perspective and pursuant
to the above re-segmentation, the Group has only one
reportable operating segment, reported as “airline operations”.
Comparative amounts of the year 2008 have been restated to
reflect the re-segmentation.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have
been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods, but the Group
has not early adopted them:

IFRIC 17 ‘Distribution of non-cash assets to owners' (effective
from 1 July 2009). The interpretation is part of the IASB's
annual improvements project published in April/May 2009.
This interpretation provides guidance on accounting for
arrangements whereby an entity distributes non-cash assets
to shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as
dividends. IFRS 5 has also been amended to require that assets
are classified as held for distribution only when they are
available for distribution in their present condition and the
distribution is highly probable. The Group and Company will
apply IFRIC 17 from 1 January 2010. It is not expected to have
a material impact on the Group’s or Company’s financial
statements.

IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’, (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard
requires the effects of all transactions with minority interest
to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control and
these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains
and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when
control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-
measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss. The Group will apply IAS (revised) prospectively
to transactions with minority interest from 1 January 2010.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective from 1 July
2009). The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition
method to business combinations, with some significant
changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business
are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with
contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re-
measured through the income statement. There is a choice on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair vale or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets. All acquisition-related costs should be expensed.
The Group will apply IFRS 3 (revised) prospectively to all
business combinations from 1 January 2010.

IAS 38 (amendment), ‘Intangible Assets’ (effective from 1 July
2009). The amendment is part of the IASB's annual
improvements project published in April/May 2009 and the
Group and Company will apply IAS 38 (amendment) from the
date IFRS 3 (revised) is adopted. The amendment clarifies
guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combination and it permits the grouping
of intangible assets as a single asset if each asset has similar
useful economic lives. The amendment will not result in a
material impact on the Group’s or Company's financial
statements.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

IFRS 5 (amendment), ‘Measurement of non-current assets (or
disposal groups) classified as held for sale’. The amendment is
part of the IASB's annual improvements project published in
April/May 2009. The amendment provides clarification that
IFRS 5 specifies the disclosures required in respect of non-
current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
or discontinued operations. It also clarifies that the general
requirement of IAS 1 still apply, particularly paragraph 15 (to
achieve a fair presentation) and paragraph 125 (sources of
estimation uncertainty) of IAS 1. The Group and Company will
apply IFRS 5 (amendment) from 1 January 2010. It is not
expected to have a material impact on the Group's or
Company's financial statements.

IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The
amendment is part of the IASB's annual improvements project
published in April/May 2009. The amendment provides
clarification that the potential settlement of a liability by the
issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current or
non-current. By amending the definition of current liability, the
amendment permits a liability to be classified as non-current
(provided that the entity has an unconditional right to defer
settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12
months after the accounting period) notwithstanding the fact
that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle
in shares at any time. The Group and Company will apply IAS
1 (amendment) from 1 January 2010. It is not expected to have
a material impact on the Group’s or Company’s financial
statements.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments” (effective from 1 January 2013).
The standard addresses classification and measurement of
financial assets, introducing the following changes: (i)
Introduces a single model that has only two classification
categories: amortised cost and fair value, which are driven by
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual characteristics of the financial assets. (ii)
Removes the requirement to separate embedded derivatives
from financial asset hosts, and requires a hybrid contract to be
classified in its entirety at either amortised cost or fair value.
(iii) Prohibits reclassifications except in rare circumstances
when the entity’s business model changes and the changes
apply prospectively. (iv) Provides specific guidance for
contractually linked instruments that create concentrations of
credit risk, which is often the case with investment tranches in
a securitisation. (v) Indicates that all equity investments should
be measured at fair value. However, management has an
option to present in other comprehensive income unrealised
and realised fair value gains and losses on equity investments
that are not held for trading. (vi) Removes the cost exemption
for unquoted equities and derivatives on unquoted equities but
provides guidance on when cost may be an appropriate
estimate of fair value. The Group will apply the standard from
1 January 2013.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIFE

The Group's consolidated financial statements include the financial EHEERBEARRIRMBNE
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up to 31 RABETZA=+T—H 1L
December. B« -

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over
which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group, including those acquired
from holding companies. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority
interests as transactions with parties external to the Group.
Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the
Group that are recorded in the consolidated income statement.
Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the
difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost. The Group's investments in
associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment
loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in associates are
stated at cost less provision for impairment losses (Note 2(m)). The
results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

$%I%%Hﬁﬁ > BR
ETZRPRBERNEEI
SN A LT EITHR
ﬁ°ﬂ4%k$
EYAREENR
ﬂﬂ§£%°ﬁy k
TEEMSHHEE
A P S2 A 9 AE ] X (B 248 78
REMEBHERARFEE
ZHREEMZHE -

i
=
peny

@mm

SR des
%W>E
Wmn}ﬁﬂnw

>t
m:m:
[

RIEMEAEEHH

%%ﬁﬁﬂiﬂ%m
B B E A E20% = 50%

B PR HE o B A B IR
BUAZEEAR " W%
LABK N HE 3R o 7N £ 8 7 Bt 4
“Tz&ﬁ@%%%%a%
PR EEREM R R
EE18) -

AEBREGEEBEREZ QA

B s ) 3k B B 0 & O A R
M HERR - T RE A WBE IR R R
m“@%%%%%%% ©
&é%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁiﬁzw
BrRERESMIELAE-
WA E RS KB E QA
Z B 98 55 0 o R 4B HLAE o
BRARZER BREEME
it FE IR U AR E A
EHRALE-SEER BRIER
SECRBEATRERME
AR A -

$%Eﬁﬁ%““72ﬁx
5 H) R B 3 W a5 1% 58 B 1 B
L”T%\m%ﬁﬁ% @

RoRB"TRBEEER
@Z%ﬁ*@%*?ﬁ%%
TRT AR 8 - Bt R A &
AR RFEFELLE
LA i R B K 6% [ £R A A BROSR

Ha—H-

EBEARNEERBNE
BEH B RFER -

EARRZEERBRA
F%%QTZ&E?&$1
5% R B & 18 2 6 51 AR (RE
B2m)) - Bt & AR Z %Em
AR RIRE W R E WS A
iR -



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

A jointly controlled entity is an entity in which the Group has joint
control over its economic activity established under a contractual
arrangement. The Group's investments in jointly controlled entities
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified
on acquisition.

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
by the equity method of accounting based on the audited financial
statements or management accounts of the jointly controlled entities.
The Group's share of its jointly controlled entities’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements is adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in that
entity, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.

The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of
assets by the Group to the joint venture that it is attributable to the
other venturers. The Group does not recognise its share of profits or
losses from the joint venture that result from the Group’s purchase of
assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets to an
independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised
immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net
realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss.

In the Company's balance sheet, the investments in jointly controlled
entities are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The
results of jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the General Manager Office that makes strategic
decisions.
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BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying
net investment hedges.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of goods and the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of business and
value-added taxes, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating
sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities
as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably
measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics
of each arrangement.

Passenger, cargo and mail revenues are recognised as traffic
revenues when the transportation services are provided. The value of
sold but unused tickets is recognised as sales in advance of carriage
("SIAC").

Commission income represents amounts earned from other carriers
in respect of sales made by the Group on their behalf, and is
recognised in the income statement upon ticket sales.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Revenues from other operating businesses, including income derived
from the provision of ground services and cargo handling services,
are recognised when the services are rendered.

Rental income from subleases of aircraft is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Rental income
from leasing office premises and cargo warehouses is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is
a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included
in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.

In respect of aircraft and engines under operating leases, the Group has
obligations to fulfill certain return conditions under the leases. Provision for
the estimated cost of these return condition checks is made on a straight
line basis over the term of the leases.

In respect of aircraft and engines owned by the Group or held under finance
leases, overhaul costs are capitalised as a component of property, plant and
equipment and are depreciated over the appropriate maintenance cycles
(Note 2(1)).

All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income
statement as and when incurred.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on
impaired loans is recognised using the ariginal effective interest rate.

H2 B M ABRERERILE
MRS B WA & B E R IE IR
MR ERAYERH#
AR 7% B FE R -

R D BB AREREE
EEEE B AR - bR
RIS L EBEREGHNHES K
ANEHEHRNABFERER

T BE 1 AN 5 B 2 W R A B B
THHRERESENRE Hﬁm
7 B T R - R R A ETERR

SR ARG B 2 BT A R AR
Wiz B EZ R ANE A %S E
FENERPHER -

HEEME KELRXEBEABEZ
BRBEIAERDE KRR
BT YREREE A
SAERAEREENBERER -

HRRBEMHENRE  NEE
ﬁﬁ&%i&ﬁ@ﬁfﬁﬁmm
REGMN - RWEREERMRE
AREBRARNEREERARE
BORTRIR

E&@éﬁ%%%
TEB Y ¥ - 2

EITEXNL ZIIE/\
A S GRERE2() -

HRAR
- RN
“ﬁm—%
RPN

a8
£ M
17 3
Hf
Hih A& # SR %E LR ARNE
= o

MEWARBERFSOERERE
b ) B E B ER o fi FE WX BR SR H IR
BE AEBEBEERERER
Yo o 5k EE - B AH A R R 3R &R
ERZTAZRERNRERE
VHESRBRFTELERBHNE
WA-BEREEF ZWQWAﬁ
PR B R R R B R

FERTMERNBRAF



BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset,
including the interest attributable to loans for advance payments used to
finance the acquisition of aircraft, are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.
Other borrowing costs are expensed.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the
jurisdictions where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
fair value of the Group's share of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date
of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in
“intangible assets". Goodwill on acquisition of associates and jointly
controlled entities is included in “investments in associates” and
“investments in jointly controlled entities” and is tested for
impairment as part of the overall balances. Separately recognised
goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or whenever there
is an indication of impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

Sponsorship fees paid and payable in relation to the 2010 Shanghai
Expo have been capitalised and are being amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of the sponsorship program. The cost of the
intangible asset is calculated based on the expected cash payment
and the fair value of the services to be provided.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years. Costs associated with developing
or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as
expense when incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is recognised initially at cost which
comprises purchase price, and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
assets to the condition for their intended use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
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When each major aircraft overhaul is performed, its cost is recognised in
the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment and is
depreciated over the appropriate maintenance cycles. Components related
to airframe overhaul cost, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 5 to
7.5 years. Components related to engine overhaul costs, are depreciated
between each overhaul period using the ratio of actual flying hours and
estimated flying hours between overhauls. Upon completion of an overhaul,
any remaining carrying amount of the cost of the previous overhaul is
derecognised and charged to the income statement.

Except for components related to overhaul costs, the depreciation method
of which has been described in the preceding paragraph, other depreciation
of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line
method to write down their costs or revalued amounts to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Aircraft, engines and flight equipment 10 to 20 years
Buildings 15 to 35 years
Other property, plant and equipment 5to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the assets’ carrying amount and are recognised in the income
statement.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant
and equipment pending installation. This includes the costs of construction
or acquisition and interest capitalised. No depreciation is provided on
construction in progress until the asset is completed and ready for use.

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or which are not yet available for
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested for impairment at least
annually or whenever there is indication of impairment. Other assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet
date.
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Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying EFRBEENEEHAEREEZES
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale B-EREXZWEMmMZELE
is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying WAR BEBA R MDBEAFIED
amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be ENEAE - NZSEAEMNEREE
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through BEEEB-—BLEERSMER
continuing use. BERmMUE  AZEEERE
HEEAABEREEREERAM
HEHRBIEETR -

Lease prepayments represent acquisition costs of land use rights less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is provided over the lease period
of the land use rights on a straight-line basis.

AR E KT b (5 A A
A ORL B R T8 85 o FRAY A & R
BIwERENERFERIAER
FEITE -

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft represent payments to aircraft RTERB & E KRG R
manufacturers to secure deliveries of aircraft in future years, including BEEFHNEREMNR  HER
attributable finance costs, and are included in non-current assets. The HEMEEALHERREE
balance is transferred to property, plant and equipment upon delivery of the A FET B) & B I 0 R A A e 8
aircraft. EYE HBERRE-
Flight equipment spare parts are stated at the lower of cost and net M RR M8 T MR IR K AN A0 AT 3R F
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. BEMENBIESE R - KA
The cost of flight equipment spare parts comprises the purchase price (net HEHEAE - REREZHD
of discounts), freight charges, duty and value added tax and other BRABEEEEBHR TN F
miscellaneous charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price ) - BB BiR-EEDREAM
of the flight equipment in the ordinary course of business, less applicable EEME - AERFEAEAT
selling expenses. X BIR P AR ERE T (a5
HEBNMRBENHEEER -
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently R R R VR A BEER
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less E & B A E PR R B - 12 8 85 K
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is REHNMBRREEEFE - AR
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be BEBEETEEESLZRBERK
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the HA R KRG R 2 &4 E & Al
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that BAREBERELEREEE - &
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or ESABEE XY BREE#: F
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable WE- B EMR KEB A KL
is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the BITEERBR AR BZER
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash IR B G RBEEHE TR o &
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying HRREEFESBEEMERRK
amount of the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account, RERERERFERFTEMNIR
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. When a REMENEZE AEMNEEE
trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the provision EREAENEFPERE MAHA
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously MEBHBEANEMNBRABER-
written off are credited in the income statement. 0 — I JE WORR A U B - % R
WHR B e EER P sy - 2 Al
EMEORBOERKE  KE
ERRFEERA -

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount can be reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Finance leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of
property, plant and equipment where the Group has acquired
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in other short-term and other long-term
payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. Leased assets are depreciated using a straight-line
basis over their expected useful lives to residual values.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Finance leases (continued)

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in a finance lease,
differences between sales proceeds and net book values are deferred
and amortised over the minimum lease terms.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in an operating lease,
differences between sales proceeds and net book values are
recognised immediately in the income statement, except to the
extent that any profit or loss is compensated for by future lease
payments at above or below market value.

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property,
plant and equipment in the balance sheet. They are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar
property, plant and equipment. Rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
regarding pension and medical benefits for employees organised by the
municipal governments of the relevant provinces. The contributions to the
schemes are charged to the income statement as and when incurred.

In addition, the Group provides retirees with certain post-retirement
benefits including retirement subsidies, transportation subsidies, social
function activity subsidies as well as other welfare. The liability recognised
in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date
less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated annually using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined
by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the
terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in
excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the
defined benefit obligation are charged or credited to the income statement
over the employees’ expected average remaining working lives.
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Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement,
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In
this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet
at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The accounting for subsequent
changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used
in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items.

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are accounted for as trading instruments and any unrealised gains or
losses, being changes in fair value of the derivatives, are recognised in the
income statement immediately.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
fair value hedges and that are highly effective, are recorded in the income
statement, along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or
liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting and
which are designated as a specific hedge of the variability in cashflows of
a highly probable forecast transaction, are accounted for as follows:

(i) the effective portion of any change in fair value of the derivative
financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. Where the
forecast transaction or firm commitment results in the recognition of
an asset or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in
equity are included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset
or liability. Otherwise, the cumulative gain or loss on the derivative
financial instrument is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement in the same period during which the hedged
forecast transaction affects net profit or loss.

(i) the ineffective portion of any change in fair value is recognised in the
income statement immediately.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset
or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged items is more than
12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified
as a current asset or liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—A=+—HILFZE

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the
income statement when the committed or forecast transaction ultimately
occurs. When a committed or forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was recorded in equity is
immediately transferred to the income statement.

Investments in securities other than subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, being held for non-trading purposes, are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets and are recognised on the trade-date —
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. At
each balance sheet date, the fair value is remeasured, with any resulting
gain or loss being recognised directly in equity, except for impairment
losses. When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income
statement.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset is impaired. In the case of equity securities
classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the securities below its cost is considered an indicator that the
securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement, is
removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the income statement.

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Where necessary, prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
with changes in presentation in the current year.
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The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate
risk and fuel price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to
manage certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (the
“Group Treasury”) under policies approved by the Board. The Group Treasury
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group's operating units. The Board provides written principles for
overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk, use of
derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments.

Since 21 July 2005, the PRC government reformed the Renminbi
exchange rate system and established a floating exchange rate
system in which the exchange rate would be adjusted and managed
based on market supply and demand with reference to a basket of
foreign currencies. The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate is
affected by the domestic and international economy, the political
situation and the currency supply and demand of the currency, and
thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future may therefore be very
different from the current exchange rate.

The Group operates its business in many countries and territories.
The Group generates its revenue in different currencies, and its
foreign currency liabilities at the end of the period are much higher
than its foreign currency assets. The Group’s major liability item
(purchases and leases of aircraft) is mainly priced and settled in
foreign currencies such as US dollars. In addition, fluctuations in
exchange rates will affect the Group’s costs incurred from foreign
purchases such as aircraft, flight equipment and aviation fuel, and
take-off and landing charges in foreign airports.

The Group also has exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of net
cash inflow denominated in Japanese Yen from ticket sales in
overseas branch office after payment of expenses. The Group
entered into certain foreign exchange forward option contracts to
manage this foreign currency risk. Details of foreign currency forward
contracts are disclosed in Note 38(b) to the financial statements.
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B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

The following table details the Group’s and the Company's exposure
at the balance sheet date to major currency risk.

TRBEETEERATAEY
B E BB SME R -

Group
%
2009 2008
—EERE —ZT)N\F
usD Euro JPY UsD Euro JPY
EpH B Ax ET BT =
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARKETT
Trade and other receivables EWER R
H ek = 1,306,616 56,663 93,778 1,809,601 42,706 56,003
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEZEEY 253,776 43519 30,889 494,249 126,695 37,657
Trade and other payables e BR A R
H b FE 3R (416,288) (462) - (417.910) (1,476) (363)
Obligations under finance leases B2 &1 & & & (17,604,920) - - (19,444,259) = (83,971)
Borrowings &5 (13,157341) (113254) - (13007489 (11,658) -
Currency derivatives MEIAZRAR
at notional value 559,402 - - 825,170 - -
Net balance sheet exposure EERRBREZE (29,058,755) (13,534) 124,667 (29,740,837 56,267 9326
Company
AT
2009 2008
—EERE —ETNF
UsD Euro JPY USD Euro JPY
Ep BT = £t BT AT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
ARBTFT AREFT AREFRT AREFT ARKFT AREFT
Trade and other receivables P U5 BR 7R
H i & MR 1,259,231 43,740 93,778 1,726,836 24,620 55929
Cesh and cash equivalents RaRkResEN 224,09 26568 11,006 441571 %622 22,705
Trade and other payables FERERR R
HihERR (412,992) - - (414591) (1,021) (363)
Obligations under finance leases R AT E & & (15,537,900 _ - (17.164531) _ 83971)
Borrowings R (11,962,124) (113,254) - (127376) (111,658) -
Currency derivatives TETAZELRS
at notional value 559,402 - - 825,170 - -
Net balance sheet exposure EEARBREZE (25,870,297) (40,926) 104,784 (27,320,212) 7,563 (5,700)
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B mRTRE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s TERBETIREEAEBEXRAD
and the Company’s profit and loss and other components of AR H & ¥ F1E5% -
consolidated equity in response to a 5% appreciation of the RMB HAEEMARARHBATIE
against the following major currencies at the balance sheet date. an J M 7w B E At 45 B BB 9 &Y
2
Group
&5
2009 2008
ZEEBAF —EENF
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HEw s
HigH Hftb & 2 HER Hfth & 5
HWEe HWEe GO oA
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥FrT ARETFT AREFTT AREFT
US dollars xTT 1,482,555 2,048 1,602,641 34,364
Euro B 667 - (2,813) -
Japanese Yen HT (6,233) - (466) -
Company
AT
2009 2008
ZEBAF —ETNF
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HER YR
ESECE H ftb 5 5 HER Hfth & 5
HWEe HWEE Cob-A Cob-A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTRT ARMFT AR®FT ARETT
US dollars ET 1,325,087 2,048 1,481,611 34,364
Euro & T 2,046 - (378) -
Japanese Yen BT (5,239) - 285 -

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

The Group's interest-rate risk primarily arises from borrowings.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest-rate risk. During the year ended 31 December
2009, the Group's borrowings at variable rates were primarily
denominated in US dollars. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of borrowings made to the Group and interest rate swaps
are disclosed in Notes 32 and 38(a) to the financial statements.

To hedge against the variability in the cash flows arising from a
change in market interest rates, the Group has entered into certain
interest rate swaps to swap variable rates into fixed rates. The Group
also entered certain interest rate swaps to swap fixed rates into
variable rates.

AEBEOFNERBREERE
B REBFERMB/ANE
RLAEEAZHEeREN
EEk o REEMEMEAR
EBEREAEBEAT A REF
EEBR R -FEAES
A=+—H X&EBE®RZH
FEBANEREEARET
B FE EEHMERE
BHRARARF E B #HE
BB SRS R R R A B R
38(a) °

RTEPHNT SN RE (L
olBMBREERBY AE
BEE—ER R e ST
BN R @S EE RN K K
SETEBN R K EE
MEECRFEAE o

The following table details the interest rate profiles of the Group’s TRETRTEERAREY
and the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments at the BHREENFESRIEN
balance sheet date. BOR o
Group Company
- AF
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAFE —TTN\EFE ZEBEBRE ZTIZT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTFT AREFT AR®Frn AREFT
Floating rate instruments F & F & T B
Cash and cash equivalents H & RIS ZEEY 1,735,248 3,451,010 1,118,230 2,361,941
Borrowings &R (22,477,854) (26,855,469) (18,790,618) (23,777,610)
Obligation under finance MEHEGE
leases (19,241,091) (20,482,615) (17,174,080) (18,213,044)
Interest rate swaps FEEBEH
at notional amount BEARE 2,179,378 2,675,740 2,179,378 2,675,740
(37,804,319) (41,211,334) (32,667,090) (36,952,973)
Group Company
- AF
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBRAFE —TETNEFE ZEBBRE "IZTIZ)N\F
RMB’'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARMTFT AREFT AR®Frn ARETFT
Fixed rate instruments EEMEIER
Borrowings f& & (2,857,095) (8,245,903) (2,331,095) (7,330,903)
Obligation under finance MEHSEEE
leases (129,144) (326,284) (129,144) (316,127)
Interest rate swaps FEEBEH
at notional amount BERE 466,817 543,041 466,817 543,041
(2,519,422) (8,029,146) (1,993,422) (7,103,989)
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s TRERTEEME SRS
profit and loss and other components of equity if interest rate had SEMBERAT  HFE LA
been 25 basis points higher with all other variables held constant. LEEEHERAEENE
DA % R A A9 H 48 B BT 19
pp-7%-
2009 2008
ZEENF —ZET)N\F
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HERK
HiEx HERHM HER FEIL D
W HEe % % &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 'UUU
AR®Fr AREFT AREFTT AREFT
Floating rate instruments FERETA (94,441) (10,952) (105,673) 10,299
The Group’s results of operations may be significantly affected by HRAMBARNEE —HEE
fluctuations in fuel prices which is a significant expense component EEYH A AERHNE
for the Group. Aircraft fuel accounts for 32% of the Group’s operating BRASHXZE Mok ERES
expenses (2008: 33%). The Group has entered into certain financial e -meaTHEEES
derivatives to hedge against fuel price risk. Details of crude oil option BEXHAR(ZZEZT N\ F:
contracts are disclosed in Note 38|c) to the financial statements. 33%) o AEEBBEE LS
PTHE T ERE R i ih E %R
o RMEIES DB FBR
B2 PO B 7% i Y R R 38(c) ©
For the year ended 31 December 2009, if fuel price had been 5% RZZEZEAF+=ZA=+—
higher/lower with all other variables held constant (excluding the AIEE EHMEERFD
impact of crude oil option contracts), the Group’s fuel cost would BaE R N(TBE RS
have been RMBG613 million higher/lower. EHZE)  WE FHEmmE
BEFBERIET%  AER
B A EHA BREAR
#6138 IT o
For the year ended 31 December 2009, if fuel price had been 5% RER - R MR ERE EFH
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the impact on B AR T 5% - i H & &= R
financial derivatives is shown below. TEMERT Bl ERE
ftHERMOTETENFED
T~
2009 2008
—eBAnF —ETNE
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HEZ®
HiER HEZHMG HiEm FEBH
54 g b4 -
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
AR Fr ARETFT AREFT ARKEFT
Net increase in fuel price B EF5%  FE
by 5% 211,435 - 497,879 =
Net decrease in fuel price i {8 T f&5% @ JF &
by 5% (246,054) - (500,690) =

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to sales agents.
The Group has a credit policy in place to monitor the exposures to
these credit risks on an on-going basis.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of blank tickets
are only made available to sales agents with an appropriate credit
history. A major portion of sales are conducted through sales agents
and the majority of these agents are connected to various settlement
plans and/or clearing systems which impose requirements on the
credit standing.

A significant portion of the Group's air tickets are sold by sales
agents participating in the Billing and Settlements Plan (“BSP”), a
clearing system between airlines and sales agents organised by the
International Air Transportation Association. The balance due from
BSP agents amounted to approximately RMB560 million as at 31
December 2009 (2008: RMB515 million).

Except for the above, the Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk, with the exposure spreading over a number of
counterparties.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26.

The Group’s cash management policy is to deposit cash and cash
equivalents mainly in state-owned banks and other banks, which are
highly rated by an international credit rating company. The Group
also deposits cash and cash equivalents in an associate financial
institution owned by its holding company (Note 45(b)(iii)). The
management does not expect any loss to arise from non-performance
by these banks and the financial institution.

Transactions in relation to derivative financial instruments are only
carried out with financial institutions of high reputation. The Group
has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one
financial institution. Management does not expect any losses from
non-performance by these banks.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

The Group's primary cash requirements have been for additions of
and upgrades to aircraft, engines and flight equipment and payments
on related borrowings. The Group finances its working capital
requirements through a combination of funds generated from
operations and both short and long term bank loans. The Group
generally finances the acquisition of aircraft through long-term
finance leases and bank loans.

The Group operates with a working capital deficit. As at 31
December 2009, the Group's net current liabilities amounted to
RMB28,648 million (2008: RMB43,458 million). For the year ended 31
December 2009, the Group recorded a net cash inflow from operating
activities of R\MB3,429 million (2008: inflow RIMB2,856 million), a net
cash outflow from investing activities and financing activities of
RMBS,150 million (2008: outflow RMB1,017 million), and an decrease
in cash and cash equivalents of RMB1,716 million (2008: increase
RMB1,796 million).

The Directors of the Company believe that cash from operations and
short and long term bank borrowings will be sufficient to meet the
Group's operating cashflow. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group's treasury policy aims at
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available.
The Directors of the Company believe that the Group has obtained
sufficient general credit facilities from PRC banks for financing future
capital commitments and for working capital purposes (see Note
2(a)).

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity
reserves on the basis of expected cash flows:

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

The table below analyses the Group's and the Company’s financial
liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

TRBRASENMBEE
RAFBELEENSRA
B RBEE R AR
REBEERBERAESD
FMENRRARETN S
T-EXRABEBENSERE
MERBBENRSRE - /i
RERNEESK S &
REARIPNERBER
HEE®EE -

Group
&
Less than Between Between
Tyear 1and2years 2andb5years Over 5 years
1T 1226 R 2E5F R 5F L E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Trn AR¥FT AR®FrxT AR¥Trx
At 31 December 2009 —EEAE
+=A=+-8
Borrowings [EES 12,886,380 3,174,883 6,523,487 4,356,734
Derivative financial instruments & & 974 T & 1,006,286 12,095 6,364 104,886
Obligations under finance leases gt & 1 & & & 2,466,415 2,388,362 7,405,048 8,752,687
Trade and other payables FEBR 3R &
H b e 3k 16,161,893 9,104 313,092 364,172
Total Pl 32,520,974 5,584,444 14,247,991 13,578,479
At 31 December 2008 —ET)N\F
+-HA=+—8
Borrowings & & 27,785,310 4,515,962 3,969,413 846,074
Derivative financial instruments & gt 474 T & 6,456,075 15,448 19,416 150,660
Obligations under finance leases & & 70 & & & 2,765,969 2,704,499 7,805,669 11,868,053
Trade and other payables & -1 BR B &%
H fh FE 5Kk 15,183,406 - 320,354 410,076
Total FERE 52,190,760 7,235,909 12,114,852 13,274,863
Company
AF
Less than Between Between
Tyear 1and2years 2andb5years Over 5 years
1FUTF 1225 R 2E5F R 54 5 E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Fr AR®Fr ARETrT ARETR
At 31 December 2009 —EThE
+=A=+-8
Borrowings &= 10,651,723 2,752,994 5,549,696 3,421,752
Derivative financial instruments & & 974 T A 1,006,286 12,095 6,364 104,886
Obligations under finance leases g & fH & & & 2,213,131 2,130,374 6,600,565 7,802,646
Trade and other payables TR &
E th FE 5 5k 14,142,245 9,104 232,043 364,172
Total @ 28,013,385 4,904,567 12,388,668 11,699,456
At 31 December 2008 —ZE N\ F
t-A=+—H
Borrowings &= 25,146,504 3,849,229 3,156,324 530,386
Derivative financial instruments & & 974 T A 6,456,075 15,448 19,416 150,660
Obligations under finance leases gl & H & & & 2,458,559 2,400,584 6,892,822 10,534,868
Trade and other payables FEAERR K
H fih FE SRR 13,216,516 - 229,399 410,076
Total Rt 47,277,654 6,265,261 10,297,961 11,625,990
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s AEEBMEREERKX 2ERE
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for SEpEEEE UAaRFREMSE
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal B MasEtmEEREE AREF
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. mAREREENEREEN
R B AR R o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust BTHRBRIABERER K&
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to ARgABRINTREORE
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. HE - MBRRDEKHERRE -
BT EEENREKER -
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is AEBEFMAEBELXEREER
calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets. The gearing ratios at B RIZERBABERANBEEES
31 December 2009 and 2008 were as follows: H- T _ZTETNFRZZTEZTNF
+TZA=+—H -AaBLEET
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTN\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥Fr AR TFT
Total liahilities wEE 70,175,211 85,691,399
Total assets wEE 71,851,392 73,051,890
Gearing ratio B & X 0.98 1.17
Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for H-ZEENF-—H-—BAE K&
financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value, A% B BR B 15 3R 5 AR RN BT 5R
this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following FHemIATEERBERRERA
fair value measurement hierarchy: REBEEFENESR EREET
NARnBEFTEXREREALE
BE& & :

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are T 2% AR AEBREENARR =
measured at fair value at 31 December 2009. ZZNF+_A=+—HBFEHN
NifBEfE -

Group and Company

EEMAQF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE1E H2fE H3E #Et
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
AR TT ARETT AEKEFT AREFT
Assets BE
Financial derivatives TRITAETLR
— Crude oil option contracts — B mEES L
(Note 38(c)) (i #38(c) - 3,490 - 3,490
Available-for-sale financial assets ] i i & 4 &1 & & - - 57,269 57,269
Total ] - 3,490 57,269 60,759
Liabilities =R
Financial derivatives TRITAETLER
— Crude oil option contracts — R AHES Y
(Note 38(c)) (7 F£38(c) - 897,744 - 897,744
— Interest rate swaps —FREHEHL
(Note 38(a)) (7% F238(a)) - 154,871 - 154,871
— Forward foreign exchange —INER A 4
contracts (Note 38(b)) (3% FE38(b)) - 77,016 - 77,016
Total P - 1,129,631 - 1,129,631
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on EEBRMBEENEMIANR
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as AEBERBEAEABEAANTS
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, WwAE 5‘] fk o B W fﬁ A] BN i A0 5E AR
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and HEERZSH ﬁfr RO KL%
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions AALT TERBEXREENRE
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets BE MZEREBERREATR
held by the Group is the current bid price. SGEBEETHNERNERATSE R
SR - ZMmEBEHERER A&
ERFRENEeREENTSERER

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, these instruments are included in level 2 of the
above table.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

o Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

e The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present
value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield
curves.

e The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, with the
resulting value discounted back to present value.

o Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial statements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets have been impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2(m) to the financial statements. The recoverable amounts of cash
generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management and certain key assumptions, such as passenger-
kilometres yield level, load factor, aircraft utilisation rate and discount
rates, etc.

The Group recognises traffic revenues in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2(e) to the financial statements. Unused tickets are
recognised in traffic revenues based on current estimates. Management
annually evaluates the balance in the SIAC and records any adjustments,
which can be material, in the period the evaluation is completed.

These adjustments result from differences between the estimates of certain
revenue transactions and the timing of recognising revenue for any unused
air tickets and the related sales price, and are impacted by various factors,
including a complex pricing structure and interline agreements throughout
the industry, which affect the timing of revenue recognition.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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R TR
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

The Company operates a frequent flyer programme called “Eastern Miles”
that provides travel awards to programme members based on accumulated
miles. A portion of passengers revenue attributable to the award of
frequent flyer benefits is deferred and recognised when the miles have
been redeemed or have expired. The deferment of revenue is estimated
based on historical trends of redemptions, which is then used to project the
expected utilisation of these benefits. Any remaining unutilised benefits are
recognised as deferred revenue.

Depreciation of components related to airframe and engine overhaul costs
are based on the Group's historical experience with similar airframe and
engine models and taking into account anticipated overhauls costs,
timeframe between each overhaul, ratio of actual flying hours and
estimated flying hours between overhauls. Different judgments or estimates
could significantly affect the estimated depreciation charge and the results
of operations.

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks for aircraft and
engines under operating leases is made based on the estimated costs for
such return condition checks and taking into account anticipated flying
hours, flying cycle and timeframe between each overhaul. These judgments
or estimates are based on historical experience on returning similar
airframe and engine models, actual costs incurred and aircraft and engines
status. Different judgments or estimates could significantly affect the
estimated provision for costs of return condition checks.

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit plans which
provide retirees with benefits including transportation subsidies, social
activity subsidies as well as other welfare. The cost of providing the
aforementioned benefits in the defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially
determined and recognised over the employees’ service period by utilising
various actuarial assumptions and using the projected unit credit method in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(w) to the financial
statements. These assumptions include, without limitation, the selection of
discount rate, annual rate of increase of per capita benefit payment and
employees’ turnover rate. The discount rate is based on management's
review of local high quality corporate bonds. The annual rate of increase of
benefit payments is based on the general local economic conditions. The
employees’ turnover rate is based on historical trends of the Group.
Additional information regarding the retirement benefit plans is disclosed in
Note 36 to the financial statements.
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BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to be recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(j) to the financial
statements, the Group considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent
and feasible tax planning strategies. In the event that the Group’s estimates
of projected future taxable income and benefits from available tax
strategies are changed, or changes in current tax regulations are enacted
that would impact the timing or extent of the Group’s ability to utilise the
tax benefits of net operating loss carry forwards in the future, adjustments
to the recorded amount of net deferred tax assets and taxation expense
would be made.

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of civil aviation, including the
provision of passenger, cargo, mail delivery and other extended transportation
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Services.
Group
=
2009 2008
—EEAE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR T ARBFT
Traffic revenues 8 A 36,924,830 38,844,269
— Passenger — R 32,800,411 33,486,459
— Cargo and mail —GENEE 4,124,419 5,357,810
Ground service income b T AR 75 A 974,732 1,252,468
Cargo handling income EWEERA 296,827 337,773
Commission income el A 206,137 183,129
Others H b 587,133 454,918
38,989,659 41,072,557
Note: it -

Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC, the major elements of the
Group's traffic revenues, commission income, ground service income, cargo handling income
and other revenues are subject to business tax levied at rates of 3% or 5%. The business tax
incurred and set off against the above Group's revenues for the year ended 31 December

2009 amounted to approximately RMB1,019 million (2008: RMB891 million).
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B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Group

&
2009 2008
ZEEBNEF —ETN\F
RMB’000 RMB‘000

AR¥FR ARETT

Other operating income Hith & WA
— Refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies —EMERRBEXRELR
(Note (a)) (i #(a)
— Other government subsidies (Note (b)) — H b BR FT 78 Bk (3% #£ (b))
Other gains H % W =
— Gains on disposal of property, plant and — W KR
equipment
Note:

(a)  Pursuant to Cai Jian (2009) No. 4 issued by Ministry of Finance and Civil Aviation
Administration of China in 2009, the civil aviation infrastructure levies collected from
PRC domestic airlines for the period from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009 will be
refunded. The amount for the year ended 31 December 2009 represents the refunds
of civil aviation infrastructure levies received by the Group.

(b)  Other government subsidies represent (i) subsidies granted by local governments to
the Group, and (i) other subsidies granted by various local municipalities to encourage
the Group to operate certain routes to cities where these municipalities are located.

CODM, office of the General Manager, reviews the Group's internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

The Group has one reportable operating segment, reported as “airline
operations”, which are structured and managed separately. The “airline
operations” comprises the provision of air passenger, air cargo services,
mail and ground logistics.

Other services including aviation training, air catering and other
miscellaneous services are not included within the reportable operating
segment, as they are not included in the internal report provided to the
CODM. The results of these operation are included in the “other segments”
column.

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms
and conditions that would be available to unrelated third parties.

In accordance with IFRS 8, segment disclosure has been presented in a
manner that is consistent with the information used by the Group’s CODM.
The Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment based on financial results prepared under the
PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (the “PRC Accounting
Standards”), which differ from IFRS in certain aspects. As such, the amount
of each material reconciling items from the Group’s reportable segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities arising from different
accounting policies are set out in Note 7(c) below.

R

(a)

(b)

831,749 —
456,268 405,163
1,288,017 405,163
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BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2009 are as follows:

BHE-_ZTEZAEF+_A=1+—RHLHF
EH DI EEN T AR :

Airline Other
operations segments  Elimination  Unallocated* Total
Mgl Hth¥EH
o & o SMEEHE XRHOBWEE* &5t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFLT AREFT ARBFT ARMTT AREFT
Reportable segment revenue IR HRE
from external customers o ;YA 39,727,636 103,695 - - 39,831,331
Inter-segment sales DEEHEE - 126,124 (126,124) - -
Reportable segment revenue BEHHBA 39,721,636 229,819 (126,124) - 39,831,331
Reportable segment profit
before income tax BE D B A A 644,307 18,563 - (22,749) 640,121
Reportable segment assets HEDLEE 69,850,127 1,153,130 (137,660) 1,153,084 72,018,681
Reportable segment liabilities BENHEE 68,068,474 474,739 (137,660) - 68,405,553
Other segment information Hih o ;AR
Depreciation and amortisation TEMEHEER 5,278,242 54,494 - - 5,332,736
Impairment losses BERERX 118,022 202 - - 118,224
Capital expenditure BEARAMETH 8,112,355 70,386 - - 8,182,741
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2008 are as follows: HE_ZZN\F+_A=+—RHILF
EM DI BN TR :
Airline Other
operations segments Elimination Unallocated* Total
Mm%l HtEB
o & SE HHEEE KHEEE* &t
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000
ARETFT ARBEFT AREFT ARETT AR&®FT
Reportable segment revenue HIEPHWRE
from external customers 2 EUA 41,745,906 96,455 - - 41,842,361
Inter-segment sales DEEEE - 171,213 (171,213) - -
Reportable segment revenue WED U A 41,745,906 267,668 (171,213) - 41,842,361
Reportable segment loss/(profit) HE DA
before income tax (B18),/ % 7 (14,136,843) 45,898 = 105,837 (13,985,108)
Reportable segment assets BENHEE 70,762,308 1,183,416 (135,637) 1,373,919 73,184,006
Reportable segment liabilities BREHHEE 83,861,674 523,120 (135,637) = 84,249,157
Other segment information Hib D BER
Depreciation and amortisation WEMBHEER 4,588,298 122,974 - = 4,711,272
Impairment losses BERBERX 2,020,971 1,207 - - 2,022,178
Capital expenditure EAMST H 11,526,771 20,513 = = 11,547,284

*

Unallocated assets primarily represent investments in associates and jointly

controlled entities, and available-for-sale financial assets. Unallocated results
primarily represent the share of results of associates and jointly controlled entities.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

The Group’s business segments operate in three main geographical areas,
even though they are managed on a worldwide basis.

The Group's revenues by geographical segment are analysed based on the
following criteria:

(1) Traffic revenue from services within the PRC (excluding the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong"), Macau Special
Administrative Region (“Macau”) and Taiwan, (collectively known as
“Regional”)) is classified as domestic operations. Traffic revenue
from inbound and outbound services between the PRC, regional or
overseas markets is attributed to the segments based on the origin
and destination of each flight segment.

(2)  Revenue from ticket handling services, airport ground services and
other miscellaneous services are classified on the basis of where the
services are performed.

Domestic (the PRC, excluding Hong Kong, ER

Macau and Taiwan) (PR T8
Regional (Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) R A M@
International [
Total BEr

The major revenue-earning assets of the Group are its aircraft, all of which
are registered in the PRC. Since the Group's aircraft are deployed flexibly
across its route network, there is no suitable basis of allocating such assets
and the related liabilities by geographic and hence segment assets and
capital expenditure by geographic have not been presented.

BERGHR)

BEEBEEEH AEEZ ¥
oy #B 0 = {8 = & a9 3038 [ 8 4
T
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r Uﬂﬂ(E(F%ﬁéJ) oy
R P Bl 1T R (DR P D)
aEmE(s &) - LAT
MIERG M E )R H#

%FEE%HXE’J $$@JHSU\%E’\I
MEBEA - 2HhEEE
MAE g FIT S EER
% [B1 32 AR 7 B Sk B &Y 12 8 1R
ARG M AR B 16 B BE AR
HERAMELERBERA -

%’E%Ec\n}i%

i) REEZERBUA - ESiH
B iR %5 W A & H A A R BR 7%
PT R ER B W AR 1R IR 7
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Group

S
2009 2008
— —EE)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARE TR ARETT

27,482,611 24,810,917

1,986,964 2,496,303
10,361,756 14,535,141
39,831,331 41,842,361
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BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and D EUA 3B sk E 1B
liabilities to the consolidated figures as reported in the consolidated DEEERDBEEES OB
financial statements. WMRINT2EHEBE2EZRALH
Group
-
2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
it ARBTFT AR FT
Revenue A
Reportable segment revenue WMEDHH WA B 39,831,331 41,842,361
— Reclassification of business tax and —EEM R HTEE E R
expired sales in advance of carriage HEEBRANESE (i) (841,672) (769,804)
Consolidated revenue & A 38,989,659 41,072,557
Group
-
2009 2008
—EZhE —ZTTNF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
it ARETFT ARETFT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BADER,(EE)
Reportable segment profit/(loss) WEDBBATEF
(E8) 640,121 (13,985,108)
— Difference in depreciation and — TR BB
impairment charges for aircraft, RITHRBEITE R
engines and flight equipment HMEEBLIXHEZER (ii) (64,988) (517,730)
— Provision for post-retirement benefits —RIK1E TR B (iii) (334,348) (110,458)
— Difference in goodwill impairment -EEBRENEE (iv) - (688,311)
— Others —H 1th 8,420 45,598
Consolidated profit/(loss) before income tax & £ & Al & & (&5 18) 249,205 (15,256,009)

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



R TR
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and s D EUA 3B F sk E B
liabilities to the consolidated figures as reported in the consolidated DESEER D EE ’% & B2 & ff Bt i‘“
financial statements. (continued) MR T 2EHEBEBEZEZRER
(%)
Group
&
2009 2008
—EZhEF —TTNF
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
it ARMF AREFT
Assets & E
Reportable segment assets WMESPHEAERLT 72,018,681 73,184,006
— Difference in depreciation and — M - BB
impairment charges for aircraft, RITHRBEITE R
engines and flight equipment MEBLAHNER (i) 167,912 232,900
— Reversal of revaluation surplus — P $H i 55 A AE
relating to land use rights T E (v) (360,626) (369,046)
— Others —E Ath 25,425 4,030
Consolidated total assets AHEERT 71,851,392 73,051,890
Group
-
2009 2008
—EEAF —ETNF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
T AR T ARBTFT
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities mENDHARER 68,405,553 84,249,157
— Provision for post-retirement benefits —RIKERFIH EE (iii) 1,849,933 1,515,585
— Others —H{th (80,275) (73,343)
Consolidated total liabilities CRR=RE 70,175,211 85,691,399
Notes: AR
i) The difference represents the different classification of business tax and () ZEEREXEHeROHEAEEL
expired sales in advance of carriage under PRC Accounting Standards and TR EETE §U B [50) BX B 7 R
IFRS. AT Ry 7 HEE

(ii)

(iii)

(v)

The difference is attributable to the differences in the useful lives and residual
values of aircraft, engines and rotable adopted for depreciation purpose in
prior years under PRC GAAP and IFRS. Despite the depreciation policies of
these assets have been unified under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards
in recent years, the changes were applied prospectively as changes in
accounting estimates which results in the differences in the carrying amounts
and related depreciation changes under IFRS and PRC Accounting Standards.

In accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards, employees’ post-retirement
benefits are recognised upon payment. Under IFRS, such post-retirement
benefits under defined benefit schemes are required to be recognised over the
employees’ service period.

The basis of recognising the value of the underlying assets and liabilities
acquired in prior years was different under the PRC Accounting Standards and
IFRS. Accordingly the amount of goodwill and impairment of goodwill was
different.
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BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EFENF+=-A=+—HILFE

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities to the consolidated figures as reported in the consolidated
financial statements. (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v)  Under the PRC Accounting Standards, land use rights injected by the parent
company as capital contribution upon restructuring for listing are stated at
valuation less accumulated amortisation. Under IFRS, land use rights are
recorded as prepaid operating leases at historical cost which was nil at the

NN e
o tj/m

(v)

2B
P& E
%E@J/T\ZA@F%ZTFZEEE\EH
&)

p==4
=
7|
=]

7> B A S 18
\*B‘Eﬁéﬁi/\ﬁﬁ?ﬁ}&

(&)

EFPEPEEERT  AAAE
A _E B B R RIS (B A RIRA R
R A]M LA R - DARF A (E R R
AT HESHBIAR o IRIR BIBR AT T #R 5 E

time of listing. Rl » T FREIE RS EMTHE TR
THAFELKEAZT - ARG EH
F AR A E L AN B
Fo
Group
=
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR Fr AREFor
Gain/(loss) arising from fair value movements of METARABEZS KRR (BX)
financial derivatives
— Crude oil option contracts (Note 38(c)) FRomEIRE S 4 (GEFE38(c)) 3,743,746 (6,255,791)
— Other derivatives (Note 36(a) & (b)) ﬁﬁ TET ﬂ (3F #£38(a) & (b)) 30,942 (145,201)
3,774,688 (6,400,992)
Group
£
2009 2008
—EEAE —ET)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR FiT ARBFT
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances IE& %<& E4 KBk 3,502,069 3,259,465
Employee welfare and benefits & 8 8 F & F &= 255,214 227,206
Defined contribution retirement schemes (Note 36(a)) 7€ #8 iR /K € &t #l (1 # 36(a)) 521,596 452,879
Post-retirement benefits (Note 36(b)) BERKZENERGGEIESSD) 440,878 200,603
Staff housing fund (Note 37(a)) ETHREESFES) 323,348 281,776
Staff housing allowance (Note 37(b)) B T &5 % 8L (iF £ 370) 105,772 123,383
5,148,877 4,545,312

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED




R TR
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 47 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&

Details of the emoluments paid to the Company’s directors and supervisors XHERAEFRESFOME B
are as follows: BETHEIHE:
2009
—EEhEF
Salaries and
Allowance Bonus Total
FERBEH® &AL wam
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARM T ARMFT AR¥FT
Executive Directors HITES
Liu Shaoyong*/*** B 45 BB x> - - -
Ma Xulun BAfMm 142 - 142
Luo Chaogeng* B RS - - -
Li Jun* =F* - - -
Luo Zhuping 7 F 182 - 182
Independent non-executive Directors BV EHTE S
Hu Honggao eSS 120 - 120
Peter Lok** L“EE 106 - 106
\Wu Baiwang 2B/ 120 - 120
Zhou Ruijin A& 120 - 120
Xie Rong kS 120 - 120
Liu Keya*** I 106 - 106
Supervisors EE
Liu Jiangbo* 2051 % * - - -
Xu Zhao* % B8 > - - -
Wang Taoying™* F 44 - 44
Yang Jie** 15 R ** - - -
Liu Jiashun* 2K g - - -
Yan Taisheng*** T Zg x> 172 - 172
Feng Jinxiong*** R & I 142 - 142
Total &&t 1,374 - 1,374
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HI I F&E

2008
—ZTENEF
Salaries and
Allowance Bonus Total
e KR B4 wmem
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AER®ETFT ARETFT ARETFT
Executive Directors HITES
Liu Shaoyong* 2EE - - -
Ma Xulun* HAEMm* = - -
Li Fenghua* Tl = = =
Luo Chaogeng* R - - -
Cao Jianxiong* B = = =
Li Jun* =Fg- = = =
Luo Zhuping B 173 - 173
Independent non-executive Directors B EHITEE
Hu Honggao HES 120 - 120
Peter Lok LLER 117 = 117
\Wu Baiwang R A 120 - 120
Zhou Ruijin A& 120 - 120
Xie Rong EIES] 120 - 120
Supervisors E=
Liu Jiangho* 21T %~ - - -
Xu Zhao* % - - -
Yang Jie 152 45 - 45
Wang Taoying oy 3 162 - 162
Liu Jiashun* 2K E* - - -
Total &t 977 - 977

These directors and supervisors of the Company received emoluments from
CEA Holding, the parent company, part of which were in respect of their
services to the Company and its subsidiaries. No apportionment has been
made as it is impracticable to apportion this amount between their services to
the Group and their services to CEA Holding.

*K

These directors and supervisors of the Company retired or resigned during the
year ended 31 December 2009.

These directors and supervisors of the Company were newly appointed during
the year ended 31 December 2009.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, no directors and supervisors of
the Company waived their emoluments (2008: Nil).

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 47 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZENF+_—A=1+—HILFE

None of the Company’s directors and supervisors was among the five RZTETZAFE ARA ALK
highest paid individuals in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009. EFAEREEMN—CEERE
The emoluments payable to the five (2008: five) highest paid individuals are E-RAM(ZTEENFE: A &=
as follows: FAEBNMEFBENT :
Group
%
2009 2008
—EEhF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥ETFT AREFT
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances I& %% EAAKME 3,393 3,159
The emoluments fell within the following band: & &AIMT :
Number of individuals
A
2009 2008
ZEEAF —ETN\F
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T bA T 5 5
During the year ended 31 December 2009, no emoluments were paid by the RBE_ZZAF+_A=1+—
Group to the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as HIEFE AEBLZERBEL
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for BHRAEMBELTES &=
loss of office (2008: Nil). IR SESHFABEEAMME(=Z
TENF |
Group
&
2009 2008
ZEEAF —ET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETFT AR FoT
Goodwill impairment (Note (a)) 2 EOR B (77 #(a) - 993,143
Impairment charge on property, plant and Y3 - W28 R B R E (2 D)
equipment (Note (b)) 16,396 1,441,904
Impairment charge on non-current assets held HEGEHERYEEREG )
for sale (Note (c)) 35,443 235,273
Other impairment charge Hih & ERE 57,578 306,358
109,417 2,976,678

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HI I F&E

Note: TR

(a)  Forthe year ended 31 December 2008, the Group recognised an impairment charge of (a) RZZFENFF+ZA=+—H FEEHE
RMB993 million against goodwill which had previously been recognised in the B Ze T PR B IR T AR
connection with the Group’s acquisitions of airline businesses (Note 18). 4 9.93 BT EY B (FFFE 18) °

(b)  In 2008, the Group performed an impairment test on property, plant and equipment b R-FENF+ZA=+—HF FEEH
(“PP&E") as at 31 December 2008, based on which an impairment provision of Y E - SRR EETT TREAFR - ik
RMB1,442 million was made against certain aircraft model and the related BB REE TE SN BEWA
equipment, reflecting their relatively lower operation efficiency and management's ZIRFEBIRR IR B E B rERE A - B E)
intention to retire them in the near future. In determining the recoverable amounts of WA R (B E#EF - 12 R AT [0 & 5EETHE
the related assets, management had compared the value in use and the fair value TREEEET AR 1442 (87T - Frat E Al
less costs to sell of the related assets, primarily determined by reference to estimated Yol 2 8Bl - NEE B T HHEE E K
market values. KB HENRER A EEREEEE

FAEE)FE - A EBETRRETEa TS
1E1 -

(c)  After assessing the fair value less costs to sell as at the balance sheet date which ) REEBEXH ZAEFXZTEHERE
was primarily determined by reference to estimated market value, an additional HEI BRI HFEIH B EER IR
impairment loss of RMB35 million (2008: RMB235 million) was made against certain LR B 20 BB A B B AR F
aircraft and related flight equipment which have been classified as “non-current 1BE7T T a7 - WIRIRGTE 45 RETHER 1B
assets held for sale” (Note 42). BRI ARKE 035 B (ZFZE/N\F 235

Eor) (:t#E42) -
Operating profit/(loss) is stated after crediting and charging the following items: BERMN(BE)UNNKRKLER T
HABSR:

Group

S
2009 2008
ZEEBAF —TTNF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
it AR¥Fr ARKFT

Crediting: A

Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment M SRR B
& = - 267,084

Charging: k-

Amortisation of intangible assets 8 109,799 110,151
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - HERREITE

— leased —HE 2,189,310 1,913,877

— owned —BE 2,878,040 2,626,652
Amortisation of lease prepayments T8 1 70 & 3R 5 25,686 25,940
Consumption of flight equipment spare parts REFET B 351,151 476,282
Provision for impairment of trade and JIE W BR R B EL e KR

other receivables (B ZE R 8,807 34,760
Auditors’ remuneration % RN B & 12,000 18,000

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 47 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&

Group

£
2009 2008
—EENF —ZET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR%For
Exchange gains, net (Note) e &) 95,379 1,972,350
Interest income B WA 109,925 89,275
205,304 2,061,625

Note: it

The exchange gain for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 primarily related to the
translation of the Group's foreign currency denominated borrowings and obligations under
finance leases at year-end exchange rates.

BUL—FFAF+ A=+ ALFER-FF
NF+=A=+—AEFE BN BIR
A BN B AR A TR AR IR T

TREE S % -
Group
ES
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TFT AR®For
Interest relating to obligations under finance leases @ EHE & EF & 486,845 646,079
Interest on loans from banks and financial institutions 48 17 & % & 4% & & %X 7 & 1,407,053 1,940,171
Interest relating to notes payable EREERNE 83,964 84,050
1,977,862 2,670,300
Less: Amounts capitalised into advanced payments 3 : & AN{b A R TE 3 & 5B (L)
on acquisition of aircraft (Note) (223,222) (342,153)
1,754,640 2,328,147

Note:

The average interest rate used for interest capitalisation is 4.50% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2009 (2008: 5.43%).

R

REBEAFE - AAEFISRAN T ERIE

#450% (ZFZN\EFE : 543%)

Income tax chargedy/(credited) to the consolidated income statement is as follows: BAMABRS AR/ IE D
T
Group
&=
2009 2008
—EENE —TI)\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%Fx AR Fr
Provision for PRC income tax AR BT S R 60,398 35,432
Deferred taxation (Note 35) JE RE B 18 (5 FE35) (7,851) 38,484
52,547 73,916

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EFENF+=-A=+—HILFE

Prior to 2008, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (the “Pudong
Subsidiaries”) located in Pudong District, Shanghai, were entitled to a reduced
rate of 15% pursuant to the preferential tax policy in Pudong District, Shanghai.
Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “New
CIT Law"), which was approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March
2007 and became effective from 1 January 2008, the Company and the Pudong
Subsidiaries are entitled to a transitional arrangement to gradually increase the
applicable corporate income tax rate to 25% over the next five years from 2008.
For the year ended 31 December 2009, the corporate income tax rate applicable to
the Company and the Pudong Subsidiaries was 20% (2008: 18%). Other
subsidiaries of the Company, except for those incorporated in Hong Kong and
subject to Hong Kong corporate income tax rate of 16.5% (2008: 16.5%), are
generally subject to the PRC standard corporate tax rate of 25% (2008: 25%)
under the New CIT Law.

Tax on the Group’s consolidated income statement differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the standard taxation rate of the home country of
the Company as follows:

RZZFEZENFUR AREI KR LEE
MERFERAMOE THEQA(HE
?W% AINAIZEZ EBERFTEN
BHBEEERKR MERBN - BE_FF
J\E — H—Etmﬁm$¥AE%ﬂ
B2EARRRAER-_ZTZTLF=
)EJ+/\E| iﬁm@:}:‘%/\ﬁ ﬂ.i%
FrEE R (FE %R/zm% ZK
BAMNCEAMSHBERE=ZZ A¢
§:2*:¢M£$%%Wﬁﬁ@ﬁ
B25% - RZZTTENFE ARAIKE
iwgﬁﬂ@%m%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmwz
ZNFE:18%) - BaEFMETENN
RARBEBBERTEA165%(=
T)N\F 165%) A EH =N XA
ﬂﬁ&ﬁ%%“?%ﬁi&wﬁ%
BHEA T ERABRERBHRERN(ZF
TN\ 25%) o

AEBERAHMNBEROBIE BAR
AMBEZERNNEMEESE 2E
A ERRAT

Group
£9
2009 2008
—EZhEF —TTN\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BBRAEF S (EBE) 249,205 (15,256,009)
Adjusted by: 3
Share of result of associates and jointly controlled b (i R /NE] 53
entities HREAZEGH EBOES (22,749) (93,718)
226,456 (15,349,727)
Tax calculated at the enacted tax rate of 20% BN MEAENEHRER
(2008: 18%) (20084 : 18%) 45,856 (2,762,951)
Effect attributable to subsidiaries charged B /8 & &) 25% 2K 16.5% FFf 15 &t B R
at tax rates of 25% or 16.5% (2008: 25% or 16.5%) N 5 2 (20085 : 25% 3% 16.5%) (18,353) (67,505)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes el o E A 6,367 6,462
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses RN FERERNTHIGEEIR (30,014) =
Written off of deferred tax asset recognised SREE AR E T AR R
by a subsidiary in prior year BEMEHEE - 34,773
Unrecognised tax losses for the year AREERTFHERANOBREERE 300,830 1,093,350
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deductable SHBAREEABRELENGHEE
temporary differences B AT IK N E 57 HER (1,000,624) -
Unrecognised temporary differences for the year RFEEAREREHEZE 748,485 1,769,787
Tax charge REEH 52,547 73,916
The Group operates international flights to overseas destinations. There was no AEBELERBEME REXLEIH
material overseas taxation for the years ended 31 December 2009, as there are Bt AR APEIEAEBEOREER
double tax treaties between the PRC and the corresponding jurisdictions (including (@ EE /;Pf ) # EX T = % § EHBHH

Hong Kong) relating to aviation businesses.

:-1— Eiifl?ﬁ%éﬁi?l\ﬁ%ﬁw
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 47 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZENF+_—A=1+—HILFE

The Board has not recommended any dividend for the year ended 31 December

2009 (2008: Nil).

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company to the extent of RMB1,074 million (2008: loss

of RMB13,877 million).

The calculation of basic earning per share is based on the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company of RMB169 million (2008: a loss of RMB15,269
million) and the weighted average number of shares of 6,436,828,000 (2008:
4,866,950,000) in issue during the year ended 31 December 2009.

The Company has no potentially dilutive option or other instruments relating to the

ordinary shares.

ARRNEFERABE_FTTAF+
“AZt+-BLEFETREEMRE
(—FENE:T)

ERBRARAEZEETANEF
AR 107418 7T(2008 : BT A R
1BBITETIELBRERAR AWM B
wEAF o

H&%$5§7‘rlj)ﬂﬁ$@ﬂﬁéﬁéﬁﬁ)\
BEFESMNARBI69E T(Z
JUE 18 A R #15269 18 m)fuﬂsim
B 5% 1T /9 0 4 S 5 A% £06,436,828,0008% (=
=T F )\ 4F : 4,866,950,000 %) 5t & -

AR B W R R R R R AR A BB AR
R HEMERITA-

Group
&
Goodwill  Sponsorship Computer
(Note (a)) fee (Note (b)) software Total
(GRS B2HE
(E %) (D) E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFrT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Cost R 2
At 1 January 2008 R-_ZEEZNEFE—HF—H 993,143 320,000 132,141 1,445,284
Other additions HEMARE - - 23,439 23,439
At 31 December 2008 RZZETENFE+=-_A=+—H 993,143 320,000 155,580 1,468,723
At 1 January 2009 RZZETNFE—HA—H 993,143 320,000 155,580 1,468,723
Other additions HEMRE = - 14,570 14,570
At 31 December 2009 R-ZEZBhRhFE+=-A=+—8H 993,143 320,000 170,150 1,483,293
Accumulated amortisation & &t # ﬁé
At 1 January 2008 RZZEENF—HA—AR = 135,064 65,514 200,578
Charge for the year TN - 82,194 27,957 110,151
At 31 December 2008 RZZTEENF+=ZA=+—H = 217,258 93,471 310,729
At 1 January 2009 R-—_ZEZTh&FE—HA—H = 217,258 93.471 310,729
Charge for the year 7N 4F # 8 - 82,194 27,605 109,799
At 31 December 2009 R-BFEAFE+=-HA=+—8 - 299,452 121,076 420,528
Impairment B
At 1 January 2009 R=ZZETNF—HA—H 993,143 - - 993,143
At 31 December 2009 R-TBFEAFE+=-HA=+—8 993,143 - - 993,143
Net book amount BRE }¥ {E
At 31 December 2008 RZZTEENF+=ZA=+—H - 102,742 62,109 164,851
At 31 December 2009 R-BEAE+=-A=+—H - 20,548 49,074 69,622
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EFENF+=-A=+—HILFE

Company
A7
Goodwill  Sponsorship Computer
(Note (a)) fee (Note (b)) software Total
BE B2HE
(FE#(a) (X #(b)) = B B4 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR TrT ARETrT AREFTT ARETT
Cost AR 2
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZENFE—H—H 688,311 320,000 130,745 1,139,056
Other additions HMRE = - 23,321 23,321
At 31 December 2008 R=ZZEZENF+=-_A=+—H 688,311 320,000 154,066 1,162,377
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZTNFE—HA—H 688,311 320,000 154,066 1,162,377
Other additions HMRE = - 11,461 11,461
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBZEAF+=-A=+—H 688,311 320,000 165,527 1,173,838
Accumulated amortisation 2 5+ # £
At 1 January 2008 RZZTEENFE—A—H - 135,064 64,318 199,382
Charge for the year NS - 82,194 27,911 110,105
At 31 December 2008 RZZFEENF+=ZA=+—H - 217,258 92,229 309,487
At 1 January 2009 RZZTEENFE—A—H - 217,258 92,229 309,487
Charge for the year NS - 82,194 26,856 109,050
At 31 December 2009 R-EEAFE+=-A=+—H - 299,452 119,085 418,537
Impairment w1
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZENF—H—H 688,311 - - 688,311
At 31 December 2009 R-—EBEAE+=-_A=1+—8H 688,311 - - 688,311
Net hook amount BR M FE fE
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZNF+_A=1+—H - 102,742 61,837 164,579
At 31 December 2009 R-—BEAE+=-_A=1+—8H - 20,548 46,442 66,990
Notes: TR
(a)  Impairment tests for goodwill (a)  EEARERF
For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company recognised :? FENF+ZA=+—H FEFHHAK
impairment charge of RMB993 million and RMB68S million respectively, against 7153 Bl 5t He 8 A 25 3 T I A B B R AT HE
goodwill which had previously been recognised in connection with the acquisition of TAE%{ 9.93 18T £ 6.88 ET AL 1B 2 ©
airline businesses. The impairment charge recognised represented the amount by R EEFRARE D ELENKE
which the CGU's carrying amount exceeded its recoverable amount. BB =R KA AT B2 BEE0 5
The recoverable amount of a CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculations. % BT A AT Bl £ BB IR R AE FH (B
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by iTE - B e FBAIIEE B ER BT
management. KEEETE -
Management determined budgeted passenger yield increase rate, load factor and EEEREABEXREREL NS ERENE
aircraft daily utilisation based on past performance and its expectations for market BETEEBMANKFIERER « FERFF
development. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to A FIHEERL - FTERANEEREBH
the Group’s business. ALE 3—'1[/)(75%4’?5%.?5/5 453 BRI FFE AR ©
(b)  Sponsorship fees (b) EBE

In March 2006, the Company entered into a sponsorship agreement (the “Sponsorship
Agreement”) with the Bureau of 2010 Expo Shanghai (the “Bureau”) which designated
the Group as the exclusive airline passenger carrier in the PRC to sponsor the 2010
Shanghai Expo. The Company will be entitled to a number of rights, including but not
limited to the use of the Expo logo in the Group’s products, priority to purchase
advertising space at the Expo site etc. In return, the Company is required to pay a
total sponsorship fee of RMB320 million, RMB160 million of which would be paid in
cash by instalments, the remaining RMB160 million would be settled by value-in-kind
services (“VIK”) (in the form of goods or services) to support the 2010 Shanghai Expo.
Accordingly, an intangible asset has been recognised and amortised on straight-line
basis over the period from the effective date of the Sponsorship Agreement to 13
March 2010. The outstanding sponsorship fee of RMB116 million (2008: 178 million)
has been recognised as other payables (Note 30) in the Group’s and the Company's
balance sheet.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 47 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZENF+_—A=1+—HILFE

Group
58
Aircraft, engines and flight
equipment
R RBER
RaORE
Other
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned leases Buildings ~ equipment in progress Total
N E Hitg -
BE HEHA BF BERRHE HBRIRB it
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT ARBFRT ARBTT ARETT AREFTT AREFR
Cost ﬁi A E
At 1 January 2009 \—ZFNE-F—H 34,410,274 35,898,970 3,411,945 4,095,257 513,462 78,389,908
Reclassification to owned assets upon gﬂa EHENHEABEDR
expiring of the finance leases 1,431,513 (1,431513) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back (Note (b)) €% g AT Bl (£ b)) (1,984,281) 590,253 - - - (1,394,028)
Transfers from construction inprogress £ £ 12 T2 i, A - - 138,057 23,704 (161,761) -
Transfers from advanced payments NREBNAEA(ZEY)
on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) 3,482,854 - - - - 3,482,854
Other additions EMRE 4,616,562 448,861 19,849 210,497 355,051 5,710,820
Other disposals Hit i & (690,491) (477,880) (25,481) (244,109) - (1,437,961)
At31 December 2009 RZZENF
+-A=+—-H 41,2124 35,022,691 3,544,370 4,145,349 766,752 84,751,593
Accumulated depreciation ; THE
At 1 January 2009 R-ZEZNE—H—H 14,583,418 6,526,300 181,786 2,360,080 - 24,251,584
Reclassification to owned assets upon gﬂ} ERENHEABEDR
expiring of the finance leases 726,821 (726,827) - - - -
Sales and finance lease hack ERRBERE (1,148,938) - - - - (1,148,938)
Charge for the year KEEME 2,383,158 2,189,310 109,872 385,010 - 5,067,350
Other disposals Hip & (683,869) (477,880) (6,756) (17,521) - (1,340,026)
At 31 December 2009 RZZENF
+-A=+—-A 15,860,596 7510903 884,902 2,573,569 - 26,829,970
Impairment ﬁ EER
At 1 January 2009 R-_ZZNFE—A—H 966,191 473,393 13,094 550 6,623 1,459,851
Charge for the year K EEHE - - - - 16,39 16,39
Sales and finance lease back ERBERE (245,090) - - - - (245,090)
Reversal upon disposal HERER - - (13,094) - - (13,004)
At 31 December 2009 R-_EENE
+ZA=+-H 101 473393 - 550 2019 1,218,063
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December 2009 R_ZENF
+-A=+—-H 24,690,734 27,038,395 2,659,468 157,230 743,733 56,703,560
At 1 January 2009 RZEENE—A—H 18,860,665 28,899,217 2,617,065 1,734,627 566,839 52,678,473

HERTMERNER AR



BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Group
&
Aircraft, engines and flight
equipment
R BHER
AT
Other
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned leases Buildings equipment in progress Total
NEE Hitm#%
BE HERE BF HBIRHXE HBRIR Ch

RMB000 AMB000 AMB000 AMB000 AMB 000 RMB000
ARBTFT ARBTT ARETT AREFT ARBRTT ARETR

Cost BAE
At 1 January 2008 R-_ZENFE—-A—H 32,928,494 71,815,704 2,825,748 3,883,784 480,791 67,934 521
Reclassification to owned assetsupon ~ BEHEZHEBEABEL B

expiring of the finance leases 3,094,561 (3,094,561) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERpERAD (3,085,419) 3,085,419 = = = =
Transfers from construction in progress AR TEE A - - 233,746 19313 (253,059) -
Transfers from advanced payments NREBNREA(LEN)

on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) 411153 3,816,843 - - - 427799
Other additions EMRE 1781272 4,683,699 360498 335,220 345,730 7,506,419
Other disposals Hith it & (719,787 (408,134) (8,047) (143,060) - (1.279,028)
At 31 December 2008 RZBENETZA=1+—H 34,410,274 35,898,970 3411945 4,095,257 573,462 78,389,908
Accumulated depreciation 2HFE
At 1 January 2008 RZEZN\E—A—H 13,165,501 4,820,675 673,892 1,986,752 - 20,646,820
Reclassification to owned assets upon BB EFHMEAEEH 8

expiring of the finance leases 1,580,097 (1,580,097) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERBERRE (1,779.979) 1,779,979 - - - -
Charge for the year AEERE 2,138,172 1913877 108,826 379,654 - 4540529
Other disposals i & (520,373) (408,134) (932) 6,326) - 935,765)
At 31 December 2008 RZZTZNF+ZA=1+—A 14,583 418 6,526,300 781,786 2,360,080 - 24,251,584
Impairment HEER
At 1 January 2008 R=ZFZNF—A—H - - 13,094 550 4303 17,947
Charge for the year REER 966,191 473393 - - 230 1,441,904
At 31 December 2008 RZBENETZA=1—H 966,191 473393 13,094 550 6,623 1,459,851
Net book amount REEE
At 31 December 2008 RZBENE+ZA=1—H 18,860,665 28,899,277 2,617,065 1734,627 566,839 52,678,473
At 1 January 2008 RZBZNE—-A—H 19,762,993 22,995,029 2,138,762 1,896,482 476,488 47,269,754

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



R T R
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Al 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZENF+_—A=1+—HILFE

Company
A
Aircraft, engines and flight
equipment
RE-2BHR
RiTRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned leases Buildings ~ equipment in progress Total
NRE Hiwsx-
HE HEKF BT HERRE HERIRE &t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETFTRT AREFT ARETRT

Cost ﬁi N
At 1 January 2009 \—ZFNE-F—H 28,791,576 31,723,324 1,940,264 2,508,204 415,202 65,378,570
Reclassification to owned assets upon gﬂ EHEINHBARESS

expiring of the finance leases 1,149,574 (1,149,574) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back (Note (b)) €% g AT Bl (£ b)) (1,984,281) 590,253 - - - (1,394,028)
Transfers from construction in progress £ £ 12 T2 i, A - - 63,093 22,268 (85,361) -
Transfers from advanced payments NREBELREA(ZEY)

on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) 2,940,679 - - - - 2,940,679
Other additions HtRE 3,958,228 425,622 39,568 178,938 299,483 4,901,839
Other disposals Hit i & (664,198) (477,880) (4,903) (112,060) - (1,259,041)
At 31 December 2009 “EENF+ZA=1+-H 34,191,578 31,111,745 2,038,022 2,597,350 629,324 70,568,019
Accumulated depreciation R E
At 1 January 2009 RZEZNE—A—H 11,505,397 5,808,513 463,204 1,643,832 - 19,420,946
Reclassification to owned assetsupon BB EFHBEARBED I

expiring of the finance leases 559,825 (559,825) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERBERE (1,148,938) - - - - (1,148,938)
Charge for the year KEEME 2,110,337 1,930,392 60,570 216172 - 4371141
Other disposals Hipih & (657,576) (477,880) (535) (93,955) - (1,229,946)
At 31 December 2009 RZBENE+-A=1+—H 12,369,045 6,701,200 523,239 1,826,049 - 21,119,533
Impairment HEER
At 1 January 2009 R=ZFEZNF—A—H 966,191 473,393 - - 5200 1,444,784
Sales and finance lease back ERBEMD (245,090) - - - - (245,090)
At 31 December 2009 “EENETZA=T—H 121,101 473393 - - 5200 1,199,694
Net book amount QE E E 1E
At 31 December 2009 “ZTNEFTZA=T—H 21,101,432 23,931,152 1,514,783 mzn 624,124 47,948,192
At 1 January 2009 “EENE-A—H 16,319,988 25,441,018 1,471,060 864,372 410,002 44,512,840

HERTMERNER AR



M WmREE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

Company
A7)
Aircraft, engines and flight
equipment
T BEER
BT
Other
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned leases Buildings equipment in progress Total
B & Hips
BE HEREA BT BERERE ERIE EEl
RMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AVB000 RMB000
ARETT ARETrH ARETT AREFT AREFTT ARETR
Cost ﬁi ZF fE
At 1 January 2008 RZZTNF-A—H 271,203,710 23,659,953 1,539,304 2433576 205,951 55,042,494
Reclassification to owned assets upon pﬂ é? % EIHBEAKESE
expiring of the finance leases 3,094,561 (3,094,561) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERBEHEE (3,085,419) 3085419 = = = =
Transfers from construction in progress ¥ £ 2 T 72 $§} A = - 56,226 19314 (75,540) -
Transfers from advanced payments WREBFEAGEN)
on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) 411153 3,816,843 - - - 422799
Other additions HiRE 1,662,101 4,616,658 346,804 150,603 284,791 7,060,957
Other disposals Hit & (494,530) (360,988) (2,070) (95,289) = (952,877
At 31 December 2008 —EENFTZA=1—H 28,791,576 31723324 1,940,264 2,508,204 415,202 65,378,570
Accumulated depreciation i ‘f ?ﬁ E
At 1 January 2008 2% )\ £—R—AH 10,254,289 4333217 409,816 1,460,062 - 16,457,444
Reclassification to owned assets upon pﬂ ERENBRBEABEDE
expiring of the finance leases 1,580,097 (1,580,097) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERpEHEE (1,779979) 1,779979 = = = =
Charge for the year KEERE 1,929,703 1,636,342 h3,734 27,797 - 3891576
Other disposals Hip & (478,713) (360,988) (346) (88,027) - (928,074)
At 31 December 2008 “EZENE+-A=1+—H 11,505,397 5,808,513 463,204 1,643,832 - 19,420,946
Impairment HEER
At 1 January 2008 RZZZENF-F—H = = = = 4,303 4,303
Charge for the year KEER 966,191 473393 - - 897 1,440,481
At 31 December 2008 ZETNF+ZA=1+—H 966,191 47339 - - 5,200 144,784
Net book amount QEE E{E
At 31 December 2008 ZZN\F+-A=+—-H 16,319,968 25441418 1,477,060 864,372 410,002 44,512,840
At1 January 2008 ZZTN\F-RA—H 16,949421 19,326,676 1,129,488 973514 201,648 38,580,747
Notes: T

(a)  Asat 31 December 2009, certain aircraft and buildings owned by the Group and the
Company with an aggregate net book amount of approximately RMB13,678 million
and RMB11,273 million respectively (2008: RMB8,723 million and RMB7,209 million
respectively) were pledged as collateral under certain loan arrangements (Note 32).

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2009, certain aircrafts owned by the Group with
an aggregate net book value of approximately RMB590 million (cost of approximately
RMB1,984 million) were sold to a third party at net book value and leased back by the
Group under finance lease.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZNF+_—_A=1+—HILFE

Group Company
5 A7
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBBEALE —ZTTNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR Fr AREFTT AREFTT ARETFT
Cost 22
At 1 January —A—H&% 1,230,068 1,175,104 551,785 546,404
Other additions H {th 1% hn - 54,964 - 5,381
At 31 December +ZA=+—H#&#% 1,230,068 1,230,068 551,785 551,785
Accumulated amortisation ExtEy
At 1 January —A—B&#% 233,547 207,607 131,513 121,268
Charge for the year KEEFEINE 25,686 25,940 10,641 10,245
At 31 December +-—A=+—H#%&% 259,233 233,547 142,154 131,513
Net book amount REFEE
At 31 December +-_A=+—B#&% 970,835 996,521 409,631 420,272

Lease prepayments represent unamortised prepayments for land use rights.

The Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and the majority of these land
use rights have terms of 50 years from the date of grant. As at 31 December 2009,
the majority of these land use rights had remaining terms ranging from 37 to 52
years (2008: from 38 to 53 years).

AR ER TR # R0 TR £ 3
REHEERE-

AEBEMRAM L EREBLRPE
MmABD L EREFAEFERDE
MEBRFATF- R_FZEAF+
“RA=+—HB KO8 L E A%
R ERFPRR=TLtER+_F
—EENF =T NERT=F)-

Group Company
4 |
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAFE —TETN\EFE ZEBEBRE IZTIZT)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AR®Frn ARETFT
At 1 January —A—H#&®% 6,413,554 6,695,573 6,413,554 6,695,573
Additions 1840 1,927,252 3,603,824 1,927,252 3,603,824
Interest capitalised (Note 13) BEARCH B (EE13) 223,222 342,153 223222 342,153
Transfers to property, plant and BT RN
equipment (Note 19) R EE) (3,482,854) (4,227,996) (2,940,679) (4,227,996)
Transfers to subsidiaries HYHE A A - = (542,175) -
At 31 December +ZA=+—BH#&#% 5,081,174 6,413,554 5,081,174 6,413,554
Included in the Group’s and the Company’s balance as at 31 December 2009, the b‘@ ZEENFTZA=T—H &%
amount of accumulated interest capitalised is RMB517 million (2008: RMB518 RARNBEHTHERETEREFE
million). E.ﬁ'%’]?%}\ RESITERL(ZZEZENF
ARHEBI8E L)

HERTMERNER AR



BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

Company
A7
2009 2008
ZEEBAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBTFTT AER®F T
Investment, at cost "ERKAE 2,523,715 2,523,715
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, all of which are limited liability companies KEEBWNEE 2 MT BARMYAER B
established and operating in the PRC or Hong Kong, are as follows: BEAXRUREENERAEAAR K
Benim T
Place and date of
Company establishment Paid-up capital Attributable equity interest  Principal activities
NRAR RItHRAH BEhEx FE A5 IR A &2 TEEH
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBERAEF —ZT)\E ZBEAFE —TIZ)N\F
RMB000 RMB000
ABEEFT AREFrT
China Eastern Airlines Jiangsu Co., Ltd. PRC 880,000 880,000 63% 63%  Provision of airline
("CEA Jiangsu") 3May 1993 services
HERAMEIHER hE REMTERE
(TR L&) —WA=FRA=H
China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. PRC 950,000 950,000 10% 70% Provision of cargo
("China Cargo”) 22 July 1998 carriage services
HEEEMZEARDA HE REEMELRSG
(Wﬂ%f D) “AMAN\FtAZ+ZH
China Eastern Airlines Wuhan PRC 600,000 600,000 96% 96%  Provision of airline
Co., Ltd. ("CEA Wuhan") 16 August 2002 services
HERIRZREERREAAR  HE REmZE RS
(IRmEE] ZZZ-FE/\R+7H
Shanghai Eastern Flight PRC 473,000 473,000 95% 95%  Provision of flight
Training Co., Ltd. 18 December 1995 training services
EBRARGENERAE HE RERT R RS
“AMARFETZRATNA
Shanghai Easter Airlines PRC 200,000 200,000 10% 70% Provision of cargo
Logistics Co., Ltd. 23 August 2004 logistics services
("Eastem Logistics”) F REEENERE
FERFERDRERRAT ZZEMENAZT=R
(TREWR])
Eastern Airlines Hotel Co., Ltd. PRC 70,000 70,000 86% 86% Provision of hatel services
ERMABEERAA 18 March 1998 primarily to crew members
# FERRRITAE
—AANE=ZA+N\B RAEE R
Shanghai Eastern Maintenance PRC 25,658 25,658 60% 60%  Provision of aircraft repair
Co,, Ltd. 21 November 2002 and maintenance services
TERAREEEERAA HE RERBERER
ZZ2E-F+-A=++tA NER
China Easter Airlines Hong Kong 10,047 10,047 80% 80%  Provision of ticket
Development (HK) Co., Ltd. 20 May 19 sales and logistics
RERFMEER(ER) B REHERER
BRAR “ANRERAZTH BmEaRH%

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

Place and date of
Company establishment Paid-up capital Attributable equity interest  Principal activities
AAER Ryt %Rk AS EWEX FEfh IR A& fE & TEER
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EENE ZTT)\§ ZBBAE -TT)N\F
RMB000 RMB 000
AEEFT ARETRT
China Eastern Airlines (Shantou) PRC 10,000 10,000 55% 55%  Provision of airline
Economics Development Co., Ltd. 18 March 1998 equipment sales
RAMECLE)EE HE EEHEMTAM
ERERAA —AANE=ZRA+/\H
China Eastern Airline Gifting PRC 50,000 50,000 100% 100%  Provision of marketing
Co,, Ltd. 17 August 2007 services
RAMERRBERARF HE HETZEm
ZTTLENAT LA
Eastem Business Airline Service PRC 50,000 50,000 100% 100% Provision of airlines
Co., Ltd. 27 September 2008 consultation services
RAREMERB DA FE TERMEME
ZEEN\FAAZTLH $BHARYE
Group Company
£® AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBAE —TT)N\F —EEAFE Z—ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFrT AREFT AR¥®Frn AREFT
Unlisted investments, at cost I LEMIREBKAE 568,417 808,417 522,058 762,058
Share of results/reserves MRS G 154,605 171,902 - -
723,022 980,319 522,058 762,058

HERTMERNER AR



M HmREE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

The movement on investments in associates is as follows:

REARBERFANSHMT :

Group Company
£ A7
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZAE ZTT)N\F ZBEAE Z—ZTITNF
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ARMTFrT AREFTT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January —A—H#&#% 980,319 601,119 762,058 371,872
Costs of additional investments 3% & Y BR AX - 384,186 - 384,186
Disposal of shares in an associate  {H & B & X &) B% 4 (5 #2)
(Note) (210,000) = (210,000) =
Transfer to available-for-sale ENHEEAHEE
assets upon disposal of shares T REE (30,000) - (30,000) -
Disposal of an indirectly held HEFEEETH®
associate Bt & N A - (3,820) - -
Share of results of associates BhEE QA ¥EE (46,602) 69,668 - -
Share of revaluation on available % 15 Ha% *g* AN aE TR
for sale investments held AEERER
by associates AR 8 E O TE) (585) (19,080) - =
Share of other equity movement N A EMERED
of an associate 49,692 - - -
Dividend received during the year 7 4 Y %) #9 f% 8. (19,802) (51,754) - -
At 31 December +=ZA=+—H#&% 723,022 980,319 522,058 762,058
Note: R -
On 13 April 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with China Aviation Industry /7‘(\\: FENFIHA+=H AR A HEF B
Corporation to dispose 35% interests in Joy Air Co., Ltd (“Joy Air") for a consideration of FTHEEFTRBEZEGZ KSR aHE

RMB210 million. After completion of the disposal, the Company holds a 5% interests in Joy
Air and classifies the investment as available-for-sale financial assets.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+=—A=+—HIFZF

Particulars of the principal associates, all of which are limited liability companies AEBMNETEHERAHAFBEKL
established and operating in the PRC, are as follows: LEBHEREMEAR  HEEEBR
U
Place and date of Attributable
Company establishment Paid-up capital equity interest Principal activities
AAER BRI E R A BEWER FE 15 I A & TEER
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EThE -—ZT)\F ZEBRAE -ZIT)N\F
RMB'000 RMB 000
AREFT ARKFL
Eastern Air Group Finance Co., Ltd. ("EAGF") PRC 400,000 400,000 25% 25% Provision of financial services to group
EMEENBEREAARA 6 December 1995 companies of CEA Holding
(TR B %) R RPERMEEETAA
“WNAEE+ZARA REMK RS
China Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. PRC 350,000 350,000 45% 45% Provision of a\'r catering services
RIMZRRREERAR 17 November 2003 REMEERRE
R
ZEZ=F+-A+tH
Jiangsu Huayu General Aviation Co., Ltd. PRC 110,000 110,000 2% 27% Provision of aviation support services
IHEFTBAMEERAA 1 December 2004 REMELRRE
i
“ZENE+-A-H
Eastern Aviation Import & Export Co., Ltd. PRC 80,000 80,000 45% 45% Provision of aviation equipment,
("EAIEC") 9June 1993 spare parts purchase
RAMEELOERAR e EERH ﬁm R R
(TRAmEHA]) —“AAZEXANA ROIRBEZHES
Collins Aviation Maintenance Service Shanghai Ltd. ~ PRC USD7,000 USD7,000 35% 35% Provision of airline electronic product
FENMEMEEEREERDA 27 September 2002 maintenance services
H R REMGEFEREERS
“EE-FARZT+A
Shanghai Dongmei Aviation Travel Co., Ltd. PRC 51,369 51,369 2% 21% Provision of traveling and accommodation
("SDATC") 17 October 2004 agency services
FEREMERBEERAA e REBRERBEEABERERS
(TREQRD “EEMEFTATHHE
Shanghai Hongpu Civil Airport Communication PRC 25,000 25,000 30% 30% Provision of cable and
Co., Ltd. 18 Octaber 2002 wireless communication services
FRIBRARSREARAR H R REFGRESBARSE
“ZZ_E+ATNR
Eastern Aviation Advertising Service Co., Ltd. PRC 50,000 50,000 45% 45% Provision of aviation advertising
("CAASC") 04 March 1986 agency services
FERAMEEEAERAA e RERERMESER
—“AM\AE=ZAEA
Shanghai Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Engine PRC USD39,500 USD39,500 51% 51% Provision of maintenance of aircraft,
Maintenance Company Limited (Note (a)) 28 March 2008 engine and other related components
TEEERBEDRECERDA # maintenance services
(it Ea) ZFENF=A=FNA RERE DI
HinREB A E 46
Note: iERE
(a)  In 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with United Technologies (a) —EZT)\F - AR A HEELE KT
International Corporation (“Technologies International”) to establish Shanghai Pratt & /Z’%? BERAFREK T T LFEBREEE)
Whitney Aircraft Engine Maintenance Company Limited (“Shanghai P&W"). Shanghai WIEER LA (T EHE [ EEE&R]) -
P&W has a registered capital of USD40 million in which the Company holds a 51% L EEEMERRS 04 (55E7T - ARF
interests. As at 31 December 2009, the Company contributed USD40 million in cash BARE] 51% HIIRHE - BlIE—FFAF+
to Shanghai P&W. According to the agreement, Technologies International has the ZH=+—H  ARE 04 (FETH E
power to govern the financial and operating policies as such the Company accounts FEERLE - REARER  EEBA
for Shanghai P&W as an associate. Bl BIBR 75 IR 2 A #1 8 &R a9 A1 A A

FRETE ARG E’Lﬁﬁﬁﬂ AR L
BEBIERBERA] -
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B RREE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Note: (continued)

(b) The Group's aggregated share of the revenues, results, assets and liabilities of its

iEE ()

(b) AEEBEBHERAGKA - ZE - BE

associates are as follows: REET
Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/(loss)
BE B KA B F ()
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
AR®FT ABR¥FT ABRSFIT AR®FT
2009 ZEENF 3,076,841 2,353,819 911,855 (46,602)
2008 ZEENF 4,326,145 3,345,826 913,845 69,668
Group Company
5 AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EBAE —TT)N\EFE ZEBEThFE —IZTIT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AR®Fr AREFT
Unlisted investments, at cost FELETRENKAE 270,866 270,208 301,802 301,802
Share of results/reserves BOEE BB 101,927 92,124 - -
372,793 362,332 301,802 301,802
The movement on investments in jointly controlled entities is as follows: KRERHEREHEENESHNOT :
Group Company
- AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAFE —TETNEFE ZEBEBREFE —IZTIZT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARETFRT AREFT AR®FRT ARETT
At 1 January —A—H#&# 362,332 336,966 301,802 301,802
Dividend received during the year 7K 45 i B &9 i & (14,000) - - -
Share of results A5 LR 23,803 24,050 - -
Amortisation of unrecognised gain ~ ## 15 ¥ 45 K R
i 658 1,316 - -
At 31 December +=—A=+—H#&#% 372,193 362,332 301,802 301,802

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

Particulars of the principal jointly controlled entities, all of which are limited AEENFEARAEFEREYRF
liability companies established and operating in the PRC are as follows: RIREENEREMTL AT HAR
BERWT :
Company Place and date of establishment Paid-up capital Attributable equity interest Principal activities
RAER RUBERAH EkER EAERAESR TEER
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZBEAE ZTT)\f ZBEAFE ZZI)N\F
ARETR ARKTZT
Shanghai Technologies Aerospace PRC USD73,000 USD73,000 51% 51%  Provision of repair and maintenance services
Co., Ltd. ("STA") (Note (3)) 28 September 2004 RERBEEREERE
LENBRFMERAA FE
(B Fm) (G Ef) ZEIMEARZTNE
Shanghai Eastern Union Aviation Whegls & PRC USD2,100 USD2,100 40% 40%  Provision of spare parts repair and
Brakes Maintenance Services Overhaul 28 December 1995 maintenance services
Engineering Co, Ltd. (" Wheels & Brakes”) $ BUEZHEERE
TERBMERBANEALIR - AARETZAZTAR
BERAA(H&EAZE])
Eastern China Kaiya System Integration PRC RMB10,000 RMB10,000 4% 41%  Provision of computer systems development
Co, Ld. 21 May 1999 RESKZRBRRH
TBRMERITRAENK fE
ARRA “MNERAZT-H
Notes: AtFE
(a)  Under a Joint Venture Agreement with the joint venture partner of STA dated 10 (a)  RIBEARAARIEFRS —EERETR
March 2003, the Company has agreed to share control over the economic activities of —ET=F= FHAZENHERE 5%
STA. Any strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activities of STA ARARIRIZHEE —EEIRET RRAZEHF
require the unanimous consent of the Company and the joint venture partner. A BT BN HIRE o R F
MEBNF B 1 75 RAS SRR HEK AR
A BRI TS — A (EIR B 7 R — Ay
AIE -
(b)  The Group’s aggregated share of the revenues, results, assets and liabilities of its ) AEEBGEHREZEG KA - FE B
Jjointly controlled entities is as follows: ERBENT
Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit
5E B KA Jat Fil
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TFT ARETFT ARETFT AR¥ETFT
2009 —EEAF 431,326 58,533 205,244 23,803
2008 ZEENF 404,888 42,556 187,997 24,050
FEIRAMZERDERAR]
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Group Company
- A FE
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBBRAFE —TENEFE ZEBBhEFE "ITIZ)N\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARETFRT AR®EFrT AR®Frn ARETT
Deposits relating to aircraft under £ 48 & 1 7H & 7R # 48 8 &9
operating leases (Note (a)) FR(GE#(a) 374,233 509,887 278,623 360,061
Prepaid flight training fees (Note (b)) T8 15 7 17 15 Il & (2 (b)) 481,603 337,597 446,108 326,254
Rental and renovation deposits HERNE & 23,586 26,460 234271 26,460
Other long-term assets EMREHBEE 46,890 67,612 36,332 52,576
926,312 941,556 784,490 765,351
Notes: i

(a)  The fair values of deposits relating to aircraft held under operating leases of the
Group and the Company are RMB335 million and RMB249 million (2008: RMB473
million and RMB349 million) respectively, which are determined using the expected
future refunds discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the year end of
0.76%-2.11% (2008: 0.75%—2.79%).

(b)  Prepaid flight training expenses represent the training expenses prepaid for pilot
undergraduates and pilots in service of the Group and are amortised over the relevant
training periods for which the prepayments cover on a straight-line basis.

The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an individual basis,
with the credit periods generally ranging from half a month to two months.

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

(a)  AEERA R AEAS &M SR AR RS Y
TRZ AR BESFABARK 335 FTkK
AR 249 18T (ZFZENF: ARKE473
BEITRARY34918TL) MEAAALIEE
RIRIETAES (I H AR FEARFEZTHZFE
076%-2.11% (= ZFZF/)VFE : 0.75%-2.79%)
FrEY -

(o)  FENTRITIENE B NTEIRTTEBTH LR

HEBRTTRIBIE o 2 ERITHIREM
RIS BEIN B AR -

RTERENEERERERBIZMENE
NEE BEHFEAAEMBEATSE-

EEBERORESTOT

Group Company
& AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEThE ZZTTN\F ZEBBEAF ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBETFRT AER®BTFTT AR®FRT ARETT
Within 90 days A+BA 1,299,761 1,107,765 1,504,084 1,029,828
91 t0 180 days A+—HBZ—B/NA\T+A 31421 24,283 33,353 141,934
181 to 365 days —ANt+—HZE
ZAEA~THA 9,297 30,460 5,016 47,351
Over 365 days BB=AATHA 154,306 128,095 190,450 425,780
1,500,791 1,290,603 1,732,903 1,644,893
Less: provision for impairment of & : Fi& Uk BR 2R (B 8
receivables (129,920) (125,295) (115,243) (110,849)
Trade receivables FE W BR 3K 1,370,871 1,165,308 1,617,660 1,534,044

Balances with related companies included in trade receivables are summarised in
Note 45(b)(i).

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate their fair value.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number
of independent sales agents for whom there is no recent history of default.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

JiE Us BR 3K AR £ A B 5 AR BE A AR RE BB 48
Bl 7R FA 7 72 45(b)i) ©

EWEROEEEERROIE R AER-

AEBTERENERERTDES S
MPEERTHRNZSEEFER -



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZNF+_—_A=1+—HILFE

As at 31 December 2009, trade receivables of RMB104 million (2008: RMB153
million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
sales agents for whom there is no recent history of default. The Group holds cash
deposits of RMB287 million (2008: RMB320 million) from these agents. The

ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Up to 6 months NE A A
6 to 12 months ANETZMEA

As at 31 December 2009, trade receivables of RMB87 million (2008: RMB84
million) were impaired and fully provided for. The remaining impaired trade
receivables relate to customers that were in financial difficulties and only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The factors considered by

management in determining the impairment are described in Note 2(r).

The ageing of impaired receivables is as follows:

RZZEZNF+ZA=+—H EK
BEARARBIUMELT(ZZEZENE: A
ERE153E ) 2 & m BB I & E -
EREBSREZEKAREHRER
RENBYIEP HREBURF, K
SERAHRSSERARKLIETL(Z
ZE)\F: AEmeﬁﬂ it & fE W

BRRE KR ST :

Group Company
53 AT

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAFE —TTN\EFE ZEBETRE —ZIZ)N\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥EFr AREFT AR¥®Frn AREFT
94,840 122,407 15,656 34,950
9,260 30,451 5122 27,800
104,100 152,858 20,778 62,750
R-_ETZAE+_A=1+—8  EK
BERARKIGIET(ZZEZTNF: A
REMET)ELRE LEFRS
BB ERE A THRERKERY
RELELEFEHBRZEONEPS MEHR
B EB 1D FE YRR FR AT 4 U Bl o B R FE R
ERERENZEREAZNTERAS M -

B RBENERRROREDT

12 to 24 months overdue
Over 24 months overdue

B HR12 = 2418 A
@ 24E A £

Group Company
S A FH

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZBEEAFE ZZETN\F ZETAF ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFT ARBETT AREFT ARKTT
32,700 15,665 31,338 268,057
121,606 112,430 159,112 157,723
154,306 128,095 190,450 425,780

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade receivables are as

EWERFORBERENESNT

follows:
Group Company
-3 |
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZAE —TTN\F ZBThE Z—ZZTIT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTFRT AE®EFTT ARBFRT ARETT
At 1 January —H—H 125,295 86,984 110,849 82,834
Receivables written off during F A AR se e &
the year as uncollectible JE U 35X % 58 - (1,027) - (552)
Provision for impairment REFTIRBERE
of receivables 4,625 39,338 4,394 28,567
At 31 December +=—A=+—H 129,920 125,295 115,243 110,849
The net impact of creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have HEWNZBEOSENBELONFEFZE
been included in ‘Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables’ in the BEBEEMNEREP[E KRR REM
income statement (Note 11). Amounts charged to the allowance account are JE W FROR 1B 2 4 IN(I B EEE
generally written off, when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. EPPNMBRMBE -—REETHEHES
L[] %8 SN IR @ Az 8 o

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are denominated in the

AN B W BR R B EE R RS R

following currencies: N
Group Company
-3 A F
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBEBEALE —ZTIENF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®Trr ARETrT AREFT AREFT
Currency g
Renminbi AR 1,019,919 918,691 1,314,257 1,336,121
US Dollars ETT 79,732 51,075 45,106 17,580
HK Dollars g 44,332 48,901 44,332 46,916
Euro B T 56,663 42,706 43,740 24,620
Korea Won a2 M 26,174 9,021 26,174 9,021
Japanese Yen Bt 93,778 56,003 93,778 55,929
Other currencies Hith & ¥ 50,273 38,911 50,273 43,857
1,370,871 1,165,308 1,617,660 1,534,044
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount EREHE EERR 2 7
of receivable shown above. ¥& & bt e WOk e BR @ TE o
Group Company
-3 A F
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBEBEALE —ZTIENF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®Trr ARETrT AREFT AREFT
Restricted bank deposits (Note (a))  BR & 1% R 17 17 7k (it #£(a)) 427,996 2,159,848 421,216 2,082,075
Rebates receivable on aircraft B8 A\ TR M BT 15 18 U2 [B1 40 5K
acquisitions 783,864 930,665 771,255 881,395
Ground service fees I AR 75 & 332,446 321,727 251,263 206,502
Prepaid aircraft operating lease ENREECEERERS
rentals 234,385 249,308 196,003 210,078
Rental deposits HE= 117,472 99,843 97,470 85,678
Custom duties and value added FEUEER RIS ERRER
tax recoverable 55,893 64,501 21,521 23,310
Short term deposits with original ~ #83@ = 18 A 18 %
maturity over three months —FHREER
but less than a year (Note (b)) (£ #(b) 28,454 33,116 21,654 31,860
Amounts due from related W EBEEANRRE
companies (Note 45(b)(i)) (7% FE451b)(i)) 61,397 189,378 1,329,389 772,322
Others H 1ty 493,927 428,493 314,409 297,274
Subtotal /INEF 2,535,834 4,476,879 3,430,180 4,590,494
Less: Bad debt provision S R (B B (165,339) (161,157) (116,179) (111,396)
2,370,495 4,315,722 3,314,001 4,479,098

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

Notes:

(a) The restricted bank deposits represent: i) a security deposit of US dollar 62 million
(RMB421 million equivalent) for crude oil option contracts (2008: US dollar 117 million
or RMB796 million equivalent); ii) a deposit of RMB7 million for notes payable (2008:
RMB17 million).

() As at 31 December 2009, the deposits were RMB and the effective interest rate on
deposits with banks with original maturity over three months but less than a year was
0.36% (2008: 0.36%).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and Company’s cash and cash equivalents are

@ REVMERTEREZS i) FHEEESA
RFELZET 062 18T (FEHARE 421
&) (ZFZ/\F : Exw1.1718x (51E
HIARK 796 187T)) : ii) EITRFERE D
AR 007 8z (ZFZE)\E : 017 87T)
) R-FBZEAFF+—A=+—H ZEHFEH

RARKARZI A A=A ETEH
—FRITEABRXFIE R 036% (—FF
JVEF : 0.36%) °

AEBERARBAREMNBEZFEYN

denominated in the following currencies: REEBERERENNTRNAT :
Group Company

- A FE
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBEBELE —ZTZTNF
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TFrT AREFTrT AREFT AREFT
Renminbi AR 816,538 2,623,585 264,732 1,636,815
HK Dollars BT 470,234 9,433 469,465 5,812
US Dollars eIV 253,776 494,249 224,095 441,671
Euro B ot 43,519 126,695 28,588 95,622
Japanese Yen Ht 30,889 37,657 11,006 22,705
Singapore Dollars T 11,126 42,617 11,136 42,617
Australian Dollars B IT 9,666 18,922 9,741 18,915
Pounds Sterling i 7,860 11,016 7,878 11,016
Canadian Dollars T 3,834 12,394 8,789 12,245
Others Hfh 87,806 74,442 82,800 74,523
1,735,248 3,451,010 1,118,230 2,361,941
The aging analysis of trade payables and notes payable is as follows: ERERRENZENRESTAT :

Group Company

-4 A F
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EBAE —TTN\EFE ZEBTRE —ZTIZIN\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000
AR¥EFrT AREFT AR®Frn AREKFT
Within 90 days N+HUA 5,161,027 3,518,572 5,100,826 3,479,830
91 to 180 days A+—HBHEZE—BNATH 772,255 1,271,555 764,457 1,267,886
181 to 365 days —BNt+—HEZE=BXTHH 157,856 317,695 114,581 166,562
Over 365 days BE=-BAATHH 389,321 351,272 313,684 305,725
6,480,459 5,459,094 6,293,548 5,220,003

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

As at 31 December 2009, the trade payables and notes payable balances of the
Group and the Company included amounts due to related companies of RMB1,013
million (2008: RMB1,692 million) and RMB1,091 million (2008: RMB1,851 million)

respectively (Note 45(b)(ii)).

As at 31 December 2009, notes payable totaling RMB4,936 million (2008:
RMB3,840 million) were unsecured. Part of notes payable's effective interests
rates ranged from 1.6% to 5.9% (2008: 2.9% to 5.9%) and all notes are repayable

within six months.

LY —B=+-A 4%
B0 A 23 ) o B R R B 8
5 7 B A R

10131%75(:22/\ C AR B169218
)M AR 109118 (_2 NE A
R #185118 m)(pﬁﬁ%(b)(n))

R=ZTEZhAhF+=ZA=+—8" FEH
FEREEAEARKIBE m(_ ZN
F:ARMIBLEIT)  EER BHE

H%—Eﬁ%E@?ﬁﬁ%%m%iag%(:%%

N\ :29%%E59%) T A BN RE R
NEAAZ A
Group Company
& A FE
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBEBEALFE —ZTIZENF
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETFRT AR®FT AR®FRn ARETT
Accrued fuel cost TE 1R TR M fin ek B A 2,196,652 3,841,660 2,043,083 3,534,281
Accrued take-off and landing T8 17 e e FE B A
charges 2,331,711 1,879,751 1,791,485 1,563,049
Accrued expenses related to ERREREER
aircraft overhaul conducted 1,389,906 1,256,115 1,099,760 986,055
Other accrued operating expenses 78 1¢ H th & & & F 1,181,390 1,417,988 988,611 1,251,514
Accrued salaries, wages and ERIE HokEF
benefits 1,481,264 1,058,895 1,262,017 860,981
Duties and levies payable MR ENTE 759,446 545,482 602,275 423,527
Staff housing allowance B T (% 5 7 Bh (G #Z370b)
(Note 37(b)) 401,322 386,065 331,563 317,918
Deposits received from ticket REKHEENRBWERMN
sales agents HikA 286,780 320,624 204,731 229,770
Payable to the Bureau of 2010 —E-TFLRttEE
Expo Shanghai (Note 18(b)) JE 1 3Kk (3 FZ 18(b) 116,158 = 116,158 =
Current portion of other long-term £ 4th & Bf & 1& &9 77 &) 30 10
liabilities (Note 34) (FE#34) 76,577 130,460 69,255 121,178
Current portion of post-retirement 3R 4K 18 18 FI| & &
benefit obligations (Note 36(b)) i B 2619 (2 #236(b)) 51,226 46,461 48,193 43,801
Amounts due to related companies & {5 /5 B iE A 7 3K I8
(Note 45(b)ii)) (3 FE45b)ii)) 136,259 106,890 346,733 311,438
Others Hith 1,108,513 1,255,674 971,840 1,104,006
11,517,204 12,246,065 9,875,704 10,747,518

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

As at 31 December 2009, the Group and the Company had 65 and 59 aircraft R-BEEANF+—_BA=+—H K&
(2008: 68 and 61 aircraft) respectively under finance leases. Under the terms of BRARFRNBMEBAESA D FIHEA
the leases, the Group/the Company has the option to purchase, at or near the end T MEE528 FI59Z8 (— = =T )\ £ : 6828 AN
of the lease terms, certain aircraft at fair market value and others at either fair B128) - IRIEBAEKI  KEBEKAR
market value or a percentage of the respective lessors’ defined cost of the aircraft. AIAERE S M EIIEmE L
The obligations under finance leases are principally denominated in US Dollars. MG AFEEIBEBOHEAETH
KRABEREPREREK -BREBEE A
BEFEUETREMNE-
The future minimum lease payments (including interest), and the present value of EEHA(BFEMNB)EKEHAE IR
the minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows: ED5mT:
Group
#
2009 2008
—EEBAF —ETNF
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments Interest payments payments Interest payments
REEES REHEE
BRES R ZHE =EHESE E=) ZBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANREFT ARETFT AREFRT AREFT AREFT AREFTT
Within one year —FR 2,466,415 340,985 2,125,430 2,765,969 848,980 1,916,989
In the second year E_F 2,388,362 294,733 2,093,629 2,704,499 688,327 2,016,172
In the third to fifth year inclusive & =4 & £ H F
(BEERME) 7,405,048 620,147 6,784,901 7,805,669 1,602,339 6,203,330
After the fifth year HEMNE 8,752,687 386,412 8,366,275 11,868,053 1,195,645 10,672,408
Total ] 21,012512 1,642,277 19,370,235 25,144,190 4,335,291 20,808,899
Less: amount repayable within ~ J& : —F R{E &
one year 215 (2,466,415) (340,985) (2,125,430 (2,765,969) (848,980) (1,916,989)
Long-term portion KB H 18,546,097 1,301,292 17,244,805 22,378,221 3,486,311 18,891,910
Company
A
2009 2008
—EENF —ZETNF
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments Interest payments payments Interest payments
REE#RS HEHESE
BRES AE ZHE REMA® A 2 ZBE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANREFLT ARETT AREFRT AREFT AREFTT AREFT
Within one year —F R 2,213,131 297,316 1,915,815 2,458,559 743,497 1,715,062
In the second year -l S 2,130,374 256,296 1,874,078 2,400,584 594,223 1,806,361
In the third to fifth year inclusive E=F Z=F HF
(BREERME) 6,600,565 538,862 6,061,703 6,892,822 1,380,412 5512410
After the fifth year HEE 7,802,646 351,018 7,451,628 10,534,868 1,039,530 9,495,338
Total G 18,746,716 1,443,492 17,303,224 22,286,833 3,757,662 18,529,171
Less: amount repayable within ~ J& : — F N {E &
one year B 1n (2,213,131) (297,316) (1,915,815) (2,458,559) (743,497) (1,715,062)
Long-term portion R HEH 16,533,585 1,146,176 15,387,409 19,828,274 3,014,165 16,814,109
The fair value of obligations under finance leases of the Group and the Company AREBRERAARRMEBEAGBGZ AR
are RMB19,681 million and RMB17,704 million (2008: RMB21,037 million and BB A AREKI96811ETREARK
RMB18,640 million) respectively, which are determined using the expected future MUuET(ZTZTNF: ARK2037
payments discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the year end. BTRARKISMET) MEQLE
ERBEAINRERFREIEMS
FEE

HERTMERNER AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HI I F&E

Group Company
-3 A7
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBEALE —ZTIENF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®Trr ARETrT AREFT AREFT
Non-current FEREBE P
Long-term bank borrowings RAEIRITE XK
— secured — B K 1,566,853 3,350,114 5,695,606 2,189,950
— unsecured — 3K 4 5,438,021 5,237,938 5,206,178 4,855,130
13,004,874 8,588,052 10,901,784 7,045,080
Current B B 10
Long-term bank borrowings RHEITER
— secured — B EA 1,221,829 1,133,836 857,512 742,176
— unsecured — A 2,701,640 5,905,655 2,495,811 5,772,969
Short-term bank borrowings RHBRITER
— secured —BHEA - 1,284,236 - 1,222,953
— unsecured — A 8,406,606 18,189,593 6,866,606 16,325,335
12,330,075 26,513,320 10,219,929 24,063,433
Total borrowings {2 2 8 4 25,334,949 35,101,372 21,121,113 31,108,513
The borrowings are repayable RITEFER T35 ERE A
as follows: B&
Within one year —FR 12,330,075 26,513,320 10,219,929 24,063,433
In the second year B _F 2,714,006 4.147,845 2,354,008 3,569,348
In the third to fifth year inclusive =~ £ =F F FE A F
(PIEEEMF) 6,165,512 3,665,352 5,295,118 2,977,920
After the fifth year A F AR 4,125,356 774,855 3,252,658 497,812
Total borrowings P 25,334,949 35,101,372 21,121,713 31,108,513
Notes: TR
As at 31 December 2009, the secured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company for the REZFENFFT—A=1—H XEFAREXLF]
purchases of aircraft were secured by the related aircrafts and buildings with an aggregate IS A B TR RIEFIER dp - AERE
net book amount of RMB13,678 million and RMB11,273 million respectively (2008: RMB8,723 EERARKE 13678 (BT RARME 11273 (BT (=
million and RMB7,209 million) (Note 19). TE)N\F : AR 723 (BT RARKE 7209 f&7T)
(;tFE19) -
Certain unsecured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company totaling of RMB447 KK B R K2 B BB (7 R A RITE G A R
million and Nil million respectively (2008: RMB957 million and Nil) were guaranteed by CEA 447 BT REL (ZZEFENF : ARKIS7 B
Holding (Note 45(c). REx) BPEIRAIEBER (FFFE 450)) °

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 47 5.
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The terms of the long-term bank loans are summarised as follows: RERITEROGERIBEFOT -
Group Company
Interest rate and = A
Currency final maturities 2009 2008 2009 2008
WE ERAERIHA ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBBELE —ZTTNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TrT AREFTrT AREFT AREFT
RMB denominated Interest rates ranging from 4.37% to 6,535,520 6,898,178 5,057,500 5,042,498
AR 6.97% per annum with final maturities
through to 2017.

FHRNTL43IEECITEF S
BREZE—+FE%BIH

U.S. dollar denominated  Interest rates ranging from 3 month 10,279,569 8,617,707 9,084,353 8,406,069
ET LIBOR +0.25% to 6 month LIBOR+4%

per annum with final maturities through

to 2021

& F E A =18 A LBOR+0.25/F &
7~ {E A LIBOR+4 8 T~ %5 -

BREZE-—FEEHH
EURO denominated Interest rate is 6 months LIBOR +0.6% 113,254 111,658 113,254 111,658
BX 7T with final maturity through 2010.

% 8 5% 5 75 18 A B
LBOR+0BE % @ AR =
“E-TERKIY

Total long-term bank loans

& B8 SR 4B 5T 16,928,343 15,627,543 14,255,107 13,560,225

Note: A

(a)  The fair value of long-term borrowing of the Group and the Company are RMB17,051 @ AEERAFAHRBESFZ AL BES
million and RMB14,332 million (2008: RMB15,826 million and RMB13,684 million), B BA R 17051 xR A R 14332 18
which are determined using the expected future payments discounted at prevailing T (2008 F - ARKE 15826 (BT RA R
market interest rates available to the Group and the Company for financial 136.84 187T) « A A7 BEEIRIETEEZ 1T
instruments with substantially the same terms and characteristics at the balance K URREERBERAAREBFEL
sheet date. A AR ERIEA R EH T AFE

T35 FI| ARGt H A

(b)  Short-term borrowings of the Group and the Company are repayable within one year b)) FEBRERAHGEEHEXG B —F
with interest charged at the prevailing market rates based on the rates quoted by the KABENER EFEREEZRF
People’s Bank of China. As at 31 December 2009, the interest rates relating to such ARBRITHEHEEF EHITHT
borrowings ranged from 0.33% to 7.47% per annum (2008: 2.7% to 7.47% per SHEEET R-_FEFENFF+ A=
annum). During the year ended 31 December 2009, the weighted average interest rate +— H - 155 15 5 89 F F E ) 10.33%
on short-term bank loans was 5.14% per annum (2008: 6.36 % per annum). 2747% (20084 - 27% £747%) R = F

FEANFE+ZFA=+—HEHEFH M
1 14 4F FI| F /55.14% (2008 4F - 6.36%)

(c)  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: (c) ENEIRE 2R TS B M B8 -
Group Company
5= Ad

2009 2008 2009 2008
—gBnE —TENF —gEnE —FENE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFT ARETFT AR¥TFT AR¥FT
Renminbi ARH 12,064,354 21,955,769 9,046,335 18,262,088
US Dollars ES 13,157,341 13,007,688 11,962,124 12,734,767
Euro BT 113,254 111,658 113,254 111,658
HK Dollar BT - 26,257 - -
25,334,949 35,101,372 21,121,713 31,108,513
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Group Company
- AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAFE —TETN\E ZEBEBhEFE IZTIT)N\F
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARETFrT AREFT AR®Fn ARETT
At 1 January —A—H#&#% 1,534,018 956,910 1,168,690 731,371
Additional provisions NEFEHIR 588,745 618,555 234,529 431,319
Utilisation REE XA (275,008) (41,447) (120,817) =
At 31 December +-—A=+—H#&% 1,847,755 1,534,018 1,282,402 1,168,690
Less: current portion SR B R D (609,884) (213,830) (183,099) (139,710)
Long-term portion R HEI B4 1,237,871 1,320,188 1,099,303 1,028,980
Provision of operating lease aircraft and engines return condition check represents KEMHEEREREHHER RS AE
the present value of estimated costs of major return check for aircraft and engines ERIELETEHERMK R BB IKATES
under operating leases as the Group has the responsibility to fulfill certain return BREREBRORE  HR U FRHE -
conditions under relevant leases. AEBEEBREEAHEHERENR
BAIRH -
Group Company
& A7
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EBAE —TT)N\EFE ZEBBhE —IZTIT)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Fr ARKFT AR¥TT AREFT
Long-term duties and levies payable = £ & < B8 7% K £ b 7% 18 731,369 805,794 652,378 713,522
Fair value of unredeemed points HIRE AT E R N R EE
awarded under the Group’s BromArEE
frequent flyer program 442,623 364,858 442,623 364,858
Payable to the Bureau of 2010 —EZ-THELEtHEE
Expo Shanghai (Note 18(b)) JiE 15 3% (32 #E 18(b)) - 177,883 - 177,883
Long-term payable to Aviation FERAMZERT
China Civil Flight Institute Bpr & B e 3K - 30,000 - 30,000
Deferred gains on sale and & 1% 15 T 7R MR RE U 2
leaseback transactions of aircraft 8,138 14,549 8,138 14,549
Other long-term payable H b K H FE A R 91,870 58,135 87,524 56,319
1,280,000 1,451,219 1,190,663 1,357,131
Less: Current portion (Note 30) B EB D (A FE30) (76,577) (130,460) (69,255) (121,178)
Long-term portion RHEEH 1,203,423 1,320,759 1,121,408 1,235,953

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Al 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right of offset and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same

ERAEERMASHEALRE B Rk
A-—EEKE ATSREERBEE

authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are

shown in the balance sheets:

HREERIRBEEAEE - HHR T
I EREBEERBERAINER:

Group Company
&5 |
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —ETNF —EETAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB 000
AR¥TFT AREFT AREFT AREFTT
Deferred tax assets FELERIBEE
— Deferred tax asset to be — 128 A A LT B IR &
utilised after 12 months EERBEAE 82,212 79,802 - -
— Deferred tax asset to be —12M& A LA 7] B 38 /Y
utilised within 12 months BELEFRIBEBEE 1,476 2,145 - -
83,748 81,947 - =
Deferred tax liabilities FEFHBEAE
— Deferred tax liability to be — 128 A LA LRI B3R A
realised after 12 months FELEFTEE & (51,539) (55,444) - -
— Deferred tax liability to be — 1218 B AR AT B 3R &Y
realised within 12 months EEFIE A& - (2,145) - =
(51,539) (57,589) - =
Movements in the net deferred taxation asset/(liability) are as follows: EERBRFEE,/(ABE)NEHUT
Group Company
- AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF —EENE —ET)NEF
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥TT AREFT AREFT AREFTT
At 1 January —A—H&% 24,358 62,842 - =
Credited/(charged) to income FEERE®RE (EHE)
statement (Note 14) (FE#14) 7,851 (38,484) - =
At 31 December +-—A=1+—H#&% 32,209 24,358 - -

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & = — &

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

The deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within RZZEZARF+ZA=Z+—RH EE
the same tax jurisdiction) were made up of the taxation effects of the following: BHEEERBGEER —FEAHKE T
HATMAERE LN TR B EHEX
Group Company
-3 A
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAFE ZZTT)N\F ZBEBEALFE ZTZENF
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥TrT ARETrT AREFT AREFT
Deferred tax assets: RIEFIIE A E
Tax losses carried forward BB ERER - 1,846 - -
Impairment provision for obsolete ¢ # :& 5 = (4 89 (R & £ &
flight equipment spare parts 78,634 78,634 74,872 74,872
Impairment provision for JE W RO B
receivables 68,553 68,553 52,872 52,872
Impairment provision for property, — ¥7% - # 22 KRB E
plant and equipment /i P 170,808 170,808 170,451 170,451
Provision for return condition 45 TH R I B B
checks for aircraft and engines E s EE
under operating leases 152,231 152,231 135,196 135,196
Provision for frequent flyer program % R E A 2l FH IR E 13,619 13,619 13,619 13,619
Financial derivative liabilities REECREE 132,732 313,488 132,732 313,488
Provision for post-retirement E K 1% 18 F| = {5
benefits 271,672 271,672 247,424 247,424
888,249 1,070,851 827,166 1,007,922
Deferred tax liabilities: IR AE I8 B &
Depreciation and amortisation I E R (855,272) (1,024,173) (826,398) (985,602)
Financial derivative assets X5 REE (768) (22,320) (768) (22,320)
(856,040) (1,046,493) (827,166) (1,007,922)
Movements of the net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of the Group for the year: BEEHBFEE,/ (BE)NESHUT :
(Charged)/
At the credited (Charged)/
beginning to income credited At the end
of the year statement to equity of the year
FIHE &
(f&|)/ H#HEE
FHHE 818 (B1H) MREAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFrT ARETRT ARBFT AREFT
For the year ended —ETNEFEFERN
31 December 2009
Tax losses carried forward BB ERER 1,846 (1,846) - -
Impairment provision for obsolete ¢ # :& 5 = (4 &9 R & £ &
flight equipment spare parts 78,634 - - 78,634
Impairment provision for & U FOR B 2 B
receivables 68,553 - - 68,553
Impairment provision for property, — ¥7% - # 22 M R B E
plant and equipment /i 1% 170,808 - - 170,808
Provision for return condition 45 TH B R % B B
checks for aircraft and E THEEE
engines under operating leases 152,231 - - 152,231
Provision for frequent flyer program % ik & 5+ 21 51 12 £ & 13,619 - - 13,619
Financial derivative liabilities RHEMEEBMEE 313,488 (180,756) - 132,732
Provision for post-retirement RAIKIE 18 T £
benefits 271,672 - - 271,672
1,070,851 (182,602) - 888,249
Depreciation and amortisation e KN (1,024,173) 168,901 - (855,272)
Financial derivative assets REUEEREE (22,320) 21,552 - (768)
Net deferred tax assets BT IBEEFRE 24,358 7,851 - 32,209

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Al 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFE

(Charged)/
At the credited (Charged)/
beginning to income credited At the end
of the year statement to equity of the year
AE £
f§1E) /  HE=miEES
FHHE BI15 (B1E) L 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBEFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
For the year ended RZZEZENFFERN
31 December 2008
Tax losses carried forward M EE &S 317,392 (315,546) — 1,846
Impairment provision for obsolete R 1 3% 4 = 14 1 (R & & 45
flight equipment spare parts 138,783 (60,149) - 78,634
Impairment provision for E U TR B E
receivables 79,195 (10,642) = 68,553
Impairment provision for property, %) % - # 23 & R & R (B
plant and equipment A - 170,808 - 170,808
Provision for return condition EETH S R N B E
checks for aircraft and engines REREERE
under operating leases 96,834 55,397 - 152,231
Provision for frequent flyer program & ik & 5t &l 5T IR 2 /& = 13,619 = 13,619
Financial derivative liabilities RpMEEHEE 10,449 303,039 = 313,488
Provision for post-retirement RN AR R A
benefits 351,283 (79,611) = 271,672
993,936 76,915 — 1,070,851
Depreciation and amortisation IreE Ly (931,094) (93,079) - (1,024,173)
Financial derivative assets REMEMEE = (22,320) - (22,320)
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ELER B EE /(& 1E)
F R 62,842 (38,484) = 24,358
In accordance with the PRC tax law, tax losses can be carried forward to offset BEHEPEBEE BEBEEITRAEER
against future taxable income for a period of five years. As at 31 December 2009, HHEHARERBEUA - R_ZEZTNEF
the Group and the Company had tax losses carried forward of approximately +TZA=+—H AEEBRAQFAH
RMB12,586 million and RMB9,469 million respectively (2008: RMB11,465 million B EEESHD A ARKI12581E T

and RMB8,778 million respectively) which will expire between 2010 and 2014,
and which are available to set off against the Group companies and the Company’s
future taxable income. As at 31 December 2009, the Group and the Company did
not recognise RMB3,147 million and RMB2,367 million respectively (2008:
RMB2,864 million and RMB2,195 million respectively) of deferred tax assets
arising from tax losses available as management did not consider it probable that
such tax losses would be realised before they expire.

RARMBUSEIL(ZFTENF: AR
¥ 1146518 T R AR ¥8778E L) + AT R
:%—fi :A—Eiﬂ%mmﬁ
AEBARDRKRADAKRKERE
WA-BE_ZTEZNAF+=_A=+—
At AREBEREHEBOHEBEE
BEEEHAI AT HAAN TR D
A& E R AR R R BB AR
REOBELEHEERED B R ARKNL
BETRARERBOIET(ZZZT N\ F:
AR ¥ 286412 &AEM%% JT) °
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BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

The Group companies participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes organised by municipal governments of the various
provinces in which the Group companies operate, and substantially
all of the Group's PRC employees are eligible to participate in the
Group companies’ retirement schemes. The Group companies are
required to make annual contributions to the schemes at rates
ranging from 20% to 22% on the employees’ prior year salary and
allowances. Employees are required to contribute to the schemes at
rates ranging from 7% to 8% of their basic salaries. For the year
ended 31 December 2009, the Group's pension cost charged to the
consolidated income statement amounted to RMB390 million (2008:
RMB360 million).

The Majority of the Group’s PRC employees participate in the medical
insurance schemes organised by the municipal governments, under
which the Group companies and their employees are required to
contribute to the schemes approximately 12% and 2%, respectively,
of the employee’s basic salaries. For those employees who
participate in these schemes, the Group has no other obligation for
the payment of medical expense beyond the annual contributions.
For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group’s medical insurance
contributions charged to the income statement amounted to RMB132
million (2008: RMB93 million).

In addition to the above defined contribution retirement schemes, the Group
provides retirees with other post-retirement benefits including
transportation subsidies, social function activities subsidies and other
welfares. The expected cost of providing these post-retirement benefits is
actuarially determined and recognised by using the projected unit credit
method, which involves a number of assumptions and estimates, including
inflation rate, discount rate and employees’ turnover ratio.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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R T R
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Al 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 B ZE —FZENF+_—A=1+—HILFE

The post-retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheets EEEBGBERPMERNEER
are as follows: WigEAERERFENRT :
Group Company
S D F]
2009 2008 2009 2008
Z—EBAE —TT)N\EFE ZEBTRE —ZTIT)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FrT ARKFT AR®TFrT AREFT
Present value of unfunded TEESHES
post-retirement benefit RHRzBEMNER
obligations EHEHRE 4,490,477 4,481,420 3,978,333 3,941,724
Unrecognised actuarial losses AEZHNRBEE X (2,640,544) (2,965,835) (2,333,591) (2,611,045)
Post-retirement benefit & B RN 12 43 A
obligations B HERE 1,849,933 1,515,585 1,644,742 1,330,679
Less: current portion (Note 30) & : 7 &h &8 1D
(i #30) (51,226) (46,461) (48,193) (43,801)
Long-term portion iR ) 1,798,707 1,469,124 1,596,549 1,286,878
Changes in post-retirement benefit obligations are as follows: EERKEENEREBNASE
ERESMT
Group Company
& |
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAF —TT)N\F ZEBEREFE —ZTZT)\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTFRT AER®FT AR®Frn ARETT
At 1 January —A—B#&&% 1,515,585 1,405,127 1,330,679 1,226,777
Costs charged in the income FFAFEERN
statement BBEEA 440,878 200,603 405,468 181,309
Payments SRR (106,530) (90,145) (91,405) (77,407)
At 31 December +-—A=+—H#&#% 1,849,933 1,515,585 1,644,742 1,330,679
The costs of post-retirement benefits are recognised under wages, salaries BREBANEBEINALE  #
and benefits In the income statements as follows: TLENERSD WEREKFE
R R R R R
Group Company
5 |
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBAE —TT)N\F ZBTRE —ZTIT)\F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBTFRT AE®ETFTT AR®FRT ARETT
Current service cost EHREER 156,000 74,478 152,854 71,552
Interest cost PSR- 169,318 102,009 149,684 89,145
Actuarial losses recognised MROBERL 115,560 24116 102,930 20,612
Total (Note 9) WEE(EEY) 440,878 200,603 405,468 181,309
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as REEEBBERBETEREMAER
follows: BT
Group and Company
KEERLA
2009 2008
ZBEEAF —ETNF
Discount rate iR =x 4.25% 3.75%
Annual rate of increase of per capita benefit payment X E E @AM T FE K X 3.00% 3.00%
Employee turnover rate EEMAKE 3.00% 3.00%
Mortality rate (g 9.07% 8.80%
Medical inflation rate BEBERE 5.00% 5.00%

BRI Az

e BRAE



BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # %2 —EFENF+=-HA=+—HILFE

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is
required to contribute to the State-sponsored housing fund for its
employees at rates ranging from 7% to 15% (2008: 7% to 15%) of the
specified salary amounts of its PRC employees. At the same time, the
employees are required to contribute an amount equal to the Group's
contribution. The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of the fund
contributed under certain specified withdrawal circumstances. For the year
ended 31 December 2009, the Group's contributions to the housing funds
amounted to RMB323 million (2008: RMB282 million) which has been
charged to the consolidated income statement. The staff housing fund
payable as at 31 December 2009 is RMB20 million (2008: RMB25 million).
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

The Group also provides staff housing allowances in cash to eligible
employees who have not been allocated with any housing quarters or who
have not been allocated with a quarter above the minimum standard as set
out in the Group's staff housing allowance policy introduced in October
2003 (the “Housing Policy”) based on the area of quarter to which they are
entitled and the unit price as set out in the Housing Policy.

The total entitlement of an eligible employee is principally vested over a
period of 20 years. Upon an eligible employee’s resignation, his or her
entitlement would cease and any unpaid entitlement related to past service
up to the date of resignation would be paid. As at 31 December 2009, the
present obligation of the provision for employee’s staff housing entitlement
is RMB401 million (2008: RMB386 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the staff housing benefit provided
under the Housing Policy amounted to RMB106 million (2008: RMB123
million) which has been charged to the consolidated income statement.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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R T R
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

Group and Company

EEKRAQTF
Assets Liabilities
BE 8E&
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAE ZZTT)N\F ZBEAE ZTITN\F
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ARMTFT AREFTT AREFT AREFTT
At 31 December +-_A=+—HB#&%
Interest rate swaps (Note (a)) MEF#HEQ(GEEE) - 988 154,871 182,971
Forward foreign exchange SNEE IR BR & &) (77 ()
contracts (Note (b)) - - 77,016 138,760
Crude oil option contracts (Note (c)) & i BA# & % (it #(c)) 3,490 123,010 897,744 6,319,868
Total E&r 3,490 123,998 1,129,631 6,641,599
Less: current portion B E B
— Interest rate swaps —FMEEBED - = (67,728) (41,668)
— Forward foreign —NERPELD
exchange contracts - = (40,814) (94,539)
— Crude oil contracts —FRAEEEN (3,490) (123,010) (897,744) (6,319,868)
(3,490) (123,010) (1,006,286) (6,456,075)
Non-current portion I 7 B 2 10 - 988 123,345 185,524
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the THREEH FERRO &SRR &
derivative assets in the balance sheet. EREEABRANMEEENATE
8o
Notes: itiE

(a) Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to reduce the risk of changes in market interest
rates (Note 3(a)fii)). The Group's interest rate swaps qualify for hedge accounting. The
interest rate swaps entered into by the Group are generally for swapping variable
rates, usually referenced to LIBOR, into fixed rates and are accounted for as cash flow
hedges. Other interest rate swaps are for swapping fixed rates into variable rates and
are accounted for as fair value hedges. As at 31 December 2009, the notional amount
of the outstanding interest rate swap agreements was approximately US$388 million
(2008: US$471 million). These agreements will expire between 2010 and 2018.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these interest

(a) FIEGHREHN

RIEEER - K=

N5 (B3 B R T R T 5 R R E By
BB (3EFE 3(a)lii) o AEEZE uTﬁ‘Pﬂ x5
HREKFEEHETHEFIRI - BH X
BB & A2 #4552 LIBOR FEBH #Y)F B 7| = #% 15
REEFE BRESHEES  AME
57%#5@@?/*@%%?@%/? BRA

FAFF+-H=+—
g o f/ﬁ#ﬁﬁ?’kx%ﬂ’]ﬂfﬁﬁ/{ﬁ%%ﬁ\

BE 4973 3.88 1%%7% (ZZFZNF 471 (&

%r)  WHR=
FHf

—FFEE_F—)\FfF

RERZFEGRENERRFBR RIS

rate swaps have been dealt with in the income statements as follows: EEZBZTIT :
Group
£5
2009 2008
—EENF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR%FT AREFT
Realised (losses)/gains (recognised in profit and loss) EEFHE (18%) ek (GHAIEz) (77,047 10,083
Unrealised mark to market gains/{losses) REE (Wzs) ~ (FB%)
— cash flow hedges (recognised in equity) — HenER (GTABARANE) 56,112 (126,138)
— fair value hedges (recognised in profit and loss) — AR EEER (A AE2) (27,530) (49,535)
(48,465) (165,590)

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Notes: (continued)

iR (H)

(b)  Forward foreign exchange contracts (b) IMNEEHEH
The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the risk of changes in K BB NE R B A K KPR A
currency exchange rates in respect of ticket sales and expenses denominated in SMNEYTA K 75 LA SME 35 11 ) & A B BE A FE
foreign currencies (Note 3(a)(i)). The Group’s forward foreign exchange contracts FRE R (AR 3a)i) - XEBELTH
qualify for hedge accounting. These contracts are generally for selling Japanese Yen SMERBIE H1F & BRI E 5T 6 E IR -
and purchasing U.S. dollars at fixed exchange rates and are accounted for as cash HA KR EHRUE CEREEATLSE
flow hedges. Other forward foreign exchange contracts are for purchasing Japanese BAZET BRESTEEL  EMIMNE
Yen and selling U.S. dollars at fixed exchange rates and are accounted for as fair BHAEHEUETEEXEAETREERH
value hedges. As at 31 December 2009, the notional amount of the outstanding T BRALBEER  —FENF+=
currency forward contracts was approximately US$82 million (2008: US$121 million), A=+—A8 " HFEHAXZHINEER
which will expire between 2010 and 2017. BRI EELENR082 EETL (ZFF
JVE 121 (BFT) AR —FE—FFF
T FREFIE -
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts REZINEREVERL BB RAA
have been dealt with in the income statements as follows: EEZEBZTLT -
Group
==
2009 2008
—EENF ZEFNEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT
Realised gains (recognised in profit and loss) EEFH WKz (5IAEZ) 45,983 14,759
Unrealised mark to market gains/[losses) EBW  (1B%)
— cash flow hedges (recagnised in equity) — B nERS (FIABAXRTE) 3272 (44,222)
— fair value hedges (recognised in profit and loss) — AR EEEE (FAAEZR) 58,472 (95,666)
107,727 (125,129)
(c)  Crude oil option contracts c) FHHIESH

The Group enters into crude oil option contracts to reduce the risk of changes in
market oil/petroleum prices as a hedge against aircraft fuel costs. The crude oil
option contracts used by the Group are normally structured to include a combination
of both put and call options which allow the Group to lock in fuel prices for specified
volumes within a price range. In each option contract, the call options price at which
the Group is effectively entitled to buy fuel will be higher than that at which the
counterparty is effectively entitled to sell.

The Group did not enter into crude oil option contracts in 2009. All existing crude oil
option contracts as at 31 December 2009 were entered into by the Group prior to
2009. None of the crude oil option contracts entered into by the Group qualified for
hedge accounting, the realised and unrealised mark to market gains/(losses) of the
crude oil option contracts during the year were recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

RIEAE TS5 B i (8 15 2 B) %
MR a7 - REBFE TETEHE
BEK o AEBZET R H S K8+
BRBEIEETERPRERELSE I
E—ERE LS EEH A EEEHEE
—EERH - EF— ) FHREE KT - K
KRB RGE T BRBANBAIERES
RRZHFHEFHERET -

IR AR F AR AT E R A
B MR EER -EENFF A=
T — B AF 89 1 8 R & 6 IR e B A #4915
BFENFUFFET o KEBFTFF Y 5
AR EI R B REE TR B G H
&1t ERABEEHEREELRAE
Bz (JBX) BEERFTA R GIFER -



R T R
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Crude oil option contracts (continued)

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts
have been dealt with in the income statements.

iR (%)
c) FHAESH (&)

ZEGKIEELNE BERIAELR K
2 FIIRKEF AT ©

Group
EJC ]
2009 2008
ZEEAF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR Fr AREFT
Realised losses EEH(EX) (1,558,858) (8,577)
Unrealised mark to market gains/{losses) REHWz S (1B%) 5,302,604 (6,255,791)
3,743,746 (6,264,368)

The fair value of crude oil option contracts is determined by reference to mark-to-
market values provided by counterparties applying appropriate option valuation
models (i.e. mean regression model using the Monte Carlo Simulation Process). Key
parameters used in the valuation models include volatility, credit spread, long run
mean and mean reverting ratio at date of valuation.

Assets at fair

Bt RIS R AR EFARZEF i
R IE AR T E =7 T I B E A AE
FHERE (P10 - GEEFRE RS R
EBERATE) ATERRUREHEAR - BE
PR T BEIE R RR B AL E Y
BKEBE - SHZE  REGEEELGE
LIRS

value through Derivatives
Loans and the profit used for Available-
receivables and loss hedging for-sale Total
NAREBE
FEE
BNk H#3H:xA REESHWN A EHE
ERHE BRNEE fTEITA SCREE At
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFRn AREFT ARETT ARETR AREFR
Balance 31 December 2009 ZZ2TNFETZA
=+—H
Assets as per balance sheet BERBRAMEE
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ &] fit 1 & & B & & - - - 57,269 57,269
Derivative financial instruments TETA - - 3,490 - 3,490
Trade receivables JE U BR X 1,370,871 - - - 1,370,871
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ JER F - FR R H 4t
receivables excluding W T e E
prepayments KN E 1,993,096 - - - 1,993,096
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBLSEY 1,735,248 - - - 1,735,248
Total ‘i 5,099,215 - 3,490 57,269 5,159,974

HERTMERNER AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

Liabilities at
fair value
through Derivatives  Other financial
Loans and the profit used for liabilities at
receivables and loss hedging amortised cost Total
HAREE
2R Hit&m
BERR H2BHiA REEDHW EER
ERHE BEWEE fT£IA BEAR K @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFRT AREBFT ARETHT ARMETR AREFR
Balance 31 December 2009 “ZETNAE+ZR
=+—H
Liabilities as per balance sheet EEBRBRRAMNABE
Borrowings S 25,334,949 - - - 25,334,949
Obligations under finance leases ~ B & E & & 19,370,235 - - - 19,370,235
Derivative financial instruments PTETA - - 1,129,631 - 1,129,631
Trade payables and notes payable & 1< BR 3¢ I J& (4 2 & 6,480,459 - - - 6,480,459
Other payables and accrued Hu e R TER
expenses &R 11,517,204 - - - 11,517,204
Total ‘et 62,702,847 - 1,129,631 - 63,832,478
Assets at fair
value through the Derivatives
Loans and profit used for Available-
receivables and loss hedging for-sale Total
RAREE
itEh
BHk HE2®HiHA  BEEHH o
FRRE EBERNEE fTETAR SREE @t
RVB000 RMB000 RVB 000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFTT AREFZ
Balance 31 December 2008 ZZZN\E+ZA
=+—AH
Assets as per balance sheet BEBBERANEE
Available-for-sale financial assets [ £ HE SR EE = = - 31,268 31,268
Derivative financial instruments FETAR - - 988 - 988
Trade receivables & Ui B 3R 1,165,308 = = = 1,165,308
Prepayments, deposits and BRR BRREAME
other receivables excluding W TEERMR
prepayments 3,854,108 = = = 3,804,108
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRBEEEEY 3,451,010 - - - 3,451,010
Total @t 8,470,426 - 988 31,268 8,502,682

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

Liabilities at fair Other financial
Loansand  value through the  Derivatives used liabilities at
receivables profit and loss forhedging  amortised cost Total
KAREBE
FER Hiv &
Bk HEHFA BEESHM BER
EYFE BRNAE fTEIA Berp R @t
RMB000 AMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFr ARETT AREFT ARETT AEEFR
Balance 31 December 2008 —EENFE+_H
=+—H
Liabilities as per balance sheet EEBERANEE
Borrowings f&E& 35,101,372 - - - 35,101,372
Obligations under finance leases BEMEEE 20,808,899 - - - 20,808,899
Derivative financial instruments TETA - - 6,641,599 - 6,641,599
Trade payables and notes payable  JE {4 BR 20 % JE (4 Z 3% 5,459,094 - - - 5,459,094
Other payables and accrued HtENZARERER
expenses 12,246,065 - = - 12,246,065
Total szt 73,615,430 - 6,641,599 - 80,257,029
Assets at fair
value through Derivatives
Loans and the profit used for Available-
receivables and loss hedging for-sale Total
NAREE
FE2H
BREk He®HHA REESHH AHHE
EWRE BRNEE fTETR tREE @t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFRT AREFnT ARETT AREFRT ARETR
Balance 31 December 2009 —EENF+ZA
=+—H
Assets as per balance sheet EEABRAMEE
Available-for-sale financial assets o] it i & 4 B & & - - - 45,520 45520
Derivative financial instruments fTETA - - 3,490 - 3,490
Trade receivables e Ui B 7% 1,617,660 - - - 1,617,660
Prepayments, depositsand other N 3 B R E M
receivables excluding BWH  TEEE
prepayments O 2,989,729 - - - 2,989,729
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLEEY 1,118,230 - - - 1,118,230
Total @&t 5,125,619 - 3490 45,520 5,174,629
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 & = — =&

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

Liabilities at
fair value
through Derivatives  Other financial
Loans and the profit used for liabilities at
receivables and loss hedging  amortised cost Total
NAREE
fEH Hiv&m
Rk H2®HiA RBEEHEN BER
EhzE BENEE IR BEAE K @5t
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB'000
AREFRT AEEFn ARETT AREFR ARETR
Balance 31 December 2009 —TES ¢ +-A
+
Liabilities as per balance sheet BEBR 2\% HOEE
Borrowings EE:A 21,121,113 - - - 211,113
Obligations under finance leases ~ BEHEEE 17,303,224 - - - 17,303,224
Derivative financial instruments ﬁ ATH - - 1,129,631 - 1,129,631
Trade payables and notes payable & {5 B} & & ERZE 6,293,548 - - - 6,293,548
Other payables and accrued Hib e ﬁ AERER
expenses ;%f H 9,875,704 - - - 9,875,704
Total Bt 54,594,189 - 1,129,631 - 55,723,820
Assets at fair
value through the
Loans and profit  Derivatives used Available-
receivables and loss for hedging for-sale Total
WARE
@ l:# = ﬂ
Rk HE®;A  REEHY A&
FBRHIE HBRNEE fiET R SREE @t
RVB000 RMB000 RVB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFZ
Balance 31 December 2008 —EENFE+ZR
Assets as per balance sheet EEBBRRANEE
Available-for-sale inancial assets 7 % HESREE = - - 15,520 15,520
Derivative financial instruments FETAR = = 988 - 988
Trade receivables & Y AR 3K 1,534,044 - - - 1,534,044
Prepayments, deposits and BRZ FRREME
other receivables excluding WH TBEEEMR
prepayments 4,066,738 = = = 4,066,738
Cash and cash equivalents BeRhEELSEY 2,361,941 - - - 2,361,941
Total st 7,962,723 - 988 15,520 7979231
Liabilities at fair
value through the Other financial
Loans and profit ~ Derivatives used liabilities at
receivables and loss forhedging  amortised cost Total
NAREE
HEH Hthem
Fi?ﬂ& HEPHH A REEDHN BER
F& % Bumas fT&ET A BErp A @5t
H/I/IB’HUU RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AEEFT ARETT AREFT AREFTT ARETx
Balance 31 December 2008 —EENF+Z-A
=+—H
Liabilities as per balance sheet EEABRAMAR
Borrowings & 31,108,513 - - - 31,108,513
Obligations under finance leases ~ BEHREEE 18,529,171 - - - 18,529,171
Derivative financial instruments TET El - - 6,641,599 - 6,641,599
Trade payables and notes payable & {5 BR 3¢ & ERZY 5,220,003 - - - 5,220,003
Other payables and accrued HihER R R TR %‘: A
expenses 10,747,518 = = = 10,747,518
Total Bt 65,605,205 - 6,641,599 - 72,246,804

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

2009 2008
—EEAF —EENF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTF T
Registered, issued and fully paid of Tl CEBEBRTEEEANMER
RMB1.00 each AR #1.007T
A shares listed on The Shanghai EEBEERXGHLETH
Stock Exchange (“A Shares”) AR% 6,087,375 3,300,000
— Tradable shares held by CEA Holding —hEEMEEREEN
with trading moratorium BREEGETBER (a), (b) & (c) 4,831,375 2,904,000
— Tradable Shares held by other investors —HMWAEEENERE
with trading moratorium & 15 B IR () 860,000 =
— Tradable Shares without trading —ERE GG RAR
moratorium 396,000 396,000
H shares listed on The Stock Exchange of EEBEBAERSFLETH
Hong Kong Limited (“H Shares”) H A% 3,494,325 1,566,950
— Tradable Shares held by CES Global —RAMBEBREENBRE
with trading moratorium & 45 7 38 IX (b) 1,431,315 -
— Tradable shares without trading —E R & KGR B
moratorium () 2,056,950 1,566,950
9,581,700 4,866,950

Pursuant to articles 49 and 50 of the Company's Articles of Association, each of BEAAANANEREFN+ALER

the listed A shares and the listed H shares are all registered ordinary shares and & BRIETBRR: AHx LA B2 HR% &

carry equal rights. AAMETERT=EREREN -

(@) On 4 January 2007, the Company’s share reform plan was approved by the @ MZZEE+F—AWB - FEA
Ministry of Commerce and implemented on 9 January 2007. In this RAMB BB ET [PER
connection, CEA Holding granted 96 million shares in total to the holders of FMERMDEBERRARED B X
the circulating shares and the original 2,904,000,000 non-circulating shares EHERBAR] R =TTt
held by CEA Holding were granted the status of listing with a lock up period F-—RANBEM BEMIRKRNK
of 36 months from the effective date of the share reform. 7 Z 0 RS B 5T T 96,000,000

% A% 19 75/\\//|L5§H§H§$ o /R %ﬂﬁ
SERFENARRERBRMD
2,904,000,000 f% B 7% 13 B 361E A &
EHIR ET R @

(b)  On 19 May 2009, China Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC") by BETEEFEEeNR _ZTHER
approved the Company’s application for additional issuance of A+ U8 % % 1) 5% 8 5 71 (20091413

1,437,375,000 H Shares of par value of RMB1.00 each. CES Global
subscribed for all the shares under this issue and undertook that it would
not transfer the subscribed H Shares within 36 months from the completion
date of the issuance. The issue price was HKD1.13 per share and the total
proceed of HKD1,630,342,000, equivalent to RMB1,437,375,000 (the
“Proceeds of 1st H Shares issuance”) from the issuance was received by
the Company on 26 June 2009 and verified by a PRC Certified Public

Accountants firm.

SRR ZEPRBERF M
BRAREEFEEIIN ETINE R
LB » AN 2 5] 2 A R B B BR LA
Hﬁﬁﬁ/\&%ﬁmﬁiﬁﬁwﬂx
14373758 - EMBEEE - — K=
%E@éiﬁ%ﬁ?l%ﬂn%lié%
REARTA LR BEITHRG -
YAZBEETHREBEARNTE
B R% BEHAR AR 1D o R T RR B
TERBBEEINBT EERKIHE
FHE 163032 F L IHEE R/ A
BEBHBARBNERTS
R #1437315F st (A N &8 [ — 53

HEE&ES]) LREER_—F
ZEANFERNAZTRBEMNMN 2K
TEEMEFMELMRE -
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HEEg|)c- L&

H+>

(b)  (continued) b) (#)

On 5 June 2009, CSRC approved the Company’s application for non-public BERPEBFESER_ZEZTNFA
issuance of 1,437,375,000 A Shares of par value of RMB1.00 each to CEA A B A % %6 F B 5T 0] [2009]487 5%
Holding. The issue price was RMB3.87 per share and the total proceed of (AR ZEPBERAMERNDAE

RMB5,562,641,000 (the “Proceeds of 1st A Shares issuance”) from the issue RABIFEARABITRENIE)
was received by the Company on 25 June 2009 and verified by a PRC RAREERATPEEMEEI R
Certified Public Accountants firm. According to the commitment of CEA RETEREERARKITTHA
Holding, it would not transfer the shares of the Company in which it owns BR14373758 R BRETERAR
interests (including the original 2,904,000,000 non-circulating shares as AREEISI L BERZIEFTAR
mentioned in Note (a)) above within 3 years after the completion of this & 5,562,641 F Jo (LA T f5 138 [ — HiA
non-public issue. BKEEEel) - LB =%
TNAFERNRAZTERIMG 2K
PREAMEHMEEMBE P
ERMEEAER=ZFATSE
EERANMAAQANRER
%I%ﬁ(a)qﬂ Bt JR F5 B &) 3F 2 5

% 17 #92,904,000,000 A% H ) e

The total amount of the aforementioned Proceeds of 1st A Shares issuance Lt —HIARE £ & &M — HIHR
and Proceeds of 1st H Shares issuance were RMB7,000,016,000, after E5EER%E A ART00006
deducting the share issue expenses of RMB14,878,000, the net proceeds T MBRETERAKE14878

raised from the above share issues amounted to RMB6,985,138,000, of Tk FEERKAEFHTE
which RMB2,874,750,000 is recorded as share capital and the remaining R #6,985, 138? e HEF - AR
RMB4,110,388,000 is recorded as share premium. 2874750 F TR AR A AR %

4,110,388 F 7T 50 A R A i (8 o
() On 27 November 2009, CSRC approved the Company’s application for ) BETFBREBEE_ZTZTALF T
additional issuance of 490,000,000 new H Shares of par value of RMB 1.00 — AT+ tBEBEBNIETDTH
each to CES Holding. The issue price was HKD1.56 per share and the total [2009]1248 SRCEA R 1% B R 5 M
proceed of HKD764,400,000, equivalent to RMB673,383,000 (the “Proceeds Ze B 15 B PR A 7] 3 3% AN ok
of 2nd H Shares issuance”), was received by the Company on 10 December & Hx HHEE) - A A A EE R EM
2009 and has been verified by a PRC Certified Public Accountants firm. EERAGREEAREITEM
% %&HH%Q,UOO% [ NSl 3
TERABEINT  BEBRHHA
5174 764,400 F T - ﬁé{é&)\ =
BELBAREERTE AR
673383 F (A TR ZBAHE &
Bl Pl BEeR_TTNF
+ A+ BB Rl
SR EBABE -

On 2 December 2009, CSRC approved the Company’s application for non- 7fE TJ% FEIEE _ZTNF+=
public issuance of 1,350,000,000 A Shares of par value of RMB1.00 each. H%&Ew E’é &5 & 71 [2009]1275
490,000,000 shares of which were subscribed by CEA Holding which ‘if(( AR ZEFRRRFMmZERSG
undertook that it would not transfer the subscribed A Shares within 36 AR A RIEAHBITRENI
months from the completion date of the issuance. The remaining %)} AARBEEMBEREEIKE
860,000,000 shares under this issue were subscribed by other investors ARABETEREEARARKIT
which undertook that it would not transfer the subscribed A Shares within E’] A% 135,000 8 A% o A B R M &
12 months from the completion date of the issuance. The issue price was R F% 490,000,000 8% A% 17 - I & 5 B
RMB4.75 per share and the total proceed of RMBG6,412,500,000 from this ?"‘ =] f&36 BMARTEHEZL
issue (the “Proceeds of 2nd A Shares issuance”), was received by the AR (- Hhi& & & RE F &%
Company on 15 December 2009 and has been verified by a PRC Certified 860,000,000Hx f& - WA R B AT
Public Accountants firm. Hi12E A AT EHE&EAR
B - X ERBETERRAR
ot EERREFTARY
6,412,500 F JT (A T~ £5 78 [ — AR
.:p

N

WE+_A+RBEU 2L

EafMestMEEmBE-
The total amount of the aforementioned Proceeds of 2nd A Shares issuance Pt Z AR E &S E © &k = BIH
and Proceeds of the second H Shares issuance were RMB7,085,883,000, BEEES ARMT085883F 7t -
after deducting the share issue expenses of RMB14,854,000, the net MRETERARB1484F T
proceeds raised from the above share issues amounted to FE SRR ARKT01,029F
RMB7,071,029,000, of which RMB1,840,000,000 is recorded as share e HE A AR #1,840,000F T &2
capital and the remaining RMB5,231,029,000 is recorded as share premium. ABR A - F g7 A K 5,231,029 F 7T

AR AR (B o

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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Group
S
Share Capital Hedging
premium  Revaluation reserve reserve Other  Accumulated
(Note 40) reserve (Note (b)) (Note 38) reserves losses Total
R A 35 B ExfifE EHRE
(t#4) EftRE  (GZEb) (ZEB) HtRE BHES CE

AMB000 AMB000 AMB000 AMB000 RMB 000 AMB 000 AMB000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2008 ZETNF-F-H&H 1,006,455 23816 (720,057) (25,030) 22,167 (2,813,730) (2,506,379)
Unrealised loss on cashflow hedges BeEHMAEERER
(Note 36) (;TE38) = = - (170,525) = = (170,525)
Realised gains on cashflow hedges BeEHRNEER IS
(Note 36) (;TE38) - - - 165 - - 165
Fair value movements of available for sale 8 {5 B & A\ Rl 80
investments held by associates AREERENAR
EBES - - - - (19,080) - (19,080)
Loss attributable to equity holders of the A A Bl iE 25458 A JE{h
Company B1 = = = = - (15268532 (15,268,532)
At 31 December 2008 —EENETA
=+ —H&H# 1,006,455 23,816 (720,057) (195,390) 3,087 (18,082,262) (17,964,351)
At 1 January 2009 —TTNF-A—HEH 1,006,455 23816 (720,057) (195,390) 3,087 (18,082,262) (17,964,351)
Unrealised gain on cashflow hedges BeEBMAER M
(Note 38) (it #38) - - - 59,384 - - 59,384
Realised loss on cashflow hedges REeEHNEERER
(Note 38) (it #38) - - - (1.470) - - (1.470)
Capital reserve attributed by BMENREMERES
shareholders of an associate - - - - 49,692 - 49,692
Fair value movements of available for sale & 15 B & A 7] BT )
investments held by associates AHEERENDR
EBEZY - - - - (585) - (585)
Issuance of new shares (Note 40) BITH IR (3 E40) 9,341,417 - - - - - 9,341,417
Profit attributable to equity holders of ARRERBE AR
the Company Wz - - - - - 168,766 168,766
At 31 December 2009 ZEEAFET A
=+ —H&H# 10,347,872 23816 (720,057) (137,476) 52,194 (17,913,4%) (8,347,147)
Company
A F]
Share Capital Hedging
premium reserve reserve Accumulated
(Note 40) (Note (b)) (Note 38) losses Total
BEGE ELfHEE EHRE
(st #E40) (s #(b) (E#E38) ESl i &5t

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2008 —ETNF—A—H&H 1,006,455 (720,057) (25,030 (2,472,747) (2,211,379)
Unrealised loss on cashflow hedges HEeEHNAERER
(Note 38) (i£7238) = = (170,525) - (170,525)
Realised gains on cashflow hedges BeEBUMETRKE
(Note 38 (iF#38) = = 165 - 165
Loss for the year FEEBR - - - (13,877,388)  (13,877,388)
At 31 December 2008 —ZEZENE+=A
=t—H&#& 1,006,455 (720,057) (195,390 (16,350,135) (16,259,127
At 1 January 2009 —ETAF—A—H&H 1,006,455 (720,057) (195,390)  (16,350,135)  (16,259,127)
Unrealised gain on cashflow hedges ReEHNARER &
(Note 38) (i£7238) - - 59,384 - 59,384
Realised loss on cashflow hedges ReEHNEERER
(Note 38) (it #38) - - (1,470) - (1,470)
Issuance of new shares (Note 40) BITHR(GFEW) 9,341,417 - - - 9,341,417
Profit for the year FEAEF - - - 1,074,027 1,074,027
At 31 December 2009 —TENFF+ZA
=+t—H&% 10,341,872 (720,057) (137,476)  (15,276,108) (5,785,769)

HERTMERNER AR
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

Statutory and Discretionary Reserves

FPursuant to the PRC regulations and the Companies’ Articles of Assaciation, each of
the Group companies is required to transfer 10% of its profit for the year, as
determined under the PRC Accounting Standards, to a statutory common reserve fund
until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the Group companys registered capital. The
statutory common reserve fund can be used to make good previous years’ losses, if
any, and to issue new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing
shareholdings or to increase the par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

Each of the Group companies is permitted to transfer 5% of its profit for the year as
determined under the PRC Accounting Standards, to a discretionary common reserve
fund. The transfer to this reserve is subject to approval at shareholders” meetings.

No profit appropriation by the Company to the discretionary common reserve fund
was made for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: nil).

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the net assets
injected and the nominal amount of the Company's share capital issued in respect of
a group restructuring carried out in June 1996 for the purpose of the Company's
listing.

In December 2006, the Board passed a resolution to dispose of certain older
aircrafts and related flight equipments in the forthcoming 12-months. Accordingly,
these aircrafts together with related flight equipments and spare parts were
classified as non-current assets held for sale as at 31 December 2006. Since then
the Company has been actively seeking buyers for these assets. In December

2009,

the Company signed a sales and purchase agreement with a third-party to

dispose these aircraft in 2010. An impairment loss of RMB35 million has been
recognised in the income statement in relation to these assets with reference to
the contract price (Note 10).

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

B
(a) AEREEAES

iﬁfﬁf#lﬁﬁﬁi@iﬁﬁ AIFY A A EFE
AEE & D ERMG T ELE R ERT
‘fﬁﬁ’]fﬁf Wi‘/ﬁﬁ‘] 10% BAEERTER
BEEZNERHESREMEL R 50% °
&*"Efﬂ/ﬁﬂiﬁ%ﬁﬁxﬁvﬁ—tf/éifﬁ IR
AR B IR L O B 7T AR T AR BR 2+ 0
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R TR
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

2009 2008
—EEAF ZETENF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR T ARBTF T
Profit/(loss) before income tax BAER (FE) 249,205 (15,256,009)
Adjustments for: FEIFE :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BERRERETLEE
and intangible assets e 5177,149 4,755,622
Gains on disposals of property, plant and ME BEREXEOERE RS
equipment - (267,084)
Share of results of associates BALE A QR ¥R 46,602 (69,668)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities BHAREHETEES (23,803) (24,050)
Amortisation of lease prepayments T8 5 A & RO 25,686 25,940
Net foreign exchange gains ME 5, 0% s (95,379) (1,970,990)
Amortisation of deferred revenue iR FE 4 o 4E 71,354 (19,965)
Unrealised (gain)/loss arising from fair value ABEROTEIEAABEE
movements of financial derivatives O EIVEES (5,333,546) 6,400,992
Consumption of flight equipment spare parts MELESH 2B 351,151 476,282
Impairment provision of trade and & U BR 3 K E th FE Uk 3ROR(E ZE
other receivables 8,807 39,338
Provision for post-retirement benefits RIK1& 1R M 440,878 200,603
Provision for return condition checks for aircraft 4% &8 MEFH & R K& 3 B B FH % (&
and engines under operating leases A 588,745 618,556
Impairment loss BERMERX 109,417 2,976,678
Interest income R B WA (109,925) (89,275)
Interest expenses FEE R 1,754,640 2,328,147
Gain on disposal of an associate and REBE AN RAHEES R
available-for-sale financial assets BEE SN ST - (13,557)
Operating profit before working capital changes & & & 7K & &) 5ij ©F £ )& 7 3,260,981 111,560
2009 2008
—EEAF ZTTENFE
RMB’000 RMB000
AR T ARBTF T
Changes in working capital EEESRE
Flight equipment spare parts MR E M (465,626) (529,068)
Trade receivables & U BR =X (210,188) 922,431
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE AR 17 RO E i B R 540,134 (452,548)
Sales in advance of carriage T & H AL 406,305 (197,331)
Trade payables and notes payables FE 1T BR B K B N = i 1,021,365 1,792,556
Other payables and accrued expenses HENRRTERER (481,798) 1,928,495
Other long-term liabilities EtmEHAaE (224,075) (431,956)
Provision for return condition checks for aircraft e FE B R R B )R TR i
and engines under operating leases A (275,008) (41,448)
Staff housing allowances BT 5 Rh (90,514) (100,428)
Post-retirement benefit obligations RIKERF (106,530) (90,145)
Operating lease deposits rEMEHRETTS 132,644 30,348
246,709 2,830,906
Cash generated from operations KEEHEENRERE 3,507,690 2,942,466

T B R T Azt

BERAF



BB RERE
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARBFor
Financing activities not affecting cash: BEEHNIFREZSH
Finance lease obligations incurred for MEHEBERE
acquisition of aircraft - 7,964,792
The Group and the Company had the following capital commitments: REEBRARAANTNERS A
LU
Group Company
-4 AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEZRAE —TT)N\EFE ZEBEEBERE —TIT)NF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AREFRT AREFTT
Authorised and contracted for: ERERFTAOR
— Aircraft, engines and — R BB
flight equipment AT R 74,161,006 52,533,736 74,161,006 52,533,736
— Qther property, plant and —H 5 - s
equipment K &G 544,490 130,180 544,490 111,810

74,705,496 52,663,916 74,705,496 52,645,546

Authorised but not contracted for: EREBERITNN:

— Other property, plant and —H s - #es

equipment L] 3,856,033 5,235,712 3,737,320 4,874,680
— Investment — K& - - 2,700,700 -
3,856,033 5,235,712 6,438,020 4,874,680
78,561,529 57,899,628 81,143,516 57,520,226
Contracted expenditures for the above aircraft, engines and flight LA E etk BBk R RITHRER

equipment, including deposits prior to delivery, subject to future inflation BRNEMEeMAFERI L
increases built into the contracts and any discounts available upon delivery BeBEAERAELNFME AR
of the aircraft, if any, were expected to be paid as follows: FAEL N EREEFS AN

M EEESBITAOT :
Group Company
& AT

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZAE —TT)N\F ZBEThE —ZTIT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TFT ARBFT AR¥EFT ARKEFIT
Within one year —F R 10,480,635 8,852,380 10,480,635 8,852,380
In the second year F_F 11,082,051 13,174,190 11,082,051 13,174,190
In the third year FE=F 16,661,512 9,051,539 16,661,512 9,051,539
In the fourth year F P F 18,802,713 9,224,482 18,802,713 9,224,482
Over four years B 3A Y 17,134,095 12,231,145 17,134,095 12,231,145

74,161,006 52,533,736 74,161,006 52,533,736

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

As at the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had commitments
under operating leases to pay future minimum lease rentals as follows:

REEBEBRA AEERAR
AHREHEERENT HENK

A
Group Company
£ A E
2009 2008 2009 2008
“ERhE —TIT)N\HF ZBTRAE —ZZTIZNF
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBFrT ARKEFT AREFT ARKTFT
Aircraft, engines and M REBEERT
flight equipment R
Within one year —FR 2,404,916 2,671,355 2,134,163 2,145,554
In the second year F_F 1,901,941 2,330,080 1,828,203 2,008,984
In the third to fifth year inclusive FZFEFRF
(RREERME) 4,468,013 4,598,624 4,370,015 4,432,529
After the fifth year A F A 3,398,064 4,100,560 3,356,624 4,028,862
12,172,934 13,700,619 11,689,005 12,615,929
Land and buildings T REF
Within one year —F R 153,453 202,540 30,592 46,701
In the second year F_F 124,160 124,643 13,024 21,066
In the third to fifth year inclusive E=ZFEFRF
(PREERMF) 335,059 325,423 25,890 16,323
After the fifth year fF LA 2,404,003 2,398,361 34,915 29,276
3,016,675 3,050,967 104,421 113,366
15,189,609 16,751,586 11,793,426 12,729,295

HERTMERNER AR



M HmREE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # % —EZENF+ - A=+—HI F&

The Group is controlled by CEA Holding, which owns approximately 50.42% of the
Company's shares as at 31 December 2009 (2008: 59.67%).
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HEMEBRZES RZ2F
=+—HB HFERERME
A150482% 2 RE(ZZTZEN

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BRARZA£E)
Nature of transaction Related party 2009 2008
XEMHE EREAL —EEBAF —ETTNF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR T ARETFT
With CEA Holding or companies directly or
indirectly held by CEA Holding:
EhERGEERHTERRER
EESBEZEHNNAR:
Interest income on deposits at an average rate EAGF 17,536 30,766
of 0.36% per annum (2008: 0.36% per annum) B S
FERFEBWA - FFHFX036E
(ZZZENF : FFHHNE03BE)
Interest expense on loans at rate of 4.67% EAGF (148,648) (22,267)
per annum (2008: 4.87% per annum) R B 7S
ERAMEXH - F A F467E
“EE)NFFRERLIGE)
Commission expense on air tickets sold on behalf ~ Kunming Dongmei Aviation Travel Co., Ltd. (11,697) (11,468)
of the Group, at rates ranging from 3% t0 9% of E B ER £ M z= ik #2 B R A 7
the value of tickets sold SDATC (3,996) (610)
RERERES HEZXLEN R 3% I %
3% 2 9% Shanghai Tourism (HK) Co., Ltd (52) (1,696)
FEREEERR QA
Handling charges of 0.1% to 2% for purchase of EAIEC (48,489) (47,257)
aircraft, flight equipment, flight equipment spare 38 5 fi 2= 3 H O A R A &7
parts, other property, plant and equipment
BERE ROXE RITIREZMHR
H A & TF & &= N R4S P T B
FEE BEERMI%E2%
Repairs and maintenance expense for aircraft Wheels & Brakes (60,598) (64,653)
and engines e b ) B
ERREREDEONBERREER STA (137,273) (131,081)
BHEE F

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF&E

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BRARXFEH)
Nature of transaction Related party 2009 2008
REME BEEEAL —EEAE —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Frn ARBFT
Supply of food and beverages Shanghai Eastern Air Catering Co., Ltd. (238,772) (267,117)
EREMBEEERNER FERFMERBERAQA
Xian Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (37,834) (36,526)
ALERFMERMBRRAF
Yunnan Eastern Air Catering Investment (31,812) (40,836)
Co., Ltd.
EERIMERMER A A
Qingdao Eastern Air Catering Investment (24,583) (27,480)
Co., Ltd.
EEEIFMERMABMRAA
Wuxi Eastern Air Catering and Beverage (15,249) (15,183)
Investment Co., Ltd.
EHRITMERMBEBER A A
Wuhan Eastern Air Catering Investment (14,943) (14,718)
Co., Ltd.
RERITMERMER A A
Ningbo Eastern Air Catering Investment (14,666) (14,071)
Co., Ltd.
BERIMERMERA A
Jiangxi Eastern Air Catering Investment (13,468) (12,105)
Co., Ltd.
TIARSTMERMER A A
Anhui Eastern Air Catering Investment (11,624) (10,838)
Co., Ltd.
ZRHEAFMERMABRA A
Shanxi Eastern Air Catering Investment (10,667) (4,018)
Co., Ltd.
BRARSTMERME R A A
Gansu Eastern Air Catering Investment (10,333) (7,952)
Co., Ltd.
HREESTMERBER DA
Qilu Eastern Air Catering Investment (7,31) (7,546)
Co., Ltd.
BERIMERMERA A
Heibei Eastern Air Catering Investment (5,235) (1,902)
Co., Ltd.
AR FMERBERA A
Shanghai Meixin Eastern Air Catering (4,010) (3,233)
Investment Co., Ltd.
FEEMELRBERA A
Yantai Eastern Air Catering Investment (229) (144)
Co., Ltd.
BERIFMERMBRAF
Wuxi Eastern Air Catering Investment (504) (335)

Co., Ltd.
EHRITMERMARAA

HERTMERNER AR



M HmREE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))
For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BARXMSLEH)
Nature of transaction Related party 2009 2008
XEZHE BREAL ZEEBAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥ T AR FT
Disposal of an associate CEA Holding - 33,972
i & B & N A PERMEE
Advertising expense CAASC (13,002) (3,595)
BB A FEEFMEGREERD
Automobile maintenance fee CEA Development Co. Ltd (32,301) (23,595)
AEERE FBEFMEEERA
Equipment maintenance fee Shanghai Eastern Aviation Equipment (5,258) (8,958)
Manufacturing Corporation
BEXREEERBEERSE FEBRFTMEREHEREERA A
Land and building rental CEA Holding (55,140) (55,399)
MEHEE b B R SR
Group Company
£ A
Nature Company 2009 2008 2009 2008
HE CEEZR —EENE —ETNF —EENE —ETNF
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB000
AREF AREF T ARBEF AR® T
Trade receivables (Note 26) ~ Kunming Dongmei Aviation Travel 13177 5,028 13177 5,028
JE W BR 3R (i #26) Co., Ltd.
ERREMEREGRA
Shanghai Eastern Aviation 11,012 11,012 11,012 11,012
International Travel and
Transportation Co., Ltd
FERAMZE l%mﬁ
BRARA
SDATC 3,164 9,714 3,164 9,714
REME
China Cargo - - 759,427 730,978
R EM
Others 13,234 17,246 15,287 51,031
H it
40,587 43,000 802,067 807,763
Prepayments, deposits EAIEC 52,016 181,788 51,909 181,788
and other receivables RAME#EHODERD A
(Note 27}
JERF - TFR R EM  Eastern China Kaiya System 4,613 2,871 4,239 2,871
R U % (uffiﬂ) Integration
FERMERINTRER
ERAERRA
China Cargo - - 590,915 389,981
& i
CEA Wuhan - - 679,388 191,286
R R E
Others 4,768 4719 2,438 6,396
H
61,397 189,378 1,329,389 772,322

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HIF/E

All the amounts due from related companies are trade in nature,

PrA YA BEER AR

interest free and payable within normal credit terms given to trade 2REBEHHEHE THB R
customers. TRESEFP KW ERE
RE
Group Company
3 A
Nature Company 2009 2008 2009 2008
HE LEEZR —EENF —EE)N\F ZEBENE —EENFE
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT AREFT ARBETFTT AREFT
Trade payables and EAIEC 907,817 1,507,760 803,524 1,448,477
notes payable (Note 29) R H = i 0
fERBE X R fE =4 Shanghai Eastern Air Catering 94,275 148,471 94,275 148 471
(7L 7E29) Co., Ltd.
EBRFMERMBR AR
Yunnan Eastern Air Catering 1,115 665 1115 665
Investment Co., Ltd.
EHRIFMERMABEBRAA
Yunnan Eastern China Kaiya System 1,616 4,216 1,616 4,216
Integration Co., Ltd
EZHEMINEERNERRA
Wheels & Brakes 140 16,353 140 16,353
1 A
CEA Jiangsu - - 137,909 65,895
R L B
Eastern Logistic - - 10,420 138,230
REMR
Others 8,180 14,968 4,751 28,663
Hit
1,013,143 1,692,433 1,090,756 1,850,970
Other payables and accrued  CEA Holding 122,257 69,497 122,257 69,497
expenses (Note 30) PEREMmE
Ho JE R R TR R CEA Northwest Co., Ltd 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000
ERGEEN) FERMEERILERA
Eastern China Kaiya System 3,376 11,334 3,376 11,344
Integration Co., Ltd.
FERMERI TR
EXERRA
EAIEC - 10,106 - 10,106
RAMmE#ELD
CEA Jiangsu - - 8,174 113,258
BT B
Others 2,626 7,953 204,926 99,233
Ho A
136,259 106,890 346,733 311,438

Except for the amounts due to CEA Holding, which are
reimbursement in nature, all other amounts due to related companies
are trade in nature. Except for the notes payable to EAIEC which are
with discount rates ranging from 1.74% to 2.70% (2008: 3.30% to
5.91%) and repayable within six months, all other amounts due to
related companies are interest free and payable within normal credit
terms given by trade creditors.

FTERMNEBERRE"
BT AN R MBS &R B R
MEBRBEBAERBRIIN 2
BESHE -BREMNEAM
EHEHOMEMZESEE
R1TA% E270%(Z B E N\ 4 :
3.30% &591%) I A A< A RN
SN FMBEHEMENEE
BRARBEE2AEIEE R
FRESREF—BHNERE
FH o

op
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M HmREE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & %= — =

ENFTZA=+—HILFE

Average interest rate Group Company
TR =E E AT
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENF ZZT)\F ZBEAF —TT\F ZBEBEAF —ZTIT)N\HF
RMB'000 RMEB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
ARBFR NEEFT AREFRT ARETT
Short-term deposits (included CHER(BREE 0.40% 0.40% 465,238 1,202,892 42,667 421,363
in Prepayments, Deposits BRZ - BHK
and Other Receivables) H iz )
"EAGF" [ 5 fin &1 7% |
Short-term loans (included in BRER(RER 4.40% 4.30% 595,110 295,181 575,110 295,181
Borrowings) "EAGF” EENES ]
Long-term loans (included in EHER(BEE 4.67% 4.87% 230,000 = - =
Borrowings) “EAGF” EEAES R
Long-term loans (included in REER(BE E 4.61% 4.87% 162,000 162,000 - -
Borrowings) “CEA Holding” BRAEME
As at 31 December 2009, bank loans of the Company's subsidiaries with an RZETZAFE+-_A=+—8H
aggregate amount of RMB447 million (2008: RMB957 million) were KRB FRAABRITERE
guaranteed by CEA Holding (Note 32). FARBIMIET(ZZEZNF:
ARBISIET) A B R & E
AR ( T 32>
2009 2008
—EEAE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB000
AREFT ARETFT
Directors and supervisors (Note 9(a)) e TET WAL RER 1,374 977
Senior management = RAT BZ AB 1,350 1,234
2,724 2,211
The Directors regard CEA Holding, a state-owned enterprise established in the RRAFWMEFUFBERERMEER — =X
PRC, as being the ultimate holding company. REBRNINBEECEAANRAREK
ERAA -

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



B RRERE

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEIRS 51 7R &2 Bl 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #ZE —EZENF+_—HA=+—HILFZE

The family members of certain victims in the aircraft accident (the aircraft was
then owned and operated by China Eastern Air Yunnan Company), which occurred
in Baotou on 21 November 2004, sued the Company in a U.S. court for
compensation. After the case entered the procedures on appeal, the California
Court of Appeal, dismissed the appeal of the plaintiff and affirmed the original
order. Subsequent to that, on 16 March 2009, the plaintiff sued the Company in
the Beijing No. 2 Intermediate People’s Court. On 18 August 2009, Beijing No. 2
Intermediate People’s Court accepted the case. Legal documents including
summons, prosecution notifications and others have been served on the Company.
Trial is yet to begin. The management of the Group believes that any outcome for
this case will not have an adverse effect on the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company.

As at 31 December 2009, except of the above, the Group was not involved in any

other litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance.

On 10 July 2009, the Company entered into an absorption agreement (the
“Absorption Agreement”) with Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Airlines”) in
relation to a proposed acquisition of Shanghai Airlines (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Absorption Agreement, the Company will issue a
maximum of 1,694,838,860 A Shares of the Company to the shareholders of
Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all the existing issued shares of Shanghai
Airlines. On 9 October 2009, the Company convened the relevant shareholders’

meeting in which the Proposed Acquisition was approved.

On 30 December 2009, the Proposed Acquisition was approved by CSRC. On 28
January 2010 (the “Acquisition Date”), the Company issued 1,694,838,860 A
Shares to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all issued shares
of Shanghai Airlines resulting in Shanghai Airlines becoming a wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities (the “Acquired Assets and
Liabilities”) of Shanghai Airlines as at the Acquisition Date were estimated by the
Board through a valuation conducted by an independent valuer in respect of the

Acquired Assets and Liabilities as at 31 December 2009.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) —(#ZEURS 51 764k & 2E Bl %))

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EZENF+ - A=+—HI I F&E

The carrying amount and fair value of the Acquired Assets and Liabilities,

provisionally determined, are as follows:

FEMERKRBEEONAHREE A

ENREAEERAABEEEENT

Carrying Fair
Amount Value
RHEHEE AREE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®Fr ARBTFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Intangible assets EmAE 21,352 21,352
Property, plant and equipment M M RERE 10,274,572 8,549,043
Lease prepayments FEEE R 115,804 551,336
Advances payments on acquisition of aircraft TR # 78 15 3k 1,072,367 1,072,367
Investment in an associates TEREE QT 59,714 59,714
Investment in jointly controlled entities WERHLREG Z S 19,184 19,184
Available-for-sale financial assets THEESHEE 181,780 181,780
Other long term assets HEMRHEAEE 526,659 526,659
Deferred tax assets BEEFTBMRE E 510 510
12,271,942 10,981,945
Current assets RBEE
Flight equipment spare parts TRIEZEZH 333,043 333,043
Trade receivables JE U BR X 698,362 698,362
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T AT R 17 R E th fE R 1,398,095 1,398,095
Cash and cash equivalents HELRBEE2ZEY 1,167,565 1,167,565
3,597,065 3,597,065
Total assets wEE 15,869,007 14,579,010
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Sales in advance of carriage EEER 311,170 311,170
Trade payables and notes payable FE T BR BN M2 B N 2 % 1,383,575 1,383,575
Other payables and accrued expenses EMmEMNRRTEREZR 2,492,280 2,492,280
Current portion of obligations under finance leases REHEEBEN RIS 73,691 73,691
Current portion of borrowings & ZH i B 2B 5,711,604 5,711,604
Income tax payable FE {5 %% 18 16,433 16,433
Current portion of provision for return condition LEH E R R EE R AR
checks for aircraft under operating leases EEN T D 46,378 46,378
Derivative liabilities PTEAE 18,004 18,004
10,053,135 10,053,135
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Obligations under finance leases MEAFAEAE 1,010,646 1,010,646
Borrowings &= 4,209,955 4,209,955
Provision for return condition checks for aircraft EETHE R KBRS
under operating leases A 639,556 639,556
Other long-term liabilities EmEHAEE 248,218 248,218
Deferred tax liabilities BREMGBHAE 1,163 1,163
Post-retirement benefit obligations RIRE R EE 417,369 417,369
6,526,907 6,526,907
Total liabilities Hme s 16,580,042 16,580,042
Net liabilities FEE 711,035 2,001,032
Minority interests DB R = 53,920 53,920
Net liabilities acquired BHENEaE 764,955 2,054,952

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED




Bt B #5 & K

The following consolidated financial information is extracted from the consolidated

financial statements of the Group, prepared under the PRC Accounting Standards.

EHEAMBEEBEASERETEL
HEHEAREROL FHBRE -

2009 2008

—EENE ZTTNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARETFT

Revenue WA 39,831,331 41,842,361
Less: Cost of operation o B EKA (37,248,315) (43,075,888)
Taxes and levies SR S I KT (1,018,791) (891,064)
Selling and distribution expenses HEER (2,969,537) (2,522,136)
General and administrative expense EEEH (1,538,857) (1,524,864)
Finance expenses, net BIIEER %A (1,639,336) (357,410)
Impairment loss BERERXKX (118,224) (2,022,178)
Add: Fair value gain/(loss) m: DaBEEESKZ(BX) 3,774,688 (6,400,992)
Investment (loss)/income BEER) (22,749) 105,837
Operating loss MEFE (EXFB) (949,790) (14,846,334)
Add: Non-operating income i &EEINKA 1,604,096 906,238
Less: Non-operating expenses W EEINTH (14,185) (45,012)
Total profit/(loss) AEeE  (BREE) 640,121 (13,985,108)
Less: Income tax W PSR EHA (80,874) (60,795)
Net profit/(loss) FEHE S CEFEBE) 559,247 (14,045,903)

Attribute to: FE1G -

— Equity holders of the Company —ARBIEEFEA 539,743 (13,927,656)
— Minority interests — DER R 19,504 (118,247
559,247 (14,045,903)

HERTMERNER AR
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2009 2008
—ETAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB000
AR T ARBFT
Assets BE

Total current assets mBEE 6,863,939 10,401,069
Long-term investment KEIRIERE 1,152,521 1,373,356
Fixed assets & construction in progress EEEREEIR 61,578,262 58,807,070
Intangible assets & non-current assets EREEREMIEREEE 2,366,518 2,524,594
Deferred tax assets ELEFTBREE 57,441 77,917
Total assets EEA 72,018,681 73,184,006

Liabilities & shareholder’s equity EERFIEERER
Current liabilities TmEHAE 35,663,041 54,076,709
Non-current liabilities ETRBEE 32,690,973 30,120,909
Deferred tax liabilities BEEMESHAE 51,539 51,539
Total liabilities EEE 68,405,553 84,249,157
Minority interests DEREES 509,543 534,195
Total shareholder's equity FEREREAAER 3,103,585 (11,599,346)
Total equity 4R 3,613,128 (11,065,151)
Total liabilities & shareholder’s equity EERFEEREEEAR 72,018,681 73,184,006

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Group’s accounting policies, which conform with IFRS, differ in certain aspects
from PRC Accounting Regulations. Differences between IFRS and PRC Accounting
Standards which have a significant effect on the consolidated profit/(loss)
attributable to equity holders and consolidated net assets of the Group are
summarised as follows:

265 B R A B R B 7 3R o5 4 B B o [
TCESFENERT I EFEEZR -
BRMBRELENRPECEEGE
AW EZRHARAERTE ARG R
MABRRAEEAFFEENE
AEEBREWT

2009 2008
ZEEBAF —TTNHF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
it AR¥Fr ARBFT
Consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to EAFERBEEAEMLE O
equity holders of the Company A (8
As stated in accordance with BRI B s 287 R
PRC Accounting Standards 539,743 (13,927,656)
Impact of IFRS and other adjustments: RS HREERNNRE:
Difference in depreciation and impairment AR AERBTRAERFR
charges for flight equipment due to different i 35 A R 1T 3% A8 AT & RORLE
depreciation lives used previously BEHW=R (a) (55,406) (134,538)
Difference in depreciation and impairment B R E A A E R &K
charges for aircraft and engines due to Rk HEHITE RRE
different depreciation lives BEH=R (b) (9,582) (383,192)
Provision for post-retirement benefits RN 4R R B 25 (c) (334,348) (110,458)
Difference in goodwill impairment HMERENER (d) - (688,311)
Reversal of additional amortisation due to the S8+ b (F PR RE ST (L 18 (E
revaluation surplus relating to land use rights HEENTE (e) 8,420 8,420
Others H Aty (f) - 37,178
Deferred tax adjustments iR AE T I Y B (g) 28,327 (13,121)
Minority interests LHRERER (h) (8.388) (56,854)
As stated in accordance with IFRS 1B 15 B BR Bt #S 3Rk & 2 B B R 168,766 (15,268,532)
Consolidated net assets attributable toequity A2 T EFFH AEE S HF
holders of the Company FEE
As stated in accordance with BEFBEPEEAEDNN T
PRC Accounting Standards 3,103,585 (11,599,346)
Impact of IFRS and other adjustments: BB mEEANTE
Difference in depreciation and impairment HRUAERBTRAERFER
charges for flight equipment due to miER RITREITE LRE
different depreciation lives used previously B =8 (a) 74183 129,589
Difference in depreciation and impairment R TR A & F R EK
charges for aircraft and engines due to M BT E RRE
different depreciation lives BEp=8 (b) 93,729 103,311
Provision for post-retirement benefits RIKE TR B2 (c) (1,849,933) (1,515,585)
Reversal of revaluation surplus relating to SR8 Hb (5 AR (R 1S E
land use rights (e) (360,626) (369,046)
Others Hith (f) 79,393 79,393
Deferred tax adjustments iR GE 718 A B (9) 26,307 (2,020)
Minority interests DB A% R RE S (h) 67,915 76,303
As stated in accordance with [FRS BRI SRS EL SR 1,234,553 (13,097,401)

HERTMERNER AR
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(a)

(b)

c)

(d)

Prior to 15 February 2006, under the PRC Accounting Standards, rotables
were classified as current assets and the costs are amortised on a straight-
line basis over a period of 5 years. Under IFRS, rotables were accounted for
as property, plant and equipment and were depreciated on a straight-line
basis to write off the cost to their residual value over their estimated useful
lives and annual provision for scrap was made. Since 1 January 2007, under
the PRC Accounting Standards, rotables have been classified as property,
plant and equipment and is depreciated over 10 years. Under IFRS, the
useful life of rotables was also changed to 10 years with no further annual
provision for scraps in 2007. This change of accounting estimate was
applied prospectively. Despite the useful life of rotables has been unified
under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards from 2007, the carrying
amounts of rotables at the time of the change were different under IFRS
and the PRC Accounting Standards. These differences will be reduced
progressively in the coming 3 years, and will be fully eliminated when the
related assets are fully depreciated or disposed.

Under the PRC Accounting Standards, on or before 30 June 2001,
depreciation of aircraft was calculated to write off their costs on a straight-
line basis over their expected useful lives of 10 to 15 years to their residual
values of 3%. With effect from 1 July 2001, depreciation of aircraft under
the PRC Accounting Standards was aligned with that under IFRS and is
calculated to write off their costs on a straight-line basis over their
expected useful lives of 15 to 20 years to their residual values of 5% of
costs, the change was applied prospectively which resulted in the
difference in the carrying amounts under IFRS and the PRC Accounting
Standards. These differences will be reduced progressively in the coming
years, and will be fully eliminated when the related assets are fully
depreciated or disposed.

Under the PRC Accounting Standards, employees’ post-retirement benefits
are recognised upon payment. Under IFRS, such post-retirement benefits
under defined benefit schemes are required to be recognised over the
employees’ service period using projected unit credit method.

The basis of recognising the value of underlying assets and liabilities
acquired in prior years was different under IFRS and the PRC Accounting
Standards. Accordingly the amount and impairment of goodwill was
different.

CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

(a)

(b)

c)

(d)
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Bt o f #5 E K

(e)

(f)

()

(h)

Under the PRC Accounting Standards, the land use rights injected by the
parent company as capital contribution upon restructuring for listing are
stated at valuation less accumulated amortisation. Under IFRS, the land use
rights are recorded as prepaid operating leases at historical cost which was
nil at the time of listing.

In addition of the above, the application of IFRS differ in certain other
respects from the PRC Accounting Standards.

This represents the corresponding deferred tax effects related to the items
above.

This represents the corresponding impact a minority interest related to the
items above.

(e)

(f)

(a)

(h)

EmEEEGFERT  AQA
ERAETRSGRRATEARR
AR R B A L 4 R - DAY
BEREEHIE REERERY
WG ER - L ERAEERK
EUHEERNRAELEKASR
RRAREH LR A
MELRARBE -

Bk DA £ Bt b o el S BB B RS R
SHEARPECESAEINTR
BRMEHRNEMBESR -

b Ty A B IR B K B H RS 1R AR B Y
BEREHATE -

WA ERBEH DB RERZ
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Liu Shaoyong (Chairman)

Li Jun (Vice Chairman)

Ma Xulun (Director, President)

Luo Chaogeng (Director)

Luo Zhuping (Director, Company Secretary)

\Wu Baiwang (Independent Non-executive Director)

Xie Rong (Independent Non-executive Director)

Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu (Independent Non-executive Director)
\Wu Xiaogen (Independent Non-executive Director)

Ji Weidong (Independent Non-executive Director)

Liu Jiangbo (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)
Xu Zhao (Supervisor)

Yan Taisheng (Supervisor)

Feng Jinxiong (Supervisor)

Liu Jiashun (Supervisor)

Zhang Jianzhong (Vice President)

Li Yangmin (Vice President)

Fan Ru (Vice President)

Zhao Jinyu (Vice President)

Tang Bing (Vice President)

\Wu Yongliang (Chief Financial Officer)

Luo Zhuping

Liu Shaoyong
Luo Zhuping

http://www.ceair.com

ir@ceair.com
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International Auditor: PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

Domestic Auditor: PricewaterhouseCoopers
Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company

11/F PricewaterhouseCoopers Center

202 Hu Bin Road
Shanghai 200021
PRC

Hong Kong:  Baker & McKenzie
USA: Baker & McKenzie
China: Beijing Commerce & Finance Law Office

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Shanghai Branch
China Construction Bank, Shanghai Branch
The Bank of China, Shanghai Branch

Hong Kong Registrars Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

The Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street
New York, NY 10286 USA

China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited,
Shanghai Branch
166 East Lu Jiazui Road, Pudong New Area, Shanghai

B % A B R KB R
=P
BEAREBR
KFRE2E

PREERZEE: TEXKEPK
SRR =T
BRAQA]
FELEE
A VB 3K 202 5%
TEKBEROIE
B IR 47 5 200021

FE: AR -BRBREMEBHA
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R L RBERMT

RETERIT EEW DT
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RERT EEDT
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BEREFAER—N=H
A M+ EEIT712-1716 5% £

The Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street
New York, NY 10286 USA
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Since 3 July 2009, the principal place of business in Hong Kong has been changed
to Unit B, 31/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong.

China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited,
Shanghai Branch

The Company changed its business license registration due to changes in the
registered capital of the Company.

Registered capital of the Company is RMB9.5817 billion at the end of the
Reporting Period.

Business License Registration Number of the Corporation Legal Person:
310000400111686

Tax Registration Number: 310046741602981

H2009F7A3ERE  BENETE L
Wit E AEE S EESR S —
F31ERE

TEESBEREEEREEAT
EEH AT

HARGMAAS LSS ArEL
YRR TEMEE -

MEBMKRABGFEMERABEARBKEBST

=

13 5% A B 58 B = 5% © 310000400111686

T % & 52 9% © 310046741602981

Shareholders can obtain a copy of the Company’s annual report for the year 2009 through the Internet addresses shown below:
BREAUBBEFEXUTAUE THARAARAZZZNFEREE TR
http://www.ceair.com

http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinaeast
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